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Group Introduction

< L iiply

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited (“Aoyuan” or the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) have been developing residential projects for over two
decades with innovative concept of composite real estate, incorporating healthy living
concepts of sports and regimen into residential communities. Thereafter, the Group
introduced the Cathay Capital Group, a US investment fund, as one of its substantial
shareholders, and the Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9 October 2007 (Stock Code: 3883).

The property projects currently held by the Group are mainly located in Guangdong,
Chongging, Jiangsu, Liaoning, Hunan, Auhui, Zhejiang, Guangxi, Jiangxi and Sydney,
Australia etc., which have created excellent and comfortable living environment for
property owners. The Group's strategy is to implement regional focus on the five
major economic circles as its core regions in China, namely Pearl River Delta, Yangtze
River Delta, Bohai Rim, core region of Central and Western China and Beibuwan, and
gradually develop into the real estate market in Australia.

In the future, the Group will adhere to the “building a healthy lifestyle” brand
philosophy, focus on the development of commercial and residential properties in
parallelwithquality-orientedstrategy, strivetoprovideitscustomerswithsuperiorliving
environment and create a healthy and positive lifestyle and lead a healthy city living.
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)

Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer) (appointed on 28 August 2015)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhong (re-designated from executive director to non-
executive director on 5 February 2016)

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky (resigned on 27 August 2015)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (chairman)
Mr. Tsui King Fai
Mr. Hu Jiang

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Tsui King Fai (chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Wong Chi Mei

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Guo Zi Wen
Mr. Guo Zi Ning

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

CORPORATE WEBSITE

WWwWw.aoyuan.com.cn

STOCK CODE
3883.HK
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Corporate Information (continued)

nEERE ()

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Ping An Bank Company Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN PRC
Aoyuan Mansion

No. 108, HuangPu Avenue West

Tianhe District

Guangzhou

PRC

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Units 1901-2, 19th Floor, One Peking

No. 1 Peking Road

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
4th Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

17 M Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS
Email: ir@aoyuan.net

Telephone:  (852) 3622 2122
(86) 20-3868 6666

Facsimile: (852) 2180 6189
(86) 20-3868 6688
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Results Highlights 2&#H=
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(RMB'000) (AR¥TF7T)

» Financial Highlights

BE_Z-hF+_A=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E-RF —E-F
Revenue L 9,572,424 6,976,151
Gross profit EF 2,646,276 2,067,369
Net profit Fal 907,493 782,933
Earnings per share (cents) BRI (D)
- Basic — 2K 29.17 29.08
- Diluted —¥5E 29.17 29.08
Revenue Analysis & 258 54T
For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE_-_ZT—RAF+_-_A=+—HItFE
(RMB'000) (AR TIT)
2015 2014
—E2-EHF —EF-EF
Property development VIZEE 9,294,506 6,802,952
Property investment LIES 8-} 68,800 70,822
Others H 209,118 102,377
Total AEF 9,572,424 6,976,151

Property Development Revenue Analysis Y32 E WA 247

For the year ended 31 December 2015

BE_T-AF+-_A=T—HLHFE

Sold and Delivered

2ERRXM
Revenue Area
LON HE
(RMB’ million) ('000 sq.m.)
(AREBETT (FFHK)
Residential apartments FEURE 3,783.5 706.6
Commercial apartments [(EEJENC 3,564.4 202.4
Retail shops and others 7 8 K Ho A 1,837.4 95.3
Low-density residential EZEEE 109.2 13.7
Total Gl 9,294.5 1,018.0

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited  [38 5 ] 3h 32 5 3 i 40 B R A #]




Financial Highlights (continued)
B i 22 (%)

Balance Sheet Summary EEEERBE

As at 31 December 2015
(RMB'000) (ARETT)

R-_F—RF+-_A=1+—H

2015 2014

—E-RF —E-F
Total assets B EBRE 48,826,872 36,785,834
Total liabilities BfEERE 37,251,015 27,751,746
Total equity e iBEE 11,575,857 9,034,088

Three Years Financial Highlights = F B i H =

Revenue & ¥%F

RMB million ARBEST

Gross Profit £

RMB million AR¥BET
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Year in Review

A BE R [m]

2015

14 Jan

The Group successfully acquired a high quality commercial
and residential project, Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast,
in Jiaxing, Zhejiang.

)

AEERDESNTRREEAHERRREEEESE

3 HMar

The Group successfully acquired a high-end residential
project, One30 Hyde Park, in Sydney CBD, Australia and
obtained a loan from Commonwealth Bank of Australia
which amounted to 50% of land acquisition cost.

e

REBEKDEERNFR TR ORMETIREBELE130
5 - WS IRIMNEFRIRTT 50% JE B IR EK -

4 H Apr

The Group successfully issued a USD100 million senior
notes through private offering.

REEXIERETVEETELRE -

The Group successfully acquired 55% interests of high
quality projects including Hanlin Shangzhu and Hanlin
Mingmen, Hanlin Huafu and Hanlin Yinzuo in Nanning,
Guangxi and Bengbu, Anhui.

S8 B TR AR 2 B 7 R 5 L 2 1
T H)55% M3 - BAEBAN K - MMET  BIER R
B -

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H [5] 5 [ 1 72 45 B A A R 2 7]

5 A May

The Group successfully issued a USD250 million senior
notes with 6.5 times over-subscription.

REBERKINETT2 518X TTBARIR - EiBREREC.5E ©

The Group officially established its Australia office.

AREE RN ERR KL

6 HJun

Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao was officially launched.

7 HJul

The Group successfully issued a RMB2.4 billion
public domestic corporate bonds.

SERNDRETARE 24 BTHEAREES -



8 HAug

The Group signed a USD100 million loan
agreement with Nanyang Commercial Bank.

AEEEFFEMERTEIVEETERRE BE -

The Group successfully acquired a high
quality commercial and residential project,
Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza, in Zhuhai, Guangdong.

AEBRDBISERKETEEHITHEBEKER
BES -

94 5ep

The Group successfully acquired a high quality
residential project, Lianhua Hill Aoyuan,
in Panyu, Guangzhou.

AEERIBGEMNERRELVEEEEER -

The press conference for Shaoguan scenic
performance and Aoyuan cultural tourism
products was held.

[P ERRE | LK SO 2 B B SR 28 o e 3
R ARsE -

Year in Review (continued)

A BE R el g ()

10 HOct

The Group successfully issued a RMB1.5 billion non-public
domestic corporate bonds.

REBBRINIFERFEETARE 1 ETRARFES ©

The Group successfully
acquired a high quality
commercial and
residential project,
Foshan Aoyuan The
Prime Palace.

REBRINITGERE
LWemesMEEENE
HB BRI RE 5

11 HNov

The Group successfully acquired a high quality residential
project, 188 Maroubra, in Sydney, Australia.

REEBRIEERMNEEREETRE FEMAL 188 -

The Group redeemed an aggregate principal amount of
USD112.5 million senior notes due 2017, representing
50% of the total outstanding principal at the time
of incurance.

AEEER 1.125183KT2017 FEHELZE EZILEEHA
BEMNAEEEE250% °

12 HDec

Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center — Aoyuan
Headquarter Building Groundbreaking Ceremony was held.

RN RE B OB B R E A A E R T AR ERT -
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M. 2015 Honors and Awards

10

2015 458 R 4EIH

Awarded as the “2015 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers” by
Enterprise Research Institute of the Development Research Centre of the
State Council, Institute of Real Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and
China Index Research Institute

Awarded as “Top 20 Guangdong Property Enterprises with High Credit”
by the branches of big four state-owned commercial banks in Guangdong
Province, and People’s Daily Online for fourteen consecutive years

Awarded as “Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and
Valuing Credit” by Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce
for sixteen consecutive years

Ranked 2nd among the “2015 Top 10 Southern China Real Estate
Enterprises Brand Value” by Enterprise Research Institute of the
Development Research Centre of the State Council, Institute of Real
Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index Research Institute

Awarded as the”Top 10 Overall Strength in Guangzhou by 2014 Top 100
Outstanding Real Estate Enterprises in China” by Guandian Real Estate
New Media

Awarded as “CAPITAL Outstanding Chinese Property Developer Group”
by CAPITAL of Hong Kong for four consecutive years

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited 5 B [5] 3 7 45 3] e A B A 7]
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10.

11.

12.

2015 Honors and Awards (continued)

Ranked the 5th among the “2015 China Top 100 Real Estate Developers
— Top 10 in Operational Efficiency” by Enterprise Research Institute of
the Development Research Centre of the State Council, Institute of Real
Estate Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index Research Institute

Ranked 26th among on “Real Estate Enterprises with Top Brand Value
2014" by Guandian Real Estate New Media

Awarded as “2015 Outstanding Real Estate Developers in China” by
Economic Digest of Hong Kong for six consecutive years

Awarded as “Most Valuable Listed Real Estate Enterprise for the Year”
in Billboard of 2015 Most Valuable Real Estate Enterprises in China by
National Business Daily

Awarded as “2015 Outstanding Enterprises in China on Corporate Social
Responsibility” by Xinhuanet.com

Awarded as “2015 Real Estate Branded Enterprise” by Sina House

10.

1.

12.

2015 458 ] BEIH (1)
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Chairman’s Statement
G

Guo Zi Wen
BRRESC
Chairman

FIE

Dear Shareholders,

| have pleasure to present to you the Annual Report of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

In 2015, overall economic growth slowed down. The government put
greater emphasis on the important role of real estate in promoting
consumption and stimulating investments and the property sector
was still treated as an important means for stimulating economic
growth and has become a “stabilizer”. The central government
lowered its requirements on reserves, interest rate and down
payment and introducing tax reliefs multiple times to reduce property
purchase cost and boost demand. Local governments adopted
flexible policies including tax reliefs, financial subsidies and removing
restrictions on purchases and foreign persons to stimulate demand,
which has enabled the property market to realize steady recovery in
trading volume and price. The property market showed an upward
trend as a whole.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited [ B8 [ 3 7 45 3] e 4 A B A 7]
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

In 2015, the property industry faced many challenges with the
slowdown in overall economic growth. However, the Group was able
to maintain growth momentum with its advantages and strengths in
various respects and recorded continuous steady business growth
in 2015. During the period, the Group recorded contracted sales of
RMB15.17 billion, a year-on-year increase of approximately 24% and
representing approximately 112% of target contracted sales for the
year. Contracted sales area for the year was approximately 1,888,000
sg.m., a year-on-year increase of approximately 41% Turnover for
2015 was approximately RMB9.57 billion, a year-on-year increase
of approximately 37%. Gross profit was approximately RMB2.65
billion, a year-on-year increase of approximately 28%; gross profit
margin remained stable at approximately 27.6%; net profit was
approximately RMB910 million. During the year, the Group recorded
a balanced sales performance across various regions. Contracted
sales of projects in Guangdong Province and projects in places other
than Guangdong Province approximately 44% and 49% of total
contracted sales, while overseas projects contributed approximately
7% . In addition to its existing hot-selling projects Guangzhou
Aoyuan City Plaza and Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza, several new
projects of the Group also posted satisfactory sales performance,
including One30 Hyde Park Sydney, its first overseas project,
Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza and Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao, which
was mainly attributable to the effective product and development
strategies, constantly innovative marketing model and further
improved operational efficiency of the Group. In addition, the Group
“Producing while transition” to steadily push forward domestic and
overseas development simultaneously. It established a commercial
property group and upgraded its product strategy of “developing
commercial and residential properties in parallel”; created a cross-
border e-commerce OTO platform for the buyers of its properties, and
implemented the integration of property business and the Internet. It

has embarked on a road of steady, diversified and rapid development.

In the first two months of 2016, our growth momentum for the
fourthly quarter of last year continued, recording contracted sales
of approximately RMB2.21 billion, a year-on-year increase of 25%.
Target contracted sales for 2016 will increase by approximately 10%
to 15% from RMB15.17 billion for 2015, representing an increase

continuously higher than industry average.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

FR ()

With its outstanding operation performance, stable financial position
and improving brand reputation, the Group has been awarded as
“Guangdong Province Enterprise of Observing Contract and Valuing
Credit” for 16 consecutive years; “"Top 20 Guangdong Property
Enterprises with High Credit” for 14 consecutive years; “Prominent
Creditworthiness Property Developer for 10 Years” jointly recognized
by four major state-owned commercial banks; “CAPITAL Outstanding
Chinese Property Group"” by CAPITAL magazine, a renowned
financial media in Hong Kong, for 4 consecutive years; ranked No.
30 in Comprehensive Strength among “2015 China Top 100 Real
Estate Developers”, No. 5 among “2015 China Top 100 Real Estate
Developers — Top 10 in Operational Efficiency” and No. 2 among “Top
10 Southern China Real Estate Enterprises Brand Value 2015" jointly
recognized by the Enterprise Research Institute of the Development
Research Centre of the State Council, the Institute of Real Estate
Studies of Tsinghua University and China Index Research Institute,

with an appraised brand value of RMB4.641 billion.

In 2015, the Group successfully issued US$250 million senior notes in
overseas, which were well received in the international capital market
with an oversubscription of 6.5 times. In early 2015 when the market
environment was most difficult, the Group issued US$100 million
senior notes through private offering with a coupon rate of 9.25% to
ABC International. We successfully issued domestic corporate bonds
of RMB2.4 billion with a coupon rate of 5.80% and issued non-public
domestic corporate bonds of RMB1.5 billion with a coupon rate of
7.8%. As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a net gearing ratio
of 62.7%, and its cash collection ratio was 82%, remaining at a high
level, indicative of our strong financial position. In early 2016, Fitch, an
international rating corporation, raised our rating outlook of the Group
to “positive” and maintained its corporate family rating of the Group
of “B+". The Group early redeemed US$225 million 13.875% senior
notes due 2017. As a result, our borrowing cost was reduced and our
debt structure was optimised. We obtained US$180 million banking
facility provided by a syndicate led by Nanyang Commercial Bank and
issued non-public domestic corporate bonds of RMB500 million with

a coupon rate of 7.9%.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited 5 B [5] 3 7 45 3] e A B A 7]
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

As for land bank, the Group successively acquired projects in Jiaxing,
Zhejiang Province, Sydney, Australia, Wuhua, Nanning, Bengbu, Anhui
Province, Liuyang, Zhuhai, Panyu and Foshan, with newly added GFA
available for development of approximately 2.49 million sgq.m. in 2015. As
at 31 December 2015, the Group had a total land bank of approximately
13.33 million sg.m.. In March 2015, the Group acquired a project in 130
Elizabeth Street of Sydney, as the first overseas project. In November
2015, the Group successfully acquired a project in 188 Maroubra Road,
Maroubra on the eastern shore of Sydney, Australia. (The Maroubra project
is located in downtown Maroubra with good accessibility, developed daily
life services and facilities, and a number of secondary and primary schools
in the vicinity.)

Foreseeable the growth rate will slow down in the property market
in future, the Group will double the efforts to improve corporate
management, optimise management structure, enhance service
efficiency and quality, and lower its operational cost in general. It will
accelerate the upgrade of its products and development model and
adhere to its development model of “rapid development and rapid
sales”. The Group will continue to maintain a prudent investment
strategy by investing in key regions with huge market potential and
developed economy, deepening its presence in Pearl River Delta and
acquiring high-quality land bank through multiple channels. We will
continue to implement our international strategy and increase our

investments in overseas markets including Australia.

Target contracted sales of the Group for 2016 will increase by
approximately 10% to 15% from RMB15.17 billion for 2015,
representing an increase continuously higher than industry average.
While being committed to maintain steady growth of results, the
Group will also adapt to the changes in market trends, monitor new
growth drivers and continue to explore development strategies under

the new situation.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

FR ()

APPRECIATION

In closing, it is my great privilege on behalf of the Board of Directors
to extend my gratitude to our shareholders, investors, business
partners, property owners and attentive media and general public for
their unfailing trust and support. At the same time, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to our directors,

management and staff for their tireless contribution.

Guo Zi Wen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2016
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B B i B Ay A

BUSINESS REVIEW

China Property Market

Currently, global economy shows a sign of slowdown and continuous
unsteadiness. Facing uncertain economic situations, the Chinese
government has implemented a series of policies to achieve a
balance between steady growth and structure adjustment. It was
able to maintain economic growth at a reasonable rate. New progress
was made on economic structure adjustment, and the people’s

wellbeing continued to improve.

In economic growth downward and pressure on the high stock, the
government put greater emphasis on the important role of real estate
in promoting consumption and stimulating investment. The central
and local governments announced various policies to support the
property sector. These policies focused on exploring the potential
housing consumption and encouraged demand to recover and boost
the confidence of investors. With the support of various policies,
market demand huge increased, the general trend of property market
has become revive. In view of different cities, these polices had
significant impacts on Tier 1 cities and certain Tier 2 cities, where
property prices have rapid growth. However, their impacts on lower
tier cities were limited, where there were still a large number of
properties unsold and a lack of driving force for sales in certain cities.

For some cities, further relaxing policies are still required.

Business Review of the Group

The year 2015 was a year when the policies for the property market
changed from gradual relaxing to comprehensive favourable. The
favourable policies facilitated the smooth recovery of property
sales across China. Under such market background, Aoyuan
adhered to its product strategy of “developing commercial and
residential properties in parallel” by deepening its mix of property
development models including combining with sports, education,
commercial complexes, health care, cultural tourism and cross-border
e-commerce. Focus on key projects, carry out improvements and

regulated operation may help our business development sustainable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group achieved total contracted
sales of approximately RMB15.17 billion, a significant increase of
approximately 24.2% from 2014. Contracted sales area for the
year was approximately 1,888,000 sqg.m., a year-on-year increase
of approximately 40.6%; average selling price was RMB8,037 per
sg.m., approximating to that of last year. Residential properties and
commercial properties (mainly comprising commercial apartments

and retail shops) accounted for 68.9% and 31.1%, respectively.

Our sales in 2015 were mainly contributed by the following projects:
Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza, One30 Hyde Park Sydney, Zhuhai
Aoyuan Plaza, Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao and Chongging
Aoyuan City Plaza.

Details of contracted sales breakdown of the Group by major projects

are as follows:

Project
HH

JE N B Bk T R b
EEeBEAE 13058

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza
One30 Hyde Park Sydney

Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza wWEREES
Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao EERRBESH
Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza EERER T XML
Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza N REE S
Zhongshan Aoyuan LR E

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza EMNEERRES
Others HAtb

Total &5t
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Contracted

Amount sales area
¥ SREHEERE

(RMB million) (sg.m.)
(AR¥BET) (F73K)
1,251 70,663

1,022 8,050

975 39,289

833 120,385

816 120,008

777 46,352

670 144,745

603 45,289

8,224 1,292,765

15,171 1,887,546
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Raising management standards and improving operational
efficiency

To cope with the changes in the property market, the Group
strengthened its management standards and raised professional
requirements of various links including design, construction,
marketing and property management, in order to realize refined
management and boost its operational efficiency. In respect of
marketing, its sales, pricing and positioning systems were improved
and upgraded; in respect of research and development, reasonable
adjustments to its organizational structure were made and specialized
training on design and construction was provided; in respect of
construction, overall quality management system was gradually
upgraded to acheive higher construction quality.

Improving services quality in a people-centered manner

Since its establishment, Aoyuan's property team has been carrying
out strict and effective guidance on and management of its property
companies by adhering to its service philosophy of “becoming a
caring housekeeper with high-quality services”. In March 2015,
Guangzhou Aoyuan Property Co., Ltd. successfully passed a strict
review by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of
the PRC and became one of the few enterprises that have obtained

the National First Class Property Management Qualification.

This represents another milestone in the development of the Group
after it obtained the First Class Property Developer Qualification in
2013. Aoyuan’s property team will take this as an opportunity and
its new beginning to be committed to providing property owners
with more standard, professional, refined and convenient home and
property services and assisting in the property development and
commercial operation of the Group by relying on the Company's
outstanding enterprise culture, advanced service philosophy, extensive
management experience, strong beliefs and relentless efforts and

based on its essential work principle of “putting customer first"”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

In addition, the Aoyuan Sports Club was established in October 2015
under its brand philosophy of “leading a healthy life”. With its mission
of “more sports, more fun”, the activities of the club include but
are not limited to hiking, jogging, badminton, parent-child activities,
dancing and volunteering. In November 2015, the first event of the
Aoyuan Sports Club, “Run 2015! Night Jogging Event”, was held in
Baiyunshan Mountain, Guangzhou.

Land Bank

In 2015, the Group successively acquired a total of 13 high-quality
commercial and residential projects in Sydney, Australia, Zhuhai,
Guangdong, Foshan, Nanning, Guangxi and etc. The newly added
GFA available for development of approximately 2.49 million sq.m..

As at 31 December 2015, the total land bank of the Group was
approximately 13.33 million sg.m., with an average land cost of
approximately RMB1,556 per sg.m. of GFA, among which 1.90
million sg.m. of properties was completed, 5.08 million sq.m. of
properties was under construction and 6.35 million sgq.m. was
reserved for future development.

Future Outlook

The policies for property sector in 2015 had a general theme of
boosting consumption and reducing inventories. The announcement
of a series of relaxing policies on supply and demand facilitated the
stable recovery of property trading volume and price in the market.
The policy environment for the property sector had been significantly
improved. The year 2015 was a year of rapid development for
Aoyuan. Looking forward, Aoyuan will continue its development
strategy of “rapid development and rapid sales” and its product
strategy of “developing commercial and residential properties in
parallel” by acquiring land in high growth potential area to ensure
target for the year.

The Group will continue to enhance its product research and
development (i) to improve the competitiveness of its products; (ii)
realize uniform standards for design, construction and cost to improve
its ability to reduce costs; (iii) reinforce sales strategy execution
ability, increase the systematicness of its brand management and
effectively accelerate sale of inventories.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Operating Results

The revenue is primarily generated from two business segments:
property development and other revenue such as hotel operation.
In 2015, the Group's total revenue was RMB9,572.4 million,
representing an increase of RMB2,596.2 million or 37.2% over
RMB6,976.2 million in 2014. Property development revenue, other
revenue such as hotel operation and property investment revenue

accounted for 97.1%, 2.2% and 0.7 % respectively.

In 2015, the Group's revenue generated from property development
amounted to RMB9,294.5 million, representing an increase of
RMB2,491.5 million or 36.6% over RMB6,803.0 million in 2014.
The GFA of delivered properties increased by 11.3% to 1,018,009
sg.m. from 914,250 sg.m. in 2014, while the average selling price
increased by 22.7% to RMB9,130 per square meter from RMB7,441
per square meter in 2014. This was mainly attributable to the
properties delivered in 2015 were mainly in Guangzhou with higher
selling prices. The revenue generated from property development
attributable to Guangzhou, Chongging, Shenyang, Zhongshan and
other cities accounted for 54%, 15%, 5%, 5% and 21% respectively.

Breakdown of property development revenue in 2015 by product type:

Product
Em

Residential apartments FEELE

Commercial apartments [SEJEN-
Retail shops and others 72 8 Ko LA
Low-density residential BEEEE
Total st
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Sold and Delivered

EERRM
Revenue Area
L'ON [
(RMB million) ('000 sg.m.)
(AR¥BBET) (FFHK)
3,783.5 706.6
3,564.4 202.4
1,837.4 95.3
109.2 13.7
9,294.5 1,018.0




Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Gross Profit and Margin

In 2015, the gross profit of the Group was RMB2,646.3 million,
representing an increase of 28.0% over RMB2,067.4 million in 2014.
Although the average selling price for the revenue recognized from
property development increased to RMB9,130 per square meter
from RMB7,441 per square meter in 2014, the gross profit margin
decreased to 27.6%, mainly due to the increase in the property

development cost.

Other Income, Gains and Losses

In 2015, the other income, gains and losses of the Group recorded
RMB131.0 million net loss, representing a decrease of 219.5% over
RMB109.6 million net gain in 2014, which mainly included exchange
loss of RMB277.5 million, interest income of RMB101.0 million, and
other income of RMB45.5 million.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

In 2015, total selling and distribution expenses of the Group
were RMB488.5 million, representing an increase of 28.8% from
RMB379.3 million in 2014, which was mainly attributable to the
increase in overall sales, marketing and promotional activities owing
to the increase in contracted sales amount during the year, caused
by the increase in the number of pre-sales properties during the year.
Total administrative expenses increased by 2.8% from RMB390.6
million in 2014 to RMB401.7 million.

Taxation

Income tax expense comprised of PRC EIT, LAT and deferred
taxation. The effective tax rate of 51.8% is higher than the standard
PRC EIT rate of 25%, mainly attributable to LAT of RMB371.8 million.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

In 2015, profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB812.2
million, representing an increase of 0.4% over RMB809.4 million in
2014. Core net profit (excluding after tax fair value gain on investment
properties and non-recurring income and losses) for the year
amounted to RMB951.1 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Financial Position

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s total assets amounted to
approximately RMB48,826.9 million (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB36,785.8 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB37,251.0 million (as at 31 December 2014: RMB27,751.7 million).

Current ratio was 1.9 as at 31 December 2015 (as at 31 December
2014:1.6).

Financial Resources and Liquidity

In 2015, the Group’s sources of fund primarily included income
generated from business operations, cash from bank borrowings and
issuance of senior notes in US dollar and corporate bonds in RMB,
which were used in our business operations and investment and

development of projects.

The Group expects that income generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main source of funds in
the coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen
cash flow management, improve the efficiency of capital returns of
projects and strictly control the cost and various expenses. Besides,
the Group will continue to explore the opportunities to cooperate with
foreign and domestic investors, in order to provide other sources of
funding for the expansion of projects and business development.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had cash and bank deposits
of approximately RMB7,769.0 million (as at 31 December 2014
RMB4,852.3 million). As at 31 December 2015, the Group had
restricted bank deposits of approximately RMB1,266.6 million (as at
31 December 2014: RMB1,065.0 million) which were reserved for

obtaining bank loans.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, cash, bank deposits and restricted bank
deposits of the Group mentioned above totaled RMB9,035.7 million,
of which 98.0% was denominated in Renminbi and 2.0% was
denominated in other currencies (mainly in Hong Kong dollar, US

dollar and Australia dollar).

In 2015, cash collection ratio (total sales proceeds received in
2015 divided by the annual contract sales amount) for the Group's

contracted sales was approximately 82%.

Borrowings, Senior Notes, Corporate Bonds and Net
Gearing Ratio

Borrowings, Senior Notes and Corporate Bonds

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately RMB7,373.3 million (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB8,240.3 million) and senior notes and corporate bonds of
approximately RMB8,924.4 million (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB3,257.0 million) as follows:
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2015 2014
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Repayment period BENEH
Within one year (ESYEN 2,570.3 4,464.1
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More than two years, but not exceeding five years 2F LA HEREBBLF 9,498.6 4,858.1
More than five years BB T 29.5 47.7
16,297.7 11,497.3
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

The majority of borrowings of the Group are floating-rate borrowings,
of which interest rates are subject to negotiation on annual basis,
thus exposing the Group to fair value interest rate risk. During the
year 2015, the effective interest rate on borrowings, senior notes and
corporate bonds in 2015 was 9.5%, which was lower than 10.2% in
2014. The Group has implemented certain interest rate management
policies which included, among others, close monitoring of interest
rate movements and replacing and entering into new banking

facilities when good pricing opportunities arise.

In April and May 2015, the Group successfully issued offshore 3-year
senior notes of US$100,000,000 and US$250,000,000, respectively,
which were for the Group's refinancing and general corporate purposes.

In July and October 2015, the Group successfully issued
offshore 3-year corporate bonds of RMB2,400,000,000 and
RMB1,500,000,000, respectively, which were for the Group's

refinancing and general corporate purposes.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had credit facilities of
approximately RMB26,721.3 million (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB21,902.9 million) for short-term and long-term borrowings, of
which approximately RMB10,912.7 million (as at 31 December 2014:
RMB5,859.6 million) were unutilized.

Net Gearing Ratio

Net gearing ratio is measured by the net borrowings (total amount of
borrowings, senior notes and corporate bonds net of cash and cash
equivalents and restricted bank deposits) over the total equity. As at
31 December 2015, the Group’s net gearing ratio was 62.7%. The
Group has implemented certain loan management policies, which
mainly include close monitoring of the gearing ratio and any changes
in net gearing ratio, and optimization of the bank credit structure

when good pricing opportunities arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had the following contingent
liabilities relating to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
provided by banks to purchasers amounting to approximately
RMB9,239.6 million (as at 31 December 2014: RMB8,693.7 million).

The contingent liabilities represented the guarantees in respect of
mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage
loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group's properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is liable to the repayment
of outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
and penalty owed to the banks by defaulted purchasers, and the
Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties. The amounts as at 31 December 2015 were
to be discharged upon the earlier of: (i) issuance of the real estate
ownership certificate; and (ii) the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by
the purchasers of properties.

Commitments

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had construction cost and
land payments contracted but not provided for of approximately
RMB10,312.1 million (as at 31 December 2014: RMB11,147.4
million). The Group expects to fund these commitments principally
from sale proceeds of properties and bank borrowings.

Foreign Currency Risks

Most of the Group’s revenues and operating costs were denominated
in Renminbi. Except for the bank deposits denominated in foreign
currencies, senior notes denominated in US dollar and bank loans
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Australia dollars,
the Group’s operating cash flow or liquidity is not directly subject
to any other material exchange rate fluctuations. The Group did not
enter into any foreign exchange hedging arrangements during the
year ended 31 December 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

B W S A (A

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2015, the Group pledged its properties for
sales, property, plant and equipment, investment properties and
restricted bank deposit of approximately RMB9,444.5 million (as at
31 December 2014: RMB8,495.4 million) to various banks to secure

project loans and general banking facilities granted to the Group.

Events After the Reporting Period

On 15 January 2016, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire
a parcel of land situated in Ningdu, the PRC, at a consideration
of RMB63,000,000 through public auction. The Group has paid
RMB31,000,000 of the consideration. The land in Ningdu is

designated for commercial and residential properties for sale.

On 4 February 2016, the Group issued private domestic
corporate bond of RMB500,000,000 with a term of four years
(the “2016 Private Corporate Bonds”). 2016 Private Corporate
Bonds are secured by the Company, carrying interest at rate of
7.9% per annum and interest is payable annually, commencing
2 February 2017. The proceeds are to be used for refinancing certain
of the Group's existing indebtedness and for the general working
capital purposes. The 2016 Private Corporate Bonds will mature
on 2 February 2020 unless the bonds holders sell back the bonds
to Aoyuan Group earlier. Aoyuan Group is entitled to adjust the
interest rate on 2 February 2019, 20 days prior to the second interest
repayment date. Upon the adjustment, bonds holders may at their
options to sell back 2016 Private Corporate Bonds to Aoyuan Group
in whole or in part at face value of their principal amount within three

working days from 2 February 2019.

On 11 February 2016, the Company redeemed an aggregate
principal amount of US$112,500,000 of 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes,
representing all of the remaining and outstanding principal amount of
US$225,000,000, at a redemption price equal to 106.93750% of the

principal amount thereof together with all accrued and unpaid interest.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 3,761 employees (31

December 2014: 2,994 employees). The Group regularly reviews
remuneration and benefits of its employees according to the relevant
market practice and individual performance of the employees.
Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations, the Group provides
contributions to social insurance of the China and contribution to
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme of Hong Kong for eligible
employees. The Group also provides employees in China with
medical insurance, individual work injury insurance, maternity

insurance and unemployment insurance.
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. Biographical Details of Directors
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Back row from left: Mr. Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Yang Zhong, Mr. Hu Jiang
Front row from left: Ms. Zhong Ping, Mr. Guo Zi Ning, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Ma Jun
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

= F T ()

Executive Directors

HITES

Guo Zi Wen, Chairman

Guo Zi Wen, aged 51, is the founder of the Group, and holds a Master degree
in Business Administration. He is an executive Director, the chairman of the
Board and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. Mr. Guo is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Guo is mainly responsible
for the formulation of development strategies of the Company, as well as giving

guidance to the Group's project planning, financing and investment.

In 2001, Mr. Guo was honored by national main stream media and China Real
Estate Association as one of the Top 10 Persons in Real Estate Industry. In
2004, Mr. Guo received the China Real Estate Special Contribution Award, and
the China Real Estate Theory Research Contribution Award and was named
one of the Top 10 Outstanding Real Estate Entrepreneurs in the PRC in the

same year. In 2008, Mr. Guo was awarded as one of the Top 10 Outstanding
Entrepreneurs of the Past Three Decades in China Real Estate and was
recognized as one of the Top 30 Leaders in the Residential Construction of
Guangdong. In 2010, Mr. Guo was named “Outstanding Leader” in the event
“Leaders of Real Estate of Guangdong in Ten Golden Years” and in 2011,
Mr. Guo was named “CAPITAL Leader of Excellence 2011". In 2014, Mr.
Guo received the Award of “Outstanding Leaders for the Year” nominated
by Nanfang Media and Peking University. Except for being a Director of
the Company, Mr. Guo has not held any directorship in other publicly listed

companies during the past three years. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITEE (F)

Guo Zi Ning, Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Guo Zi Ning, aged 54, is an executive Director, a vice chairman and the chief

executive officer. He is also a director of the subsidiaries of the Company,
and holds a Doctor degree in Business Administration. He participated in the
preparation of the Group in 1996, now primarily responsible for legal affairs,
commercial property investment, development and operation, and leads the
overall administration management of the Group. Except for being a Director of
the Company, Mr. Guo has not held any directorship in any other listed public
companies during the past three years. Mr. Guo is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Wen.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Executive Directors (continued)

HITESE ()

Zhong Ping, Chief Financial Officer

Zhong Ping, aged 47, is an executive Director, chief financial officer, director of
Finance Centre and director of personnel assessment centre. Ms. Zhong is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. She obtained a Master degree
of Accountancy from Jinan University and is a certified tax advisor and certified
accountant. She joined the Group in August 2003 and is mainly responsible for
the finance, internal audit, administration and human resources management
of the Group. Ms. Zhong has not held any directorship in the last three years in

public companies which are listed in Hong Kong or overseas.
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Ma Jun, Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Ma Jun, aged 39, is an executive Director and chief operating officer of
the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ma
is mainly responsible for the management of real estate business operations
of the Group. Before joining the Group in March 2015, Mr. Ma worked at &
YBHEERE A F] (in English, for identification purpose only, Zhonghai Property
Tianjin Company) as deputy general manager and /&I RRHE (£2) AR
A Al (in English, for identification purpose only, Shenzhen Ao Chen Property
(Group) Co., Ltd.) as an executive vice president and possessed more than 15
years of experience in the real estate industry. Mr. Ma holds a bachelor degree
in Environmental Engineering awarded by Tianjin University in the PRC. Mr. Ma
has not held any directorship in the last three years in public companies which

are listed in Hong Kong or overseas.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

= (A

Non-executive Directors

FHTES

Yang Zhong

Yang Zhong, aged 47, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
in January 2011 and re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company
in February 2016. Mr. Yang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. He joined the Group in September 2009. He has the qualification of
a PRC registered real estate appraiser and is a registered supervision engineer
with extensive, comprehensive and professional management experience in
the real estate industry in the PRC. Mr. Yang worked in two reputable property
developers prior to joining the Group in September 2009. Except for being a
director of the Company, Mr. Yang has not held any directorship in any other

listed public companies during the past three years.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Independent Non-executive Directors

BAFHITES

Tsui King Fai

Tsui King Fai, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 13 September 2007. Mr. Tsui is the chairman of remuneration committee,
member of audit committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Tsui holds a Master degree of Science in Accountancy and a Bachelor degree of
Business Administration with first class honours awarded by the University of
Houston. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the Chartered Accountants Australia + New Zealand
and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
over 30 years of extensive experience in accounting, finance and investment
management, particularly in investments in Mainland China. Mr. Tsui is a
director and senior consultant of a registered financial services company in
Hong Kong. He had worked for two of the “Big Four” audit firms in Hong Kong
and the United States of America and served in various public listed companies
in Hong Kong in a senior capacity. Currently, Mr. Tsui is an independent non-
executive director of Lippo Limited (226.HK), Lippo China Resources Limited
(166.HK), Hongkong Chinese Limited (655.HK), Vinda International Holdings
Limited (3331.HK) and Newton Resources Limited (1231.HK), all listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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»  Biographical Details of Directors (continued)
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=R ()

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

BMFHITES (&)

Cheung Kwok Keung

Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 20 January 2011. Mr. Cheung is the chairman of audit
committee, member of remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung has over 20 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Mr. Cheung is the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (2314.HK)
and he was until 25 April 2014, also an independent non-executive director of
Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited (851.HK), both of which are listed on the Main
Board of Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors (continued)

=R ()

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

BMIFHITES (&)

Hu Jiang

Hu Jiang, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
on 28 February 2014. Mr. Hu is the member of audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. He was the principal of
Beijing Normal University (Zhuhai) College of Real Estate from November 2010
to July 2015. Mr. Hu has over 20 years of teaching and research experience in
the fields of geography and real estate. He is a senior economist and has the
qualification of a PRC registered real estate appraiser. He is also a member of
China Real Estate Valuers Association and he appointed as deputy permanent
secretary of China Real Estate Valuers and Agent Association on July 2015. Mr.
Hu holds a degree in science from the Beijing Normal University. Mr. Hu had
been a vice president of the Company from July 2007 to May 2008. Except for
being a director of the Company, Mr. Hu has not held any directorship in any
other listed public companies during the past three years.
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Senior Management and Company Secretary Profile

T ACE BN B R m R A

Senior Management

Chan Ka Yeung Jacky
Chan Ka Yeung Jacky, aged 36, is a vice president of the Group, the

president of Australia Company and the head of corporate finance
and investor relations. He graduated from the University of Illinois at
Urbana-Champaign in the United States of America with Bachelor’s
degree in Economics. He has extensive experience in financial
services and investor relations. He had previously been the chief
investment officer and investor relations director of Zhong An Real
Estate Limited and the deputy head and responsible officer of the
capital markets department of Agile Property Holdings Limited. He
joined the Group in October 2013 and is now mainly responsible for
the operation and management of Hong Kong and Australia office,
development of overseas projects, corporate finance, investor

relations, as well as other capital markets related affairs of the Group.

Xiao Yi

Xiao VYi, aged 44, is a vice president of the Group and the president of
the Chongqing district company. He graduated from the Chongging
Institute of Architecture and Civil Engineering, possessing extensive
experiences in engineering, cost and design management. He had
served as a deputy general manager of engineering and general
manager in Winsan (Shanghai) Industrial Corporation and Chongging
Longfor Properties, etc. He joined the Group in June 2009 and is
now mainly responsible for the operation and management of the

Chongging district company and business development in the region.

Chen Yong
Chen Yong, aged 40, is a vice president of the Group and head of

investment and financing department. He obtained a Bachelor degree
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. He has extensive
experience in fund management. He had served in some well-
known companies such as Vanke, Gemdale and Logan Property. He
joined the Group in June 2014, and is now mainly responsible for the

investment and financing business of the Company.
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Senior Management and Company Secretary Profile (continued)

R AE BN B K w R E A (B

Senior Management (continued)

Mai Ze Nian
Mai Ze Nian, aged 38, is a vice president of the Group. He graduated

from the Foshan University, possessing extensive experiences in
sales planning, operational management and marketing. He had
served as a general manager of marketing and executive president
in renown property companies such as Country Garden and
Chaochuang Group, etc. He joined the Group in September 2015, and
is now mainly responsible for assisting chief operating officer Mr. Ma
Jun in the operation and management of marketing and branding of
the property operation sector and managing the marketing customer

center and property company of the Group.

Miao Si Hua

Miao Si Hua, aged 51, is an assistant to president of the Group
and the president of the Aoyuan Commercial Property Group. He
graduated from Tongji University with a Bachelor Degree in Heat
Ventilating and Air Conditioning Engineering of Civil Engineering. He
has extensive experience in engineering. He had previously worked
as the general manager of Zhongtian Urban Development Group
Commercial Company and the responsible officer of Powerlong
Commercial Group, Henan District and the general manager of
Zhengzhou Powerlong. He joined the Group in September 2013.

Zhou Xian Jun
Zhou Xian Jun, aged 48, is an assistant to president of the Group and

director of investment development centre. He obtained a Bachelor
degree from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law. He had
previously been worked in Guangdong Yonghua Law Firm, Global
Kingway Law Firm and Guangdong Baike Law Firm. He joined the
Group in December 2010, and is now mainly responsible for assisting

in managing the investment development business.
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Senior Management and Company Secretary Profile (continued)

R AGE BN B R d R E A ()

Senior Management (continued)

Gao Xiang Dong

Gao Xiang Dong, aged 40, is an assistant to president and the chief
architect of the Group. He obtained his Master degree from South
China University of Technology. He has extensive experience in
design management. He joined the Group in April 2012, and is now
mainly assisting for the management of centre for research and

design centre.

Yang Jian Xiang

Yang Jian Xiang, aged 44, is an assistant to president of the Group,
general manager and responsible officer of Zhongfo sub-district
company. He obtained his Bachelor Degree from Central South
University. He had previously worked in well-known companies
such as Zovie Real Estate and Sany Heavy Industry Group. He joined
the Group in September 2011, and is now mainly responsible for
operation, management and business development of Zhongfo

subdistrict company.

Qin Lang

Qin Lang, aged 46, is an assistant of the Group’s Chief Executive
and general manager of Guangzhou Company. He graduated from
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, majoring in Economic
Laws. He had served as a vice general manager and general manger
A and ERWEER

%2 8). He joined the Group in June 2015 and is currently responsible

in renowned companies such as R TIRE EMA

for the operation and management and new project development of

Guangzhou Company.
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Senior Management and Company Secretary Profile (continued)

R AE BN B K w R E A (B

Senior Management (continued)

Zhang Jun

Zhang Jun, aged 40, is an assistant of the Group's Chief Executive
and Chief Operating Officer of China Aoyuan Property Group Limited.
He graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law,
majoring in Marketing and studied in Wuhan University with a minor
in Industrial and Civil Architecture. He had served as a vice general
manager of operation and marketing and vice chief executive in
renowned companies such as Wanda Group and Yurun Group. He
joined the Group in February 2015 and is currently responsible for
the operation of the property development sector of China Aoyuan
Property Group Limited.

Company Secretary

Wong Chi Mei

Wong Chi Mei, the Company Secretary of the Company. She is an
associate member of both The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. She holds a Master degree of Laws and a
Master degree of Science in Professional Accounting and Corporate

Governance from City University of Hong Kong.
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Land Bank
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Guangdong Province

Guangzhou Nanguo Aoyuan
Guangzhou Aoyuan
Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan
Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan

Guangzhou Guo Ao Investment
Development Centre

Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing Cheng
Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza
Guangzhou Aoyuan Health Plaza
Guangzhou Aoyuan Beyond Era

Guangzhou Aoyuan International Center

Guangzhou Aoyuan Spring Garden
Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza
Guangzhou Aoyuan Kangwei Plaza
Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza
Lianhua Hill Aoyuan

Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza

Foshan Aoyuan The Prime Palace
Nanhai Aoyuan

Foshan Aoyuan Central Parkview
Zhongshan Aoyuan

Zhongshan Aoyuan Jinyu
Jiangmen Aoyuan

Jiangmen Aoyuan Waitan
Meizhou Aoyuan Peninsula View
Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza

Wuhua Aoyuan Plaza

Aoyuan Cultural Tourism City
Shaoguan Lingnan Impression

Yangjiang Aoyuan Central Parkview
Fogang Aoyuan

Qingyuan Aoyuan

Yingde Aoyuan Wonderland

Yunfu Aoyuan City Plaza

Panyu, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Nansha, Guangzhou
Nansha, Guangzhou

Nansha, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Huangpu, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Zengcheng, Guangdong
Huangpu, Guangzhou
Panyu, Guangzhou
Zhuhai, Guangdong
Foshan, Guangdong
Foshan, Guangdong
Foshan, Guangdong
Zhongshan, Guangdong
Zhongshan, Guangdong
Jiangmen, Guangdong
Jiangmen, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Meizhou, Guangdong
Shaoguan, Guangdong

Yangjiang, Guangdong
Qingyuan, Guangdong
Qingyuan, Guangdong
Qingyuan, Guangdong
Yunfu, Guangdong

Integrated residential community

High-rise apartments,

commercial properties

Integrated residential community

Integrated residential community

Hotel, commercial properties, offices
and high-rise apartments

Commercial properties, offices and high-rise apartments
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,

commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties
commercial properties

commercial properties

Integrated residential community

High-rise apartments,

commercial properties

Integrated residential community

High-rise apartments,

commercial properties

Integrated residential community

High-rise apartments,
High-rise apartments,

commercial properties
commercial properties

Integrated residential community

Integrated residential community

Low-density residential, commercial properties
Low-density residential, commercial properties

Integrated residential community

Integrated residential community
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Land Bank (continued)

+ o ft it (%)

Chongging
33.  Chongaing Aoyuan City of Health Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 57.6
34.  Chongging Aoyuan Jinyu Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 1.6
35.  Chongging Aoyuan The Metropolis Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 94.3
36.  Chongging Aoyuan Shuiyunjian Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 65.2
37.  Chongging Aoyuan City Plaza Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 222.6
38.  Chongging Aoyuan Beyond Era Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 408.1
39.  Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao Chongging High-rise apartments, commercial properties 455.2
40.  Liuyang Aoyuan Plaza Changsha, Hunan High-rise apartments, commercial properties 148.9
41.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Edinburgh Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community 50.3
42.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Shennong Health City  Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 3933
43.  Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza Zhuzhou, Hunan Integrated residential community, commercial properties 429.7
44.  Jiangxi Aoyuan Ganzhou, Jiangxi Integrated residential community 218.7
45.  Shenyang Aoyuan The Metropolis Shenyang, Liaoning Integrated residential community 1,105.7
46.  Shenyang Aoyuan Convention Plaza Shenyang, Liaoning Integrated residential community 607.4
47.  Nanning Aoyuan Hanlin Shangzhu Nanning, Guangxi Integrated residential community 743
48.  Nanning Aoyuan Hanlin MingMen Nanning, Guangxi Integrated residential community 142.9
49.  Nanning Aoyuan Hanlin Langting Nanning, Guangxi Integrated residential community 67.1
50.  Yulin Aoyuan Yulin, Guangxi Integrated residential community 396.7
51.  Yulin Aoyuan City of Health Yulin, Guangxi Integrated residential community 720.6

Jiangsu Province

52.  Kunshan Aoyuan Suzhou, Jiangsu High-rise apartments, commercial properties 89.9

Zhejiang Province

53.  Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast Jiaxing, Zhejiang High-rise apartments, commercial properties 202.3
54.  Bengbu Aoyuan Hanlin Huafu Bengbu, Anhui High-rise apartments, commercial properties 3223
55.  Bengbu Aoyuan Hanlin Ginza Bengbu, Anhui High-rise apartments, commercial properties 570.1

Australia
56.  0One30 Hyde Park Sydney Sydney, Australia High-rise apartments 15.0
57. 188 Maroubra Sydney Sydney, Australia Mid and high-rise apartments 5.8
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Land Bank (continued)
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Project Summary

JH H B2

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza

M R BRI T K it

GUANGZHOU AOYUAN CITY PLAZA

Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza is well located at the interchange
of Xinguang Expressway and Hanxi Road (metro station of Hanxi
Changlong). It is at the heart of Changlong-Hanxi-WWanbo segment
which is on the new central axis of Guangzhou, enjoying enormous
geographical advantages. Boasting convenient transportation, the
project is located above the interchange station of Metro Line #3,
#7 and Dongguan-Foshan city rail. It takes 15 minutes to Zhujiang
New Town and 5 minutes to Guangzhou South Station (express
rail). Opposite to it is the only national 5A rated resort in Guangzhou,
Changlong Tourist Resort, which attracts over 10 million tourists
every year. Together with the surrounding well developed facilities,
the project has great investment value.

With GFA of approximately 250,000 sq.m., the project is a large scale
urban complex, integrating tourism-themed shopping streets, a themed
hotel, Grade A office buildings and boutique apartments. In January
2016, Guangzhou Aoyuan City Plaza has officially opened, featuring three
themed commercial segments, namely leisure and entertainment zone,
fashion zone and kid's zone.
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JE H B2 (4)

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza

BMEEREES

GUANGZHOU LUOGANG AOYUAN PLAZA

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza is located at the junction
of Kaichuang Road and Kailuo Road in new Huangpu district,
Guangzhou, which is not only the traditional core central business
living centre, but also the administrative, economic, cultural and
business hub of new Huangpu. With GFA of approximately 330,000
sg.m., the project will be developed into a large-scale urban complex,
comprising a large shopping centre, a themed shopping street, grade
A offices, and apartments, etc..

Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza is the only property above the
Xiangxue Station of Metro Line #6. Aoyuan will also set up two metro
exits with its own funds to connect the themed shopping street and
the grade A office building. With convenient transportation network,
[t takes 10 minutes from the project to Huangpu, 20 minutes to
Tianhe District and Baiyun International Airport, and an hour to
Shenzhen. With well-developed ancillary facilities, the project is also
adjacent to the administrative centre of Huangpu district, Guangzhou
International Sports Arena, and Grade A schools at provincial level
such as Yulan Secondary School and Xiangxue Primary School.

In 2015, Guangzhou Luogang Aoyuan Plaza gained impressive
popularity in the market and won various honours, namely “Top 10
Guangzhou Investment Properties”, “Popular Development in the
Region 2015" and “Luogang's Best Commercial Properties for Investment”.
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One30 Hyde Park Sydney

%E/ﬁ E/_\. 130 5}’%’,

ONE30 HYDE PARK SYDNEY

One30 Hyde Park Sydney is the first overseas project Aoyuan has
developed under the strategy of parallel development in domestic
and overseas markets. It is well-located in the heart of the Sydney
CBD, and at the junction of Liverpool Street and Elizabeth Street. The
design is a 38-storey building with 140 luxury residential apartments.

One30 Hyde Park Sydney looks north over nearly 200,000 sq m green
area of Hyde Park to the Opera House and Sydney Harbour, enjoying
a stunning 280-degree view. It is in close proximity to the landmark
Sydney Tower, the major tourist destination Chinatown, Australian
Museum the oldest museum in Australia, and Royal Botanic Gardens.
Furthermore, the project enjoys mature facilities on its peripheral
area, with the heritage listed Museum Station directly connected
to the project.

Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)
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JE H B2 (4)

Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza
REREES

ZHUHAI AOYUAN PLAZA

Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza is situated in the heart of the new administrative
centre of Zhuhai, Guangdong. With GFA of approximately 270,000
sqg.m., the project will be developed into an international urban
complex, comprising high-end apartments, a large scale shopping
mall, a shopping street, a star-rated hotel and office buildings.

Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza has quick access to major roads, the
Guangzhou-Zhuhai Intercity Rail and Tramline No.1, offering
convenient transportation. The project is also close to elite schools,
including Zhuhai No. 15 Primary School, Zhuhai No. 9 Secondary
School, Zhuhai No. 1 Secondary School, and Beijing Normal University,
Zhubhai, etc., with public facilities such as sports centres and libraries
and different government institutions nearby, enjoying an extensive
range of facilities. In addition, it features an alluring natural setting with
the Meixi scenic area to its north, offering beautiful scenery.
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Zhongshan Aoyuan
11 B

ZHONGSHAN AOYUAN

Zhongshan Aoyuan is located at Guangfeng Road of Zhongshan,
Guangdong. The project is conveniently located where it is only a 10
minutes’ drive to the city centre and 1.5km away from Zhongshan
North Light Rail Station. It is going to be Zhongshan's core residential
district and a key development area. Following the successive
launching into operation of the urban transport network of Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge, Shenzhen-Zhongshan Bridge and
Guangzhou-Zhuhai city rail, the travel time from the project to cities in
the Pearl River Delta will be significantly shortened, and Zhongshan
Aoyuan will enjoy the first-comer advantages amid the integration of
city clusters in the Pearl River Delta.

The project has a GFA of approximately 700,000 sg.m, comprising low
density residences, apartments, commercial properties and serviced
apartments. Surrounded by the Leisure and Culture Park, Jiangxin
Park and Rainbow Park, it enjoys a vast expanse of the nature and
fresh air. Within the projects are a full range of ancillary facilities,
including a themed shopping street, swimming pools, riverside parks, a
kindergarten and a primary school. As at the end of 2015, over 4,000
households have moved in.

Zhongshan Aoyuan has won awards “China International Garden
Community Award” and “Healthy Residence Pilot Projects”,
receiving high recognition in the market.

Project Summary (continued)
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)

Aoyuan Cultural Tourism City Shaoguan Lingnan Impression

RE xR R B

AOYUAN CULTURAL TOURISM CITY
SHAOGUAN LINGNAN IMPRESSION

Well located in Shaoguan, Guangdong, Aoyuan Cultural Tourism
City Shaoguan Lingnan Impression features an alluring natural
setting with its site spanning nearly 3 km along the Wu River. It
has convenient access to the Shaoguan station of the Wuhan-
Guangzhou High-Speed Railway and Grade A school at provincial
level, namely Beijiang Experimental Secondary School.

Leveraging on rich Buddhism Zen culture and natural sceneries
in Shaoguan and with GFA of approximately 700,000 sg.m., the
project strives to be the first world class cultural tourism complex
in southern China which features the scenic performance, and
consists of Buddhism Zen culture, tourism, commercial and
residential elements. In September 2015, the press conference
for Shaoguan scenic performance and Aoyuan cultural tourism
products was held.
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Project Summary (continued) =

JH H BE2E (5)

Wuhua Aoyuan Plaza

hEREES

WUHUA AOYUAN PLAZA

Well located at the core area of Wuhua,
Meizhou, Guangdong, Wuhua Aoyuan Plaza
is close to two main roads of Shuizhai Road
and Park Road and enjoys a full range of
ancillary facilities such as municipal services,
parks and those for educational, healthcare
and recreational purposes. With GFA of
approximately 140,000 sqg.m., it will be
developed into an urban complex offering
commercial space, entertainment, office,
accommodations, and residence.
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Project Summary (continued)

JEH H B2 (4)

Chongqing Aoyuan Panlong Yihao

EFRERESER

CHONGQING AOYUAN PANLONG YIHAO

Chongging Panlong Yihao is well located in the heart of Panlong,
Jiulongpo District, Chongging, which is designated as a key
development district of Chongging. With a convenient transportation
networks, the project is easily accessible to the light rails and the
Ringway. It takes 10 minutes from the project to Nanping, and 20
minutes to Jiefangbei CBD. In addition, the project is also adjacent to
a full range of ancillary facilities including schools, parks and hospitals.

With GFA of approximately 460,000 sg.m., Chongging Aoyuan
Panlong Yihao will become a new centre of Jiulongpo District
which integrates residential apartments, a shopping mall, a themed
shopping street, boutique hotels and Grade A offices.

Chongging Aoyuan Panlong Yihao was named as “China Blue Chip
Property — China Urban Complex with the Best Investment Value”
for 2015.
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Project Summary (continued)

JH H B2 (4)

Chongqing Aoyuan Beyond Era

EFREBREN

CHONGQING AOYUAN BEYOND ERA

Chongging Aoyuan Beyond Era is well located at the new economic
centre of Chongging — Chayuan new district, and is across the street
from the administrative centre of Nanan district and Chayuan CBD.
With a GFA of approximately 410,000 sg.m. and a plot ratio of only
2.0, the project will be developed into an upmarket community
comprised of quality residence and a large scale shopping centre.

Enjoying convenient transportation, the project is near Chayuan
integrated transportation hub and two light rails, and has quick
connection to central business districts, such as Yangjiaping,
Liberation Monument and Jiangbeizui, and Chongging Railway
Station and Airport through Zhenwushan Tunnel, Nanshan Tunnel and
Cimushan Tunnel. The project is surrounded by Kuxihe River, Kuxihe
Wetland Park and Chayuan Central Park, boasting beautiful scenery.
Facilities such as schools, hospitals and commercial amenities are all
complete and perfect.
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza

wNRE RS

ZHUZHOU AOYUAN PLAZA

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza is conveniently located at the convergence of
Zhujiang South Road and Taishan Road in the heart of Shennong City,
Zhuzhou, Hunan, and is only a 10 minutes’ drive from the downtown.
The project is easily accessible to expressway, metro line, and dozens
of bus routes. It is close to Yandi Square and Shennong Lake, and
is surrounded with a range of cultural, leisure and entertainment
facilities such as Shennong Art Centre and Shennong Theatre, etc.

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Plaza has a GFA of approximately 430,000 sg.m.,
consisting of low-density residence, high-rise apartments, offices,
commercial apartments, hotels and a shopping mall. Elite schools
such as the Municipal No. 2 Secondary School, the Beijing Normal
University (Zhuzhou) Affiliated High School, and Baihe Primary School
are in the vicinity of the project. The project also features rich sports
facilities including a gym, badminton courts, yoga rooms, and snooker
rooms, etc. Living in Zhuhai Aoyuan Plaza, homeowners can realize a
dream of “exercise starts from home".
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Project Summary (continued)
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Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast

FHEREEEERF

JIAXING AOYUAN GOLD COAST

Jiaxing Aoyuan Gold Coast is situated in the Jiaxing Economic and
Technological Development Zone. It has a GFA of approximately
200,000 sg.m, and will be developed into the first waterside
community in Jiaxing with a theme of sports.

The project enjoys highly convenient access to main roads and Jiaxing
Train Station and High Speed Rail Station. It boasts an alluring natural
setting which commands a 1.6 km waterfront along the Changxian River
to the north, the Muhu Forest Park and Jiaxing Xiangjiadang Resort. The
project is in close proximity to an extensive range of educational and
living facilities. The prestigious Tanghui Experiential School is within a
walking distance, and there is a community medical centre and a series of
community commercial services within the project.

In 2015, the project was named “2015 Jiaxing's Livable Model
Residence”.

Artists impressions for reference]
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Project Summary (continued)

JE H B2 (4)

Bengbu Aoyuan Hanlin Ginza

U 452 B ] R PR R

BENGBU AOYUAN HANLIN GINZA

Bengbu Aoyuan Hanlin Ginza is situated at the core of Bengbu, Anhui. It
has a GFA of approximately 700,000 sq.m. at a green ratio reaching 35%.
Inspired by the internationally famous Ginza in Tokyo, it comprises Grade
A offices, star-rated hotels, a large shopping mall, boutique apartments
and luxury residences.

Bengbu Aoyuan Hanlin Ginza is positioned at the central axis of
Bengbu, offering a one-stop lifestyle integrating residence, leisure,
shopping, entertainment, accommodation and culture. The project
is adjacent to Haihe Culture Square, the municipal government
buildings, the national 4A scenery Longzi Lake, and Bengbu Exhibition
Centre. The new site of Bengbu No. 2 Middle School, the only Grade
A school at provincial level in Bengbu, is within a walkable distance.

In 2015, the project was named the “Most Beloved Property on the
Web 2015" by Haiging Real Estate Institute.
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Investor Relations

P& B R

The Group has always valued and maintained a long-term and stable
relationship with shareholders and investors by the timely disclosure
of real and accurate information pertinent to the Group via multiple
channels, maintaining an effective and clear mutual communication
with investors, fostering investors’ understanding and support to
the Group's business and development so as to secure and expand
investors base in favour of expanding the Group's financing channels

and reducing financing costs.

During the year under review, the Group had actively deployed
communication channels with investors. The Group had organized
and participated a total of 210 investor relations activities, including
results announcement investor presentation, management meetings,
investor road shows in Hong Kong, Singapore and mainland China,
investor conferences held by investment banks and securities firms,
and site visits etc. The Group had met over 600 representatives
from various investment institutions with a view to enhance
investors’ awareness of the Group's latest development in business

performance, operations and corporate strategies, etc..
The Group has regularly disseminated the latest information through

announcements, press releases, monthly newsletters and corporate

website in a proactive and timely manner.
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Investors Relations Activities
(Number of times)

REEBBRBBER OB

Investor

Presentations
Investor and Press
Roadshows Conference

and Conferences REEHENE R
BEHE HERHE
Rlge 4 timesiX

12 timesiX

Site Visits
BEE28
14 timesiX

210

H N Management
t|meS//\ Meetings
= i
Telephone/Video Ezéig i
Conferences 126 times/X
BREARERE
54 times)X

Note: Asia Pacific (except China and Hong Kong) includes Singapore, Taiwan, Japan, Malaysia and Austria;, and North America includes the United States

and Canada.

Investor Relations (continued)

B BlR ()

Investment Institutions Type
(by region)
REMBERE (E)

North America
b
13%

Mainland China
and Hong Kong
LAETPNEY &
Europe 45%
B
20%

Asia Pacific (except Mainland China
and Hong Kong)
BR(BHE)

22%

i BX (BB BRFNE - 2E - A FRADZREN  ILEEEEERNEX

The Group strives to maintain a professional and effective investor
relations management. We will continually optimize investor relations
operations, and maintain interactive communications with investors,
effectively fostering investors’ understanding of the Group. We also
pay attention to feedbacks from capital markets in a candid and open
mind, and maintain a high level of corporate transparency, therefore
fostering the sustainable development of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report

(e HERIeE 8

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board” or the
“Directors”) of China Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) recognizes the
importance of maintaining a high standard of corporate governance
to protect and enhance the benefits of shareholders. The Board and
Senior Management of the Company recognized their responsibility
to maintain the interest of the shareholders and to enhance their
value. The Board also believes a deliberate policy of corporate
governance can facilitate a company in rapid growth under a healthy
governance structure and strengthen the confidence of shareholders
and investors.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board periodically reviews the corporate governance practices
of the Company to ensure that the practices continue to meet the
requirements of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the "CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company has applied
the principles of the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2015,
the Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
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Corporate Governance Structure

ERERRE

Shareholders

BRR
Reporting and .
Accountability Appc%n&ment
ERNEE
The Board
4
Indepe-ndent Reporting and Delegation of Mangement
Auditors Accountability Power =g
B A ERRME B
Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
EREES FHEEE
Oversee internal Review and
control, and risk recommend for
management remuneration of
system and audit | directors and senior
functions management
BE SR A ERESIE K LB EHRERES
[SEESE K= &%

Annual Audit
FIREZ
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
B RHE ()

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Following specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they fully complied
with the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Board of Directors

The board composition of the Company has one-third are
Independent Non-executive Director, currently comprises
four executive directors, one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors, serving the important function
of guiding the management. The Company is fully complied with
the requirement in related to independent non-executive director
setout in Rules 3.10 of Listing Rules. The biographical details of each
Directors are set out on pages 30 to 37. Our Board possesses a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of
the Company's business. The Directors of the Company combine of
management, finance and accounting professional qualifications with
great experience in diversified business.

The Board members up to the date of the annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer)

Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Yang Zhong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives, approve interim
and annual results, and discuss other significant matters on the
businesses and operations of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2015, a total of 4 board meetings were held. Details of
the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings are set out under

"“Directors’/Committee Members' Attendance at Meetings” below.

The Board is responsible to the shareholders for providing effective
leadership, and ensuring transparency and accountability of the
Group’s operations. It sets the Company’s values and aims at
enhancing shareholders’ value. It formulates the Group's overall
strategy and policies and sets corporate and management targets,
key operational initiatives as well as policies on risk management

pursuant to the Group’s strategic objectives.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operations of the Group’s business to the management of the
relevant segments and divisions. The management is responsible for
the implementation and adoption of the Company’s strategies and
policies. The delegated functions and tasks are periodically reviewed
by the Board.

There is no relationship among members of the Board except for Mr.
Guo Zi Wen is the brother of Mr. Guo Zi Ning.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with an induction on
the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure that he/she has
adequate understanding of the businesses and operations of the
Group. The Directors are also kept informed on a timely basis of their
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules, as well as
other relevant statutory or regulatory requirements. The Company
also encourages its Directors to participate in other continuous
professional development programmes for directors.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

SEE I (B

)

Directors’/Committee Members’ Attendance at EE ZEEREHESEER

Meetings

Ezng

Executive Directors (“ED")
Mr. Guo Zi Wen
Mr. Guo Zi Ning
Mr. Ma Jun
(appointed on 28 August 2015)
Ms. Zhong Ping

Non-Executive Directors (“NED")

Mr. Yang Zhong
(re-designated from ED to NED
on 5 February 2016)

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky
(resigned on 27 August 2015)

Independent Non-executive
Directors (“INED")

Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

Board
Bz
BES
PIRENEE 44
PEELE 34
BERE NATEHE
(R=Z-RENA-+)\REZ)
EYat 444
FHTES
BREE
(R=Z-"5-FTHBH
HIESEAEHNES) 34
RE o« BESERE
(R=2-RFNAZHLBET) 44
BUFHTES
G Ve 34
RE#EE 24
iRt 414

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Guo Zi Wen is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Guo Zi Ning SN EEREESER  MBFBLERN
is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Chairman of the RETHEE - ESeEIREBELSEERL

Meeting Attended/Held During the Year Ended

31 December 2015
B2-2-RF+-A=1-RLERHE /ST8ENE
Audit  Remuneration Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting

ENZEE ¥HzEE REZEE LEIN |

1 n

17

NATER

n

17

7

2/2 7n n 17
202 7 7 /1
2/2 7n n 17

EFERITHRAR

Board is responsible for the overall strategic development of the EMSEARBERRE MBE—FAHE  (THEHR
Group's operation. The Chief Executive Officer, on the other hand, is AlEZaBErEENGEER -

principally responsible for the overall management of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Non-executive Directors

Each of the existing independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for a term of three years, and non-executive director has
been appointed for a term of one year, subject to the provision of
retirement and rotation of directors under the Articles of Association
of the Company.

Pursuant to rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive directors.
All of the independent non-executive directors have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

The Company has received confirmations of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-

executive Directors and considers them to be independent.

For independent non-executive directors who has served the
Company for more than 9 years, his/her further appointment will be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders
at the general meeting and the papers to the Shareholders
accompanying that resolution will include the reasons that the Board

believes he/she is still independent and should be re-elected.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’'s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs.
Directors of the Board take decisions objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Board has delegated to the senior management
the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and
operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established Board
committees and has delegated to these Board committees various

responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)
ERE R ()

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of

directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.

All directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests

of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

During the Year, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting with all
the non-executive Directors without the presence of the executive
Directors. Details of their attendance record are set out in the
following table:

%%ﬁé%f?&iﬁﬁﬁigiﬁ C BRPRERER

EH RBLEE - AEEZEMEREE E
X%(%%l EREFSENEFRE) MBE

o REEFRARREMENLESH

FIBEEEYREFSENBEITERE NETHE
BRRERIER  W—BEUARR A NEKE 2
#WITE °

RAEERN  EFSEIFEMEFRTESE
HITEETHEFENBR TRIT -REE - KF
Z RS REIN TR

Number of Meeting Attended/
Number of Meeting Held
HESBRY SBETRY

Mr. Guo Zi Wen RS

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky RER o ERAETE A
Mr. Tsui King Fai REREAEE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung oR B 58 9t A

Mr. Hu Jiang I AE

Board Committees

(@) Audit Committee (“AC”)
The AC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of three members
with all independent non-executive Directors. namely, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Keung (as chairman), Mr. Tsui King Fai and Mr.
Hu Jiang. Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung appointed as the Chairman
of Audit Committee and he has appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial management
expertise, with appropriate professional qualification as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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mn
11
mn
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

The primary duties of the AC are mainly to make recommendation
to the Board on the appointment and removal of external auditor;
review the financial statements and material advice in respect
of financial reporting; and oversee financial reporting system
and internal control procedures of the Company. The terms of
reference of AC are available and accessible at the websites of
the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn) and the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk).

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the AC held 2 meetings.
Details of the committee members’ attendance at the AC
meetings are set out under “Directors’/Committee Members’

Attendance at Meetings” above.

The summary of the work of the AC for the year ended 31
December 2015 is as below:

- reviewed the announcement of annual results and
annual report of the Group for the financial year ended
31 December 2014 before submission to the Board for

adoption and publication;

- reviewed the announcement of interim results and interim
report of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2015
before submission to the Board for adoption and publication;

- met with the auditors to discuss the accounting and
audit issues of the Group and reviewed their findings,

recommendations and representations;

- reviewed the Group’s internal control and risk

management system; and

- reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group's accounting and financial

reporting function and their training programmes.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

A SEERHRE ()
(b) Remuneration Committee (“RC”)

The RC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of three members with
all independent non-executive Directors. namely, Mr. Tsui King
Fai (as chairman), Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Hu Jiang.

The primary duties of the RC are mainly to make recommendation
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure
relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group;
review remuneration proposals of the management with
reference to the Board’'s corporate goals and objectives; and
ensure none of the Directors or any of their associate determine
their own remuneration. The terms of reference of RC are
available and accessible at the websites of the Company (www.

aoyuan.com.cn) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the RC held 1 meeting.
Details of the committee members’ attendance at the RC
meetings are set out under “Directors’/Committee Members’

Attendance at Meetings” above.

The summary of the work of the RC for the year ended 31
December 2015 is as below:

- reviewed the existing policy and structure of the

remuneration of the executive Directors;

- reviewed the existing remuneration package of the non-

executive and independent non-executive Directors;

- reviewed the existing policy and structure of the

remuneration of management of the Group;
- made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and management of

the Group; and

- assessed performance of the executive Directors.

(b)
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

(c) Nomination Committee (“NC”)

The NC was established with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. It consists of four members with
one executive Director, namely Mr. Guo Zi Wen (as chairman)
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.

Tsui King Fai, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Hu Jiang.

The primary duties of the NC are to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and make recommendations to
the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board.
The terms of reference of NC are available and accessible at the
websites of the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board is based on a range of
measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service, having
due regard to the Company's own business model and specific
needs from time to time. With the existing Board members
coming from a variety of business and professional background
and one out of the eight Board members being woman, the
Company considers that the Board possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business.

(c)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015, the NC held 1 meeting.
Details of the committee members’ attendance are set
out under “Directors’/Committee Members' Attendance at

Meetings"” above.

The summary of the work of the NC for the year ended 31

December 2015 is as below:

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-election
of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of

the Company;

- assessed the independence of independent non-

executive Directors; and

- reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties and has adopted the CG Code as its corporate governance

code of practices during the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Board has, among other things, reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors, the Company's
compliance with the respective code provisions of the CG Code for
the year ended 31 December 2015 and disclosure in this Corporate

Governance Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant and ensure they keep
updated on the changes in the applicable laws and regulations and the

overall development of the operations of the Group.

A briefing session was organised for all newly appointed Directors for
their appointment to ensure that they have adequate understanding

of the businesses and operations of the Group and directors’ duties.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Accountability and Audit

(a)

(b)

Accountability

The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the
management is accountable to the Board. The Board endeavors
to ensure that the announcements of annual and interim
results and the annual and interim reports of the Group present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s
position and prospects. The Board embraces openness and
transparency in the conduct of the Company’s affairs, whilst
preserving the commercial interests of the Company. Financial
and other information are disseminated to shareholders through
announcements via the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.

hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.aoyuan.com.cn).

Internal Controls

The Board conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015. The review covered the financial, operational,
compliance and risk management aspects of the Group
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial

reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate internal
control system to safeguard shareholder investments and
Company assets and reviewing the effectiveness of such
system on an annual basis.

An internal audit department has been established to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and conduct audits of
the Company and its subsidiaries. The work carried out by the
internal audit department will ensure the internal controls are in

place and functioning as intended.
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(c)

During the course of audit performed by the external auditors,
they reported on the weakness in the Group's internal
control and accounting procedures which had come to their
attention. The internal audit department reviewed, evaluated
and monitored the follow-up actions in response to their
recommendations and reported to the AC.

The Board will continue, with the assistance of the AC and
external independent professionals, if necessary, to review
and improve the Group's internal controls system, taking into
account the prevailing regulatory requirements, the Group’s
business development and the interests of shareholders.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
were audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu of which the term of
office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting.
The AC has recommended to the Board that Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu be nominated for appointment as the auditors of the

Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

There have been no changes of auditors of the Company in the
past three years.

It is the auditors’ responsibility to form an independent opinion,
based on their audit, on those financial statements and to report
their opinion solely to the Company and for no other purpose. They
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of the independent auditors’ report.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set

out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 97 to 98.
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REBFE BN/ BRARRRBIIAZEEE
2 e TR SETEITTHEREMIIRT ¢

During the year under review, the professional fee paid/payable to the

Company's independent auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu is set

out as follows:

RMBS$000
ARETT
Audit services FET AR 3,990
Non-audit services FEERT AR
— Interim review — AR 1,119
— Issue of corporate bonds —BIRAES 1,180
— Provision of accounting — R R AR 500
treatment and
advisory services
— Issue of senior notes —BITEAER 430
- Others —HAth 20

Responsibilities in respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 and confirm that the financial statements contained herein give
a true and fair view of the results and state of affairs of the Group
for the year under review. The Directors consider that the financial
statements have been prepared in conformity with the statutory

requirements and the applicable accounting standards.

Directors’ training

According to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to

the board remains informed and relevant.
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The Company has arranged and funded suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director. The Company Secretarial Department of the
Company would provide relevant reading materials to the Directors to
ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial,
legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the Company’s
businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills. In addition, all
Directors are encouraged to attend external forum, or training course
on relevant topics. During the year, all Directors of the Company
had provided their record of training to the Company Secretary. The
Board has reviewed and monitored the continuous professional

development of the Directors.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and
reports to the Chairman of the Board. She is responsible for advising
the Board for corporate governance matters, and ensuring the Board

activities are efficiently and effectively conducted.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary
of the Company has taken not less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

Shareholders’ Rights
The Company recognizes the importance, and takes high priority,
on communication with its shareholders. Certain key information on

shareholders’ rights is provided below:

1. Communication with Shareholders
The general meetings provides a channel for communication
between the Board and the shareholders. The Group makes
great efforts to enhance the communication with shareholders.
The shareholders can visit the website of the Company (www.
aoyuan.com.cn) for updated information of the Group and press

releases are posted on our website in a timely manner.
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Procedures to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Shareholders may request the Company to convene a general
meeting according to the provision as set out in the Company’s
Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. A copy of the Company’s Articles of Association can
be found on the Company's website. The procedures for
shareholders to nominate a person for election as a director of
the Company is available on the Company's website with title
“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election
as a Director of the Company”.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director of the Company
The Company also adopted a set of procedures for putting
forward proposals by the shareholders at general meetings.

Subject to the provisions of the Company's Articles of
Association, the Company may from time to time in general
meeting by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director

either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
Director of the Company for election as a Director at a general
meeting, he/she can deposit a written notice at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board of Directors and Company Secretary, the
period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on the day
after the despatch of the notice of general meeting and end no
later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting.

In order for the Company to inform Shareholders of that
proposal, the written notice must state the full name of the
person proposed for election as a Director, including the
person’s biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder concerned and

that person indicating his/her willingness to be elected.
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In order to allow the Shareholders sufficient time to receive
and consider the proposal of election of the proposed person
as a director of the Company, Shareholders are encouraged to
submit and lodge the written notice as early as practicable.

4. Procedures to send enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board of the Company by addressing them to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Units 1901-2, 19th
Floor, One Peking, No. 1 Peking Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong by post for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Investor Relations

The Company’'s website (www.aoyuan.com.cn) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of the Company
to the Shareholders, other stakeholders and investors. The Company
will also update the website information from time to time to inform

Shareholders and investors of the latest development of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of transparency
and timely disclosure of corporate information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make the best investment decisions.
To achieve this, the Company maintains a website at http://www.
aoyuan.com.cn, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company's business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information

are posted.

The general meetings of the Company also provide good opportunity
for exchange of views between the Board and the shareholders.
The Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees and,
where applicable, the chairman of the independent Board committee,

are available to answer questions at shareholder meetings.
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The 2016 Annual General Meeting (2016 AGM") will be held on 18
May 2016. The notice of 2016 AGM wiill be sent to shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the 2016 AGM.

The Board believes effective investor relations can contribute
towards lowering cost of capital, improving market liquidity for the
Company's stock and building a more stable shareholder base.
Therefore, the Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate transparency and following a policy of disclosing relevant
information to shareholders, investors, analysts and bankers. Keeping
the shareholders aware of our corporate strategies and business
operations is one of the key missions of our investor relations team.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of the
Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the Company’s

website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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™. Report of the Directors

80

R

The board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) herein present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out

in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors recommend the payments of a final dividend of
RMB8.8 cents per ordinary share to the shareholders whose name
appear on the register of members on 27 May 2016, amounting to
approximately RMB244,978,000 (2014: final dividend of RMB8.7
cents per share), subject to the shareholders’ approval at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In accordance with Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance of
Hong Kong (“CQO"), a fair review of the Group’s business during the
year, a discussion on the prospect of the Group’s future business
development, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing are provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 12 to 16 and the Management Discussion and

Analysis on pages 18 to 29 of this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2015 are set

out in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 12 to 16, Financial Highlights on pages 6 to 7 and Five Years

Financial Summary on page 257 of this Annual Report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has endeavoured to
strictly comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and the Group has adopted the ecotechnology to ensure
our project output meet the standards and ethics in respect of

environmental protection.

The Company recognizes the importance of environmental protection.
The Company committed to provide a eco-friendly energy environment
for our staff and developed energy conservation and carbon reduction

policy so as to minimize negative environmental impacts.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group is set out in Directors’ Report on
pages 80 to 96.

Relationship with Stakeholders

We fully understand that employees, customers and suppliers and
other (together “stakeholders”) are the key to our sustainable and
stable development. We are committed to maintain a good relationship

with our stakeholders so as to ensure our containing development.

The Group regarded our staffs as the most valuable assets of the
Company. The Group is providing a fair and harmonious workplace
where individuals with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated equally.
We offer a reasonable remuneration package and fair opportunities for
career advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group
also provides our staff with different trainings, including on-the-job
training and training courses provided by professional organisations in

order to enhance our staffs’ career progression.
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= ()

The Group believes that our vendors (including contractors) are
equally important in building high-quality property projects. We
proactively communicate with our vendors to ensure they are

committed to delivering high-quality and sustainable output.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for each of the last five financial years is set out in the Five Years
Financial Summary on page 257 of this Annual Report. This summary

does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out below, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the

year ended 31 December 2015.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the

year are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the Companies Law which would oblige the

Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

On 23 November 2015, the Company redeemed an aggregate principal
amount of US$112,500,000, representing all its outstanding 50%
senior notes due 2017 at the redemption price equal to 106.93750% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Save as disclosed above, during 2015, neither the Company, nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s

listed securities.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial

statements of this Annual Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the total sales of the Group for the
year. Purchases from five largest suppliers accounted for less than

30% of the Group's total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders who
owned more than 5% of the Company’s share capital had any
interests in the five largest customers or suppliers at any time during

the year.

BANK BORROWINGS
Details of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2015
are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of this

Annual Report.

SENIOR NOTES AND BONDS

Details of senior notes and corporate bonds of the Company are set
out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
announcements dated 8 November 2012, 15 November 2012, 21
January 2013, 22 January 2013, 10 January 2014, 1 April 2015, 18
May 2015 and 25 November 2015 respectively.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of

corporate governance practices.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 62
to 79.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the

following periods:

(i)

from 13 May 2016 to 18 May 2016, both days inclusive, for the
purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2016 AGM which is scheduled on 18 May 2016, the
register of members of the Company will be closed. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2016 AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 12 May 2016.

from 25 May 2016 to 27 May 2016, both days inclusive, for
the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend, the register of members of the
Company will be closed. In order to establish entitlements
to the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no
later than 4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2016.

During the periods mentioned in sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, no

transfers of shares will be registered.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules, changes in the

information of Directors since the date of the 2015 Interim Report of

the Company required to be disclosed in this report are as follows:

Mr. Yang Zhong has been re-designated from executive director
to non-executive director of the Company for a term of one year
with effect from 5 February 2016 and which may be extended
thereafter and his director remuneration has been changed to
HK$260,000 per annum with effect from 5 February 2016.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Guo Zi Wen (chairman)

Mr. Guo Zi Ning (vice chairman and chief executive officer)

Ms. Zhong Ping (chief financial officer)

Mr. Ma Jun (chief operating officer) (appointed on 28 August 2015)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Zhong (re-designated from executive director to
non-executive director on 5 February 2016)

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky (resigned on 27 August 2015)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui King Fai

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

Mr. Hu Jiang

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to
but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years.

In accordance with Articles 86(3) and 87 of the articles of association
of the Company, Mr. Guo Zi Ning, Mr. Ma Jun and Mr. Hu Jiang shall
retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Biographical details of the existing Directors of the Company are set
out on pages 30 to 37 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprise-
wide risk is a priority of the Company. The Company convinced that
corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
(the “D&O Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has
arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against directors and
senior management arising out from corporate activities. The D&O

Insurance will be reviewed and renewed annually.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the existing executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of three years subject to the provision of retirement and rotation

of directors under the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the existing non-executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of one year subject to the provision of retirement and rotation of

directors under the Articles of Association of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed
for a term of three years at an annual remuneration set out in
their service contracts and other discretionary bonuses as may be
determined by the Board according to the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company subject to the provision of

retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, no other Directors have entered into service
agreements with the Company which are not determined by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other

than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements, no director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries

was a party during the year.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests or short positions of the
directors of the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which
were to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or
which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers of the Listing Rules
("Model Code") were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares under
equity derivatives of the Company:

= ()
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Number of
underlying shares
Personal Corporate held under equity
Name of director interest interest derivates Total Percentage
(note i)
RERE
TETERE
Expg fAARE EERE  HHEBRGHE a5t BAl
(H1izi)
Mr. Guo Zi Wen PR NIl 1,392,201,062 - 1392201,062 50.01%
z (notefiiztii)
Mr. Yang Zhong BREE 1,650,000 - - 1,650,000 0.059%
Ms. Zhong Ping gYat 50,000 - 50,000 0.002%
Mr. Guo Zi Ning (note i) PRERE (Hratiii)

Notes:

i. The interests in the underlying shares represented share options granted by the
Company to these directors as beneficial owners, the details of which are set out
in the section below headed “"SHARE OPTION SCHEME".

ii. These 1,392,201,062 ordinary shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise
Profits Limited. Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific
Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to
10% by Hopka Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is wholly-owned by Asia
Square Holdings Ltd., as nominee and trustee for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd. as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries
of The Golden Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary family trust
established under the laws and regulations of Singapore. The settlors of The
Golden Jade Trust are Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.
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i % 1,392,201,062 /1% & #8 fig L Ace Rise Profits
Limited . % £ Z4C ° Ace Rise Profits Limited £ Joy
Pacific Group Limited (Sturgeon Limited £ &#% %)
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jii. Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest of
about 5% of the shares of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a
controlled corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no
notice has been filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed
interest in Ace Rise Profits Limited.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives
of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register which were required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the Share Option Scheme, none of the
Directors of the Company or their spouses or children under the age
of 18, had been granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations, or
had exercised any such right for the year ended 31 December 2015.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on 20
September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms. Jiang
Miner, spouse of Mr. Guo Zi Wen, entered into a deed of non-

competition with the Company.

In compliance with the deed of non-competition signed on 20
September 2007, Mr. Guo Zi Wen, Mr. Guo Zi Ning and Ms. Jiang
Miner hereby make an annual declaration on his/her compliance with

the non-competition undertaking.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had an interest in
any business which competes or may compete with the business in

which the Group is engaged.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

The following information is disclosed by the Company pursuant to
Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

On 25 August 2015, the Company as borrower, and Nanyang
Commercial Bank, Limited (“Lenders”) as lenders entered into a
non-committed term loan facility agreement in relation to a term
loan facility of US$100,000,000 (“Loan Agreement”), which includes
a term imposing specific performance obligation on the controlling
shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the

Company shall procure that:

(@)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner (“Guo Family”) will
beneficially own the Company as single majority shareholder
and the Company shall remain at all times under the control of

Guo Family; and

(b)  Mr. Guo Zi Wen will continue to act as the chairman of the board

of directors of the Company.

A breach of any of the said specific performance obligations will
constitute an event of default under the Loan Agreement whereupon,
the Lender will have the power to declare the commitment under
the Loan Agreement to be cancelled and/or declare all outstanding
amounts together with interest accrued and all other sums payable by

the Company to be forthwith due and payable.
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GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors are based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the
Company's affairs and the performance of each Director, together
with reference to the profitability of the Company, remuneration
benchmarks in the industry, and prevailing market conditions. To
enable the Remuneration Committee to give better advice on the
Group’s future remuneration policy and related strategies, the
Remuneration Committee has been advised of the Group’s existing
remuneration policy and succession plan, such as guidelines on
designing employees’ remuneration packages and related market
trends and information.

The details of the Directors’ emoluments and senior management’s
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2015, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following entities, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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Report of the Directors (continued)

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder

REREM

Ace Rise Profits Limited Mote 1) (#:£1)

Joy Pacific Group Limited (Nete 1(#iz1)

J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company
(Singapore) Ltd. (Note 1)(ffiz 1)

Ms. Jiang Miner Mote 7)
ST 58 A+ 1)

Asia Square Holdings Ltd. Mete (1)

Capacity

)

Beneficial owner

BEafEBA

Interest of controlled
corporation

S AT

Trustee
ZEEA

Settlor of

The Golden Jade Trust
The Golden Jade Trust
ZHEETA

Interest of controlled
corporation

SAEHI AR

= ()

RADBRD AR T HEE L

B

Number of shares

B E
1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062

1,392,201,062
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Approximate
percentage of the
issued share capital
HEBITRAE
BRES L

50.01%

50.01%

50.01%

50.01%

50.01%
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Name of shareholder

BEREM

Sturgeon Limited (Mot V0#%:21)

Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman Metes 243

Selwyn Donald Sussman 54 (#i#2%23)

Capital Asset Mangement, Inc

(Note 3)(H1:3)

Trust Asset Management LLP

(Notes 2&3) (ffit 2 % 3)

Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky
{% Re ;‘E%Hﬁg%iwows 2) (Hfit2)

Cathy Capital Holdings, L.P. (Note2)
(Hst2)

Cathy Master GP, Ltd. (More 2(#7:22)

Cathy Sino Property Ltd. Mote 2/(Afiz2)

Hopka Investments Limited

E = E BRI 7| Noten) (1)

Capacity

)

Interest of controlled
corporation

SAEH|I AR

Interest of controlled
corporation/Beneficial owner
ZEHIATS

BB A

Interest of controlled
corporation

SN

Interest of controlled
corporation

B AT

Trustee

XEEA

Interest of controlled
corporation

EEHIA

Interest of controlled
corporation

S

Beneficial owner
ExnEEA
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Number of shares

R EE

1,392,201,062

334,819,563

284,819,563

284,819,563

284,819,563

284,819,563

284,819,563

284,819,563

Approximate
percentage of the
issued share capital
HEBRITRE
BRBED T

50.01%

12.083%

10.23%

10.23%

10.23%

10.23%

10.23%

10.23%
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Report of the Directors (continued)

The 1,392,201,062 shares are registered in the name of Ace Rise Profits Limited.
Ace Rise Profits Limited is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited
(which in turn is wholly-owned by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka
Investments Limited. Sturgeon Limited is wholly-owned by Asia Square Holdings
Ltd., as nominee and trustee for J. Safra Sarasin Trust Company (Singapore) Ltd.
as the trustee holding such interests on trust for the beneficiaries of The Golden
Jade Trust. The Golden Jade Trust is a discretionary family trust established under
the laws and regulations of Singapore. The settlors of The Golden Jade Trust are
Mr. Guo Zi Wen and Ms. Jiang Miner.

Since April 2013, upon completion of a share transfer, Ace Rise Profits Limited
is owned as to 90% by Joy Pacific Group Limited (which in turn is wholly-owned
by Sturgeon Limited) and as to 10% by Hopka Investments Limited, a company
wholly-owned by Ms. Su Chaomei who is the wife of Mr. Guo Zi Ning, a director
of the Company. As a result, Mr. Guo Zi Ning has a deemed effective interest
of about 5% of the Company. Since Ace Rise Profits Limited is not a controlled
corporation of Mr. Guo Zi Ning or Ms. Su Chaomei under the SFO, no notice has
been filed under the SFO by Mr. Guo Zi Ning in respect his deemed interest in Ace
Rise Profits Limited.

The 284,819,563 shares are registered in the name of Cathay Sino Property Ltd.
which is wholly-owned by Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. Cathay Capital Holdings,
L.P. is managed by its general partner, Cathay Master GP, Ltd. which in turn is
owned as to 45% by Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky as trustee and 45% by Trust
Asset Management LLP. Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P., Cathay Master GP Ltd.,
Mr. Paul Steven Wolansky and Trust Asset Management LLP are all deemed to be
interested in the 284,819,563 shares under the SFO.

Capital Asset Management, Inc is the general partner of Trust Asset Management
LLP, which has 45% interest in Cathay Master GP, Ltd., the general partner of
Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P. As Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman is holding 100 %
interest in Capital Asset Management, Inc, Mr. Selwyn Donald Sussman, Capital
Asset Management, Inc. and Trust Asset Management LLP are all deemed to
be interested in the 284,819,563 shares held by Cathay Sino Property Ltd. The
remaining 50,000,000 shares are held by Mr. Sussman as his personal interests.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, according to

the register of interests required to be kept by the Company under

Section 336 of the SFO, there was no person who had any interest

or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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(1) 1,392,201,062 /1% i 17 LA Ace Rise Profits Limited .2
% # & 0 ° Ace Rise Profits Limited /1 Joy Pacific
Group Limited(Sturgeon Limited £ &5 ) R & 515
EHRAE]ZFI#5H90% K 10% ##Ez ¢ [y Sturgeon
Limited Bl B3 Asia Square Holdings Ltd. 2 & # & -
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Trust BIRIKFT IR ERERFRR T2 2K EE
5L o R & HH] - The Golden Jade TrustZ B1E %
TARBIHEXFERTH LT ©

BE-ZF—=ZFMAREEFETKE Ace
Rise Profits Limited /1 Joy Pacific Group Limited
(F Sturgeon Limited = E# B ) R &= REGR A A]
(AL A E BE B £ 2 Al B ar i E L+ 2 B
BZREDDFIFEEI0% K 10% t#Ez o Bt - Z1FE
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2) 284,819,563 % fi% 17 LX Cathay Sino Property Ltd..Z
# % & &+ [fj Cathay Sino Property Ltd. 1 Cathay
Capital Holdings, L.P. 2 & # 7 ° Cathay Capital
Holdings, L.P. A & i## & # A Cathay Master GP,
Ltd. EFE -+ [fjCathay Master GP, Ltd. Bl|f5 R » JEH
HTZ L4 ((EABZFA )R Trust Asset Management
LLP. 73 I HE B 45% R 45% ## 7 - 1R 1% 78 % R B
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3 Capital Asset Management, Inc /& Trust Asset
Management LLP.Z & i & # A + [ Trust Asset
Management LLP#$# Cathay Capital Holdings, L.P.Z
ZEEHN Cathay Master GP, Ltd. 45% Z 17 ° B
R Selwyn Donald Sussman 3£ 4 #¥ & Capital Asset
Management, Inc 100% .2 ## z - Selwyn Donald
Sussman 5t £ + Capital Asset Management, Inc. %
Trust Asset Management LLP 5 # #2 /& i Cathay
Sino Property Ltd. 5.2 284,819,563 Ak 17+ 1 &
##Ezs o HE£50,000,00042 8817 7 Sussman 75 £#5 G 47
BN #7s ©
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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Interests in Any Other Persons

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had not been notified of any
short positions being held by any substantial shareholder in shares or
underlying shares of the Company, which are required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 13 September 2007, the shareholders of the Company approved

the adoption of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”). The
purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/or
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and
attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entity
in which the Group holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity”).
Eligible participants of the Scheme include mainly the directors,
employees, suppliers of goods or services, customers, shareholders,
business partners and professional advisers of the Company or any

Invested Entity.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Scheme is 220,000,000
shares of the Company (representing approximately 10.00% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of listing of shares

of the Company on the Stock Exchange).

The maximum number of shares issuable under the share options to
each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period,
is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time.
Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The exercise period of the
share options granted is determinable by the directors, save that the
period commences on the date of which the offer is made and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the offer of
the share options subject to any provisions of the Scheme determining
the rights of the grantees. The offer of a grant of share option may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited 5 B [5] 3 7 45 3] e A B A 7]

REAEMA LT ERNERS
RZB-BFt-A=1—R  ARTRES
A = BRFN A2 TR SRR 3%
BB RS RIS IEOIE XV 52
336 (A T BF B MAMNKE -

B8 B =
R-ZZBEZLFNA+=0 > KARBIREIER
MEERRERT B ([ 5518l ]) - ZATEIE EE AR
2 8E AANEBFER R A E RIS E sk 225
R/ SEAEBA B EESEEEEBIUK
WE|E AL RAKE A HRENERE RS
([FiEEER])MEBEENANEIR - &5t
EME ER2EE T BEIEAQR IR TR
EERBNES  EB  ERIURBHER ¥
FRE - EBBHREEREM -

RITERIBZAT B T 1% M 2 SR AR s T A]
BEITH & = %D 2K B /& 220,000,000 A A A A
B (FMEARRRIRERO AT ETmEH
BT 2 10.00%) ©

PME(T 12 8 A B - IR Al M & AT
FAERB2RERTHERSBNEEARLQF
PEAIE R B3I TN 2 1% BR © Bi@%R
REER D EMEREIAERRAS LER
RAE - EEAMECKRDBRENITES
HEZITHEHAENR 2 BEEE B RBIL NER
BREBEREZEBRRDMI0FZHGR - LA
BT A BIRETE AR ARER BV fIRIC » PO
BAXNAEHRIBTZRBARER - HHBEK
BHNELRR BIREE A28 AR -



Report of the Directors (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the
offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer and (iii) the nominal value of a share of
the Company.

The Scheme became effective on 13 September 2007 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

Details of movements in the options under the Scheme during the
year and options outstanding as at the beginning and end of the year
are set out below:

= ()

EFAETHERETEE - ERIERO)ARA
AR AR 2 IR A B 2 B X P U T (B ¢ (i)
AARROREZREBHZAABAISAZ
B X TR TIME ¢ R (i) AR RGO EE=
EERZERE °

ZATEIN =

ZELFNAT=ZBER  FRIFEE
HEIERT - B

AR B% BEFH 10 FARFTA R -

et 8l Z BB F AR B BB A RN F 1)
RFERBARITENBEAETIRIT

Number of shares subject to options

BRERERLER

Name or category Granted during ~ Cancelled! lapsed Exercised Asat
of participant Dateof grant ~ Exercise price  Exercies period 1 January 2015 theyear  during the year  during the year 31 December 2015
HKS
RoE-1% R-F-1%
PEEALIER iR {TieE {78 -A-8 ERL M/ 5N FRfE TZA=T-H
AT
Director
&=
Ms. Zhong Ping 15:01-2014 16100 16-10-2015t0 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 - -
Evat 16-12-2015
Employees in aggregate
(including a director of
certain subsidiaries)
[E&A%
(RFETHELANES)
Mr. Chan Ka Yeung Jacky 15:01-2014 16100 16-10-2015t0 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 - -
REfmLE 1612:2015
4,500,000 - 4,500,000 - -
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Report of the Directors (continued)
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, there is sufficient public float of
not less than 25% of the Company'’s issued shares as required under

the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the significant events after the reporting period of the
Group are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. It is the auditors’
responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on their audit,
on those financial statements and to report their opinion solely
to the Company and for no other purpose. They do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of the independent auditors’ report.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire as auditors of the Company
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment at the

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in

the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 97 to 98.

On behalf of the Board
GUO Zi Wen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 7 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.
BE)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA AOYUAN PROPERTY GROUP
LIMITED
I [ 3 5 B £ A R 8 )

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 256,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

T S A% B ol (4D

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor'’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

7 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

%A@ﬁ&ﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%

For the year ended 31 December 20156 #HZ —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—E
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
HiaF AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue e 5 9,572,424 6,976,151
Cost of sales SHERK AR (6,926,148) (4,908,782)
Gross profit EH 2,646,276 2,067,369
Other income, gains and losses  EMUA -~ Uzs M E1E 7 (130,973) 109,622
Change in fair value of HEMENTEE
investment properties 16 356,073 97,610
Share of results of joint ventures  fE{G A SR 27,802 9,161
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary ~ H&—fHEAREE 38 (33,112) -
Selling and distribution expenses $HE &7 ERAX (488,511) (379,292)
Administrative expenses TR (401,710) (390,609)
Finance costs REE R AR 8 (91,451) (65,155)
Profit before tax BRTE A& A 9 1,884,394 1,448,706
Income tax expense FrSfiR 10 (976,901) (665,773)
Profit for the year F A 907,493 782,933
Other comprehensive expense E@iﬁ%ﬁﬁ
Item that maybe reclassified REEFMOEABEERN
to profit or loss IE |
Exchange differences on HEFINETSHY
translating foreign operations (R (2,551) —
Profit and total comprehensive FEBMNREREA
expense for the year 1BRE 904,942 782,933
Profit for the year attributable to: LA N A EREEFEREF) :
— Owners of the Company S UNEIEZEPN 812,160 809,392
— Non-controlling interests — IR S 95,333 (26,459)
907,493 782,933
Profit and total comprehensive LA AT G FE & &
expense for the year ZHEBARE
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company S UNEIEZEPN 810,170 809,392
— Non-controlling interests — IR s 94,772 (26,459)
904,942 782,933
Earnings per share BRREF
Basic (RMB cents) AR (ARED) 13 29.17 29.08
Diluted (RMB cents) wE(ARED) 13 29.17 29.08
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. Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

i T A BIR DR

At 31 December 2015 R-ZFE—x4#F1+=-H=4+—H

2015 2014
—E—HF —E—JO4
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’'000
HiaE AR¥T T ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIZE - BRE REEAE 14 493,882 501,446
Prepaid lease payments TR ERIE 15 15,374 15,809
Investment properties KEME 16 4,504,545 2,727,946
Interests in joint ventures REERERNER 17 216,966 62,978
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 18 75,000 25,000
Deferred tax assets BIEFHIEEE 32 171,134 150,763
Amount due from a joint venture  [EW—R& & ¥FKIE 19 151,989 151,955
5,628,890 3,635,897
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Properties for sale AIESHEYSE 20 31,792,372 24,946,828
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& H M e GR 21 1,752,635 1,849,158
Amounts due from non-controlling F& U Bt A 71 FEHE A%
shareholders of subsidiaries AR R FRIH 22 26,534 21,014
Amounts due from related parties FEWEIE R 7FIE 23 221,992 196,582
Amounts due from joint ventures fEIRA & EFKIA 24 105,320 =
Tax recoverable A E e 263,016 218,612
Prepaid lease payments B ERIE 15 435 435
Restricted bank deposits SR BRI TIF K 25 1,266,632 1,065,000
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 25 7,769,046 4,852,308
43,197,982 33,149,937
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMPERRK 26 5,348,139 3,501,292
Deposits received for sale HEMED KIS
of properties 9,823,411 8,772,081
Amounts due to non-controlling  FE{TB B A FIFEHERL
shareholders of subsidiaries T 27 104,728 197,008
Amount due to a related party (T —RIREE A RIFRIE 28 - 19,098
Amounts due to joint ventures JEfS A EBEERIE 29 1,123,287 57,300
Tax liabilities HIEAE 2,202,224 1,789,987
Bank and other borrowings SRITRE M AR 30 2,570,344 4,464,125
Provisions e 31 1,597,451 1,577,144
22,769,584 20,378,035
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

Ao BB R DL AR (A)

At 31 December 2015 R-FE—x4#+=-H=4+—H

2015 2014
—E-HF —E U
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
HiaF AR¥T T ARET T
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEEFE 20,428,398 12,771,902
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BREERRSEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 26,057,288 16,407,799
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Other payable E At pES /I8 26 300,000 =
Bank and other borrowings SRITRE MK 30 4,802,953 3,776,180
Deferred tax liabilities RIETIRE B 32 454,100 340,545
Senior notes and bonds BAEZBRES 33 8,924,378 3,256,986
14,481,431 7,373,711
NET ASSETS FEE 11,575,857 9,034,088
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR R
Share capital A& 7R 34 26,355 26,355
Reserves &t 8,216,420 7,693,097
Equity attributable to owners VIN/NETEZ 2 =N
of the Company P 8,242,775 7,719,452
Non-controlling interests PRI A 3,333,082 1,314,636
11,575,857 9,034,088

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 256 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7
March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

Guo Zi Wen
X
DIRECTOR
EF

BNFEOEEF 266 A ZHFAMBHREREN =
E-RE-ALBEEESHAERRETIE

YHTIALREREFTERE ¢

Guo Zi Ning
SprEE
DIRECTOR
FE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
b AR S A T

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ—-F—AF+=-H=+—HIFFZ

At 1 January 2014

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year
Appropriation to statutory reserve
Recognition of equity-settled
share-Dased payments
Transfer of share option reserve upon
forfeiture of share options
Exercise of share options
Disposal of partialinterest in a subsidiary
without loss of control
Decrease in non-controling interests
upon deemed disposal of nterest
in a subsidiary (note 38)
Deemed disposal of partial interest
in a subsiciary without s of control
Repayment the register capitalto the
non-controling shareholder of a subsidiary
Dividend recognised as distribution note 12)

At 31 December 2014

Profitfor the year
Exchange differences arising in
translating to presentation currency

Profit and total comprehensive
expense for the year
Appropriation to statutory reserve
Recognition of equity-settled
share-Dased payments
Transfer of share option reserve upon
forfeiture of share options
Acquisition of subsidlaries (note 37)
Deemed disposal of partal interests in
subsidlaries without loss of controlinote 38c)
Derecognisation of non-cantralling interests

RE-ME-R-A
EEgTRcmbseE

REfTHR
EIAREES IR
BERAI
RUERELERR
BEER
feRRE
HE-FHBARNEARER
TRREAE
RALE-FHELR
BCHARES)
(Fas38)
RALE-FHELADNDS
BEMTERALHE
A-FEHEATHERRR
REiAD
DEREIRS (it 1)

WB-ImET-A=1-A

M
REAS 235
fEEHEL 2R

FRENREARALE
BELER

BRI EENED
BERA
RUERELER

EEN

WEHBAR (%)
fatERHEL TN
BAMTEX 51 (W3
RAHEMBATRAL

upon deemed disposal of subsidaries (note 38b) ﬁ§w3ﬁzﬁx4‘éﬁﬁ (iztsep)

Disposal of a subsidiary note 38a)

Dividend recognised as distribution (note 12)

Dividend recognised as distribution from
subsidiary of the Company

Acquisttion of non-controling interests from
non-controling shareholders of subsidiaries

1 -FED (
i ﬁm%%(w
ﬁ%ﬁ$ A-HELT
PRIRE
AHEATHEERRR
WEsHEh R

WE%&

Capital contribution fiom non-controlling interests FHERERE4

At31 December 2015

MB-RFTZAZ1-R

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATERARE

Property  Share Non-

Share  Share Statutory  Special Translation revaluation  option  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reseve  reseve  reseve  reseve profits Total  interests Total

, B ux 428
Bh ROEE feRE  GHEE  BORE  EMHE RRERE  REEA it B it
RMB000  RMB'0O0 RMB'000  RAMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB000 RMB'OO0  RAMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTT ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTT ARMTR

(Noteal ~ (Note ) (Nots ]
Wi?ﬁ/’ %}W (%?6‘)

6347 43m9%3 9274 3K - 3T 197 2360999 7219046 304810 7,523,866
- - - - - - - 809392 8093%2 (6459 782933
- - 57 - = = - b - - -
- - - - - - 954 - 954 - %4
- - - - - - (2068 2068 = = =
8 1485 - = = = (445 = 1,048 = 1,048
= = - 33 = = = - 33 1566 4900
- - - - - - - - - 4697 [46975)
= = - (9164 = = = - (91694 1,091,694 1000000
- - - - - - - - - (100000 (10000
- - - - - - - (68 (2268 - (6
26355 4343438 93499 268,981 - I 308 294405 7719452 1314636 9,034,088
- - - - - - - 812160 812160 95333 907493
- - - - (199 - - - (190) (561)  (2551)
- - - - (199 - - 812160 810170 94TI2 904942
- - 16,065 - - - - (16,065 - - -
- - - - - - kA - b - kA
- - - - - - (709) 109 - - -
- - - - - - - - - 0511 10511
- - - 51% - - - - 5136 1194864 1200000
- - - - - - - - - sy (1284
- - - - - - - - - (13802 (13802)
- - - - - - - (292304)  (292,304) - (92304
- - - - - - - - - [53552)  (B3552)
- - - - - - - - - (9534 (9534
- - - - - - - - - 008 078M
235 4343438 114564 24117 (1990) 37,735 - 3448556 8242775 3,333,082 11575857
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Notes:

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015

The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for the
year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
(based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) in accordance with
the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve cannot be reduced except either
in setting off the accumulated losses or increasing capital.

Special reserve includes (i) revaluation loss of RMB21,210,000 arising from
the acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary during the year ended 31
December 2004, (ii) the difference of RMB378,5651,000 between the aggregate of
the nominal value of share capital and share premium of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation and the nominal value of the share capital
issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition during the year ended
31 December 2007, (iii) revaluation loss of RMB91,694,000 arising from the
deemed disposal of equity interests in Guangzhou Aoyu Real Estate Exploitation
Company Limited (“Guangzhou Aoyu”) without loss of control and revaluation
gain of RMB3,334,000 as a result of the partial disposal of its equity interests in
Beijing North Aoyuan Property Company Limited (“Beijing North”) without loss
of control during the year ended 31 December 2014 and (iv) revaluation gain of
RMB 6,595,000 and revaluation loss of RMB1,459,000 arising from the deemed
disposal of its equity interests in Aoyuan Group (Yingde) Co Ltd. (“Aoyuan Group
(Yingde)"”) and Chongging Jinao Property Company Limited (“Chongging Jinao”),
previously 100% owned subsidiaries by the Company, respectively, without loss
of control during the year ended 31 December 2015. It represents the difference
between the adjustment to the non-controlling interests in subsidiaries and the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Group as consideration received.
Details are disclosed in note 38(c).

During the year ended 31 December 2007, revaluation surplus arising from
transfer of owner-occupied properties to investment properties at the date of
change in use amounted to RMB37,735,000 net of related deferred tax liability of
RMB37,735,000 was credited to property revaluation reserve.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A BlaeiiiiR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

2015 2014
—2-1f —ZmF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HaF ARETR ARET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Profit before tax BRAEATE R 1,884,394 1,448,706
Adjustments for: BTG
Change in fair value of investment properties REMENTEE (356,073) (97,610)
Finance costs RERKA 91,451 65,155
Share of results of joint ventures ELAE¥EEE (27,802) (9,161)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HNBARER 33,112 =
Share-based payments MR BERE A 321 954
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - WERRETE 34,329 25,351
Write-down of properties for sale A E YRR - 309
Release of prepaid lease payments BN ETHED 435 435
Bank interest income BRI EHA (71,739) (59,758)
Other interest income HenF SUA (29,260) (8,130)
Dividend income from available-for-sale AHNEREN
investments REWA (2,500) (2,000)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HENE  BE
plant and equipment R (W) BiE (6,870) 1,140
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (gain) RIERINEEE (Ynzs) 277,509 (2,838)
Operating cash flows before movements in EEESRIFIMLE
working capital Beng 1,827,307 1,362,553
Increase in properties for sale A E ML (4,908,334 (5,187,996)
Decrease in deposits paid for acquisition Wi REE TR
of land use rights - 1,063,890
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables B 5 & R (3E10) 54,195 (896,386)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R EAM BRI 206,983 1,040,360
Increase in deposits received for sale of properties  $5&EWEDUET LA 1,477,538 2,550,279
Cash used in operations KEmARE (1,342,311) (67,300)
Income taxes paid BRFEH (479,806) (472,838)
Interest paid BRFIE (1,201,282) (1,105,121)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES LEEB AR S FE (3,023,399) (1,645,259
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Payments for investment properties REMENR (848,738) (210,937)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash ~ WKEEMIB AR (MR FIRER S
equivalents acquired) KREEEY) 37 234,483 (10,404)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME  BELREE (35,844) (113,001)
Purchases of prepaid lease payment BEBNMEENT - (766)
Advance to non-controlling shareholders B A TR R B
of subsidiaries (5,520) (152,658)
Advance to related parties REEEARRT (47,928) (49,662)
Repayment from joint ventures BELEER 103,382 -
Increase in restricted bank deposits RIR BRI I N (201,632) (824,500)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENE - BEREENETE
plant and equipment 17,123 -
Disposal of a subsidiary (net of cash HE—RME AR (MRATLER
and cash equivalents disposed of) S RFALZEY) 38a (1) =
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

AR Bl iR AR (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

2015 2014
—2-1f —Z-mF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HaF ARETR ARET T
Repayment the register capital mIEERRRERTHER
to non-controlling shareholder - (10,000)
Interest received BIFIE 79,620 64,024
Dividend received from AEHEREMRSKA
available-for-sale investments 2,500 2,000
Deemed disposal of partial interests BREHENBARNDH R
in subsidiaries resulting in loss of controls (BBUR AR 38b (171,690) (122,152)
Investment in available-for-sale investments RAMHHERE (50,000) =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEEFMARSFE (924,255) (1,428,056)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
New bank and other borrowings raised FTEIRIT R E AT 6,005,610 6,163,983
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BRFTRAMER (6,318,418) (5,140,229)
Proceeds received from senior notes and bonds,  BAZREHEFEE -
net of issue expenses MRBETRY 5,929,955 1,769,247
Redemption of senior notes BOBEERE (768,350) =
(Repayment to) advance from non- (BHT)2IBRBARR
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries R R (38,531) 11,822
Repayment to a related party BRT-H@EAR - (48,903)
Advance from (repayment to) joint ventures 2B (BRT)aELE 977,895 (105,700)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company MAAREE MRS (292,304) (222,628)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling shareholder mARE AR —%
of a subsidiary of the Company IR RIS (53,552) -
Proceeds from disposal of partial interest in a HE—HBARSDH R
subsidiary without loss of control (MR AR GIE) FrS300R - 4,900
Proceeds from deemed disposal of partial interests 4 A EHBARSH
in subsidiaries without loss of controls (WK K GHE) iS58 38¢ 1,200,000 1,000,000
Acquisition of non-controlling interests from 1m0 P /8 2 R B FE R AR AR R M B
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries IS (9,534) -
Proceeds from the issue of shares TR TR
upon exercise of share options FifS50E - 1,048
Contribution from non-controlling shareholders JEERR R LA 171,021 -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEHAERLFE 6,803,792 3,433,540
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND Re LR S SEYEMFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,856,138 360,225
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXEEE
RATE CHANGES 60,600 21,018
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RENRRE KRS ZEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,852,308 4,471,065
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RELMRE RRSEEY -
THE END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BlRITESR KT S
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 7,769,046 4,852,308
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- Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
S B S R b R

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

General

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The addresses of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details
of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
45,

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

Adoption of New and Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following new and revised IFRSs
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the
“IASB") for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle and
2011-2013 Cycle

The application of above the new or revised IFRSs in the
current year has had no material effect on the Group's financial
performance and position for the current and prior years and/or
disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

Adoption of New and Revised International

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —=F

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)

(continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

IFRS 9

IFRS 14

IFRS 15

IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 11

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to
IAS 16 and IAS 38

Amendments to IFRSs

Amendments to
IAS 16 and IAS 41

Amendments to |AS 27

Financial Instruments’

Regulatory Deferral Accounts?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’
Leases®

Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in Joint
Operations*

Disclosure Initiative*

Clarification of Acceptable

Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation*

Annual Improvements to
IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle*

Agriculture: Bearer Plants*

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements*
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. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

2. Adoption of New and Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and IAS 28 Assets between and
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Investment Entities: Applying
IFRS 10, IFRS 12 the Consolidation
and IAS 28 Exception?
Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative®
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets

for Unrealised Losses®

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for first annual IFRS financial statements beginning on or after 1
January 2016

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

ks Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

© Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 issued in November 2009 introduced new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
IFRS 9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and in November 2013
to include the new requirements for general hedge accounting.
Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014
mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial
assets and b) limited amendments to the classification and
measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair value through
other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measurement
category for certain simple debt instruments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Adoption of New and Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Key requirements of IFRS 9:

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of IAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or
fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held
within a business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,
and that have contractual terms of the financial asset give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding,
ate measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at their fair value at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under
IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an entity investment
(that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires
that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless
the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create risk
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS
39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the
financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is
presented in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Adoption of New and Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 required
an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred
credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model
required an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the
three types of hedge accounting mechanisms currently available
in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been introduced
to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting,
specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for
hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-
financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition,
the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced
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with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective JTNEZE B e R EERE G o AR
assessment of the hedge effectiveness is also no longer JRE| NS TR T IR G 28R i R
required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity's FHTE °

risk management activities have also been introduced.

The management of the Company anticipate that the application
of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material impact on amount
reported in respect of the Group'’s financial assets and financial
liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until the group undertakes a
detailed review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 20156 #HZ —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

Adoption of New and Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 “Revenue’ IAS
1 “Construction Contracts” and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective. The core principle of IFRS 15 is
that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for goods or services. Specifically, the
standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: ldentify the contract(s) with customer

Step 2:  ldentify the performance obligation in the contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 56:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a

performance obligation

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive
guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
IFRS 15.

The management of the Company anticipates that the
application of IFRS 15 in the future may affect the amounts
reported and related disclosures. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until
the Group performs a detailed review.
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Adoption of New and Revised International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(continued)

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(continued)

Except those mentioned above, the management of the
Company anticipate that the application of other new and
revised IFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the SEHK (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“CQO").

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 622) regarding preparation of accounts and directors’
reports and audits became effective for the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding annual
accounts have been amended with reference to the new CO
and to streamline with IFRSs. Accordingly, the presentation
and disclosure of information in the consolidated financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015
have been changed to comply with these new requirements.
Comparative information in respect of the financial year
ended 31 December 2014 are presented or disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements based on the new
requirements. Information previously required to be disclosed
under the predecessor CO or Listing Rules but not under the
new CO or amended Listing Rules are not disclosed in these
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain properties that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in
use in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date of the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]

3.

EEFTBCR ()
PR E B R BORBFIIT
REEE

BAPBERREEARARZAANT K
HEWNBATHES 2 B 2 EHREK - &
NAEETHIBERT - BNEHEEIEHRE

o HAREZRIBIRETR

. E%Eﬂ%ﬂi&éﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ—ﬁ%
WAERBRKEFERN

o  BRENUNEBNTZEHMDR -

WA FERBERER LD =R IR F
frzE s *Iﬁiylﬁﬁ“ AEEEE
e E RS ERIEIRETT

EAEEREMBAR 2 EHE - EH
ZMBRRSEE AR EAKREKREN
NGl R AN A = PN
mEARK - ABME  FAKBRIHE
ZHMBRRZWA R H R A EBE
SEtIEE R AGEEEREME
mEER  BEEASEHZMBARZ
ZHERLEERRL -

BamkEMEARAZIEB JIAAQ A%
BAREZERES DG - HBARZE
WARRE TN QR A A R IR =
D - B BB RS E A B A A
ﬁ;ﬁo



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specific/permitted by applicable
IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes
and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangement of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting
policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that Standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 20156 #HZ —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination.
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that
qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments made
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained

3.
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during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one BINERIEEZHE -
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances

that existed at the acquisition date.

Investments in joint ventures NEEPETZRE

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint venture used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost (including acquisition related-cost) and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the joint venture. When the Group’s
share of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest
in that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
iS necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to
the Group’s investment in a joint venture. WWhen necessary, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with
its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with |IAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be a joint venture, or
when the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held
for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with IAS 39. The difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that joint venture on the same basis as
would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain
or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in a joint
venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 20156 #HZ —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investments in joint ventures (continued)

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the jointly
controlled entity are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the jointly
controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Specifically, revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when the respective
properties have been completed and delivered to the buyers.
Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under current
liabilities.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group's accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
(classified as finance lease) and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than properties under construction) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the profit or loss.

Buildings under development for future owner occupied
purpose

When buildings are in the course of development for
production, or for administrative purposes, the amortisation of
prepaid lease payments provided during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

3.
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Leasehold land and building HE L HREF
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the EHABRETMEEFTTERN  NEEH
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance BEFGEEEEEHTEMEEMNTHE

or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as
to whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group,
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of
the lease at the inception of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Leasehold land and building (continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building elements,
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties and/or land held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including properties under
construction for such purpose).

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Properties for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for
sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes the cost of land, development expenditure, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy, and other attributable expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Properties for sale (continued)

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
properties for sale less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale to
investment property when there is a change of intention to
hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation
rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business, which
is evidenced by the commencement of an operating lease to
another party. Any difference between the fair value of the
property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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‘ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESTBEE)
Financial instruments (continued) £RMIE (&)
Financial assets THEE

The Group's financial assets are classified into (i) available-for-
sale ("AFS") financial assets and (ii) loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Available-forsale ("AFS”) financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b)
held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as AFS financial assets and are traded in an active market are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Changes in the carrying amount of AFS monetary financial
assets relating to interest income calculated using the effective
interest method and dividends on AFS equity investments
are recognised in profit or loss. Other changes in the carrying
amount of AFS financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading
of investments revaluation reserve. When the investment is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see the accounting policy
in respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).

Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit
or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is
established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale (AFS”) financial assets (continued)

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such unquoted equity investments, they are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the
end of the reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect
of impairment of financial assets below).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including trade and other receivables, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, amounts due from
related parties, amounts due from joint ventures, restricted
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment
of financial assets below).

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESTBER(E)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the
end of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to
be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial assets, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

For AFS equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to
be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain of financial assets, such as trade receivables, that
are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period of 60 days, as well as observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be
reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against the allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When an AFS financial asset is considered to be impaired,
cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
trade and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, amount due to a related party,
amounts due to joint ventures and other payable (non-current)
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Senior notes

Senior notes/corporate bonds issued by the Company/a
subsidiary of the Company that contain both liability and early
redemption option/put option (which is not closely related to the
host contract) are classified separately into respective items on
initial recognition. At the date of issue, both the liability and early
redemption option/put option components are recognised at fair
value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the senior
notes/corporate bonds is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The early redemption option is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Senior notes (continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior notes
are allocated to the liability and early redemption option/put
option components in proportion to their relative fair values.
Transaction costs relating to the early redemption option/put
option are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the
carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised over the
period of the senior notes/corporate bonds using the effective
interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a
debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and not
designated at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of:

(i) the amount of the obligation under the contract, as
determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the revenue recognition policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement and recognises an
associated liability. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the
loan based on prevailing market interest rates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).

Provisions for land acquired are based on estimates of required
expenditure on the properties. The Group estimates its liabilities
for land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the
amount and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform
the required work, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions for land acquired are added to the cost of properties
for sale in the period in which the obligation is identified.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

° exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in
order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the
accounting policies below); and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into presentation currency (i.e. RMB)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates
or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interest
in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the presumption
is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for
such investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles set out in IAS 12 (i.e. based on the
expected manner as to how the properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 3. FESTBER(E)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Share-based payment arrangements

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon satisfying
specified vesting conditions, the fair value of services received
is determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred
to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the management of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale are stated at the lower of the cost and net
realisable value. Cost of each unit in each phase of development
is determined using the weighted average cost method. The
net realisable value is the estimated selling price less estimated
selling expenses and estimated cost of completion (if any),
which are estimated based on best available information. \Where
there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from
any changes to the property market conditions in the PRC, there
may be written down on the properties under development for
sale and completed properties for sale.
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale
(continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of properties
under development and completed properties for sale
amounted to approximately RMB31,792,372,000, net of
write-down of RMB13,433,000 (2014: carrying amount of
RMB24,946,828,000, net of write-down of RMB54,474,000).

Impairment of hotel assets included in property, plant and
equipment

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
are reviewed annually and adjusted for impairment in
accordance with IAS 36 whenever certain events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amount of the assets is the higher
of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing fair
value less costs to sell, a combination of the market approach
and depreciated replacement cost approach was adopted in
assessing the land portion and the buildings structures of the
hotel, respectively, taking into account of discount for vacancy
and cost to sell the hotel property. Details of the recoverable
amount calculation for property, plant and equipment are
disclosed in note 14.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT?”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. However, the
implementation and settlement of the tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain
projects of the Group have not finalised their land appreciation
tax calculations and payments with any local tax authorities
in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgment is required in
determining the amount of land appreciation and its related
income tax provisions. The Group recognised the LAT tax based
on management’s best estimates. The final tax outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
these differences will impact the income tax expense and the
related income tax provisions in the periods in which such tax is
finalised with local tax authorities.

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2015, a deferred tax asset of
RMB140,814,000 (2014: RMB141,964,000) in relation to
unused tax losses has been recognised in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position. No deferred
tax asset has been recognised on the tax losses of
RMB504,181,000 (2014: RMB413,348,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the actual future profits generated are
less than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax assets
may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal takes place.

CEIROLEECSE 3:0E -2

(&)

A THBEENEERR (&)

T EER ([ LB EH )

AEBEAFMHTEZ L WBER - R
i - R BB T Y T R R R RO AR IR
BUERXNEMEZER  MASENET
T8 B 1N B2 AP B RO 3 5 B A BE P AR AR B
ELEER CAERIM - Bt - B
BrttRECERERBRAEHER
RAFHERHE - AKREENEEE
ZREMFER L IRER - RAROH
BERKETRRIAIIR 2 EE - M
ZEEZRGTEE M T BISE P E %
ERAZHMEARNZAEHRFA LB BA
SEiRE

Ptz

R_ZE—FF+-_A=+—H A%
AT IEEE A R 140,814,0007T (=
Z—OF . AR¥ 141,964,000 7T ) HYE
EHIBEEDNASBERS M BARR K
MR o B PR 2R A 2ROR 9 71 A] 788l
M N0 BER IE 548 A R 6 504,181,000
TL(ZZF—F « AR 413,348,000 T)
HRELEHIBEEE - ELEHIBEENE
RENEZERRAREERE BBHR
s M S FE R TR =58 © AFTE £ &Y
BERAR R AERTEE - AlgEEERT
RIBEEMEARE  WREEZER
Bl BRI R 18 2 TR o
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Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair
value for financial reporting purposes. The board of directors
of the Company has set up a property valuation team, which
is headed up by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for
fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an investment property, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified property valuers to perform the valuation.
The property valuation team works closely with the qualified
external property valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial Officer
reports the property valuation team’s findings to the board of
directors of the Company half a year to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

The Group uses valuation technigues that include inputs that are
not based on observable market data to estimate the fair value
of investment properties. Note 16 provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Provision for land acquired

The provision for land acquired has been determined by
the executive directors based on their best estimates. The
executive directors of the Company estimated this liability for
land acquired based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of future cash flows spending on the properties
development, escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability,
such that the provision reflects the present value of the costs
expected to be required to settle the obligation. However, in
so far as the effect on the land and properties development
becomes apparent in future periods, the estimate of the
associated costs may be subject to change in the near future.
The provision is reviewed regularly such that it properly reflects
the present value of the obligation arising from the current and
past properties development. The movement of provisions for
land acquired during the year is set out in note 31.

Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
and property investment in the PRC. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue for the year is as follows:

CEIROLEECSE 3:0E -2

(&)

A THBEENEERR (&)

WRIE L 11

WG HRTEFREELRE
BETEE - MITESRBEMERBZR
KReREFXSERKEZFAAE
A BBRER  BERRBREERE
BZRTMEHERBEFERARZE
BRI ERERRBHABTE
ERXZRE  KEmEstZEEL
BE- A RERBLMRYERE
ZRHEBNRARRAFESRARE - RIABEK
AR fE 5 IR Al BE B DA SR - B
we TSR NEERRERLBEE
MERBMELREZRE - FRKRE
THBHEEESFIINMEES

AEBEETERNFTEREDEEREDE
REXK - ARERNFANEXRE LN
LI

2015 2014

—E-1F —T-MmF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Sales of properties HEME 9,294,506 6,802,952
Rental Income HE WA 68,800 70,822
Hotel, consulting and management income JE/E - BRI K& EIERA 209,118 102,377
9,572,424 6,976,151
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Segment Information

Information regularly reported to the Group's chief executive
officer (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses
on the type of operation. The Group’s reportable and operating
segments under IFRS 8 are as follows:

Property development — development and sale of properties

Property investment - lease of investment properties

Others — hotel operation, provision of
consulting and management services

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

7 EBE

ROEEBERMEREEMEAAKET
B (TELERRE) EMRENE
HEINEBEL - REERZEBERE
B ELERE 8 FRA Al M EH H
T

WMERRE — BRREEEDE

MERE — HEREWME
Hitp — KRR RHUERRE
AR

UTRARBRAHEREES B8
SEES I ES B

Year ended 31 December 2015

BE—Z—HF+-A=+—HLEE
Property Property
development investment Others Total
MERE MERE Hitr @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AR¥ETR ARETR ARET R
External segment revenue IMEDBEEE 9,294,506 68,800 209,118 9,572,424
Segment profit (loss) PEEH (BE) 1,828,007 399,539 (46,375) 2,181,171
Other income, gains and losses HibA - kB8 (130,973
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HNBARERE (33,112)
Unallocated corporate expenses AABAFRT (69,043)
Finance costs MEMA (91,451)
Share of results of joint ventures [ElEaaFEEE 27,802
Profit before tax BRAEATE R 1,884,394
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

6. Segment Information (continued) 6.

7 EPE R ()

Year ended 31 December 2014
BE_Z-—NF+_A=1+—HILFE

Property Property
development investment Others Total
MEER MERE HAt st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTT
External segment revenue IMED B E X 6,802,952 70,822 102,377 6,976,151
Segment profit (l0ss) A EbRT (BE) 1,375,134 143,909 (59,932) 1,459,111
Other income, gains and losses HieA - s R E51E 109,622
Unallocated corporate expenses AABRLERT (64,033)
Finance costs MEMA (65,155)
Share of results of joint ventures [ElEaarFEEE 9,161
Profit before tax BRAEATE R 1,448,706

Note: there is no inter-segment revenue in both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
generated or loss incurred by each segment without allocation
of central administration costs including directors’ salaries,
head office operating expenses, bank interests and other
income, exchange gain (loss), finance costs, share of results of
joint ventures and loss on disposal of a subsidiary. This is the
measure reported to the Group's chief executive officer for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Mist - MEBREDMEEER -

A ¥RE M EE D BB S At R B M S 3 P
MARENE A BRMAR - 5 FFAE
ENEMELBNKER  AARDES
RITHERAN (BREFH T - AIEEH
3 RITM B R EMUA ~ s (&
/) BMEKAK  EHAELEFRENK
E—FHMBEARERE) - IHIRIELER
DERFEFET R AEETRAAER
LN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

6. Segment Information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

2 ERE R (4F)

AT RANEE LA HE M ED RS

by reportable and operating segments: MEENBEIN
Segment assets TEEE
2015 2014
—E-HF —T—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETIT
Property development LI 33,723,104 27061,540
Property investment MELE 4,535,064 2,763,029
Others HA 366,800 249,152
Total segment assets DEVEELE 38,624,968 30,073,721
Unallocated assets: ROBLEE
AFS investments A HERE 75,000 25,000
Interests in joint ventures RE B R 216,966 62,978
Amounts due from joint ventures Y —EEEDERIR 257,309 151,955
Deferred tax assets EETIHEE 171,134 150,763
Tax recoverable Al EIRE & 263,016 218,612
Restricted bank deposits Z IR BRI TER 1,266,632 1,065,000
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRE 7,769,046 4,852,308
Others EA 182,801 185,497
Consolidated assets REBE 48,826,872 36,785,834
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Segment Information (continued) 6. DIER(E)
Segment liabilities DEEE
2015 2014
—B-AF —E—mE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Property development LI 16,945,364 13,967,650
Property investment MELE 60,147 34,513
Others HAh 164,368 60,834
Total segment liabilities DB ERRE 17,169,879 14,062,997
Unallocated liabilities: AOBLBE
Bank and other borrowings #RIT R EA AR 7,373,297 8,240,305
Senior notes and bonds BEEBRES 8,924,378 3,256,986
Amounts due to joint ventures BN &S DERIA 1,123,287 57300
Tax liabilities TRIEEE 2,202,224 1,789,987
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEAE 454,100 340,545
Others EAth 3,850 3,626
Consolidated liabilities e AatE 37,251,015 27.751,746

For the purposes monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources among segments:

° all assets are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than interests in joint ventures, amounts
due from joint ventures, AFS investments, deferred tax
assets, tax recoverable, restricted bank deposits, bank
balances and cash and other assets not attributable to
respective segment.

o all liabilities are allocated to reportable and operating
segments other than bank and other borrowings, senior
notes and bonds, amounts due to joint ventures, tax
liabilities, deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities not
attributable to respective segment.

EEERENR R RE NEE
DEE - MEALIEBE D EBRIEONRE
BhXNED  BREZLLERK
HAIHHEERE  BEEREE
E-AkAERE  XRHETEF
R RITERERSUREMEE
BRSO

PIARBERENRERRENEE
DEE - MEWLIEBE D EEIEEN
IR - SRITREMER - BERE
RiE%  BRNEEREFR - HA
BfE - EERBABREMAER
I @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. DEHER(E)
Other information HiER
Year ended 31 December 2015
BE-Z-RET-A=+-HLEE
Property Property
development investment Others Unallocated Total
NERE  NERE Hf AR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARMTR AR%Tr ARETR AR%Tx
Amounts included in the measure of ERGEA BT EEL
segment profit or loss or segment assets: PHEERGTARE
Additions of property, plant and equipment % - BEREEAE 15,240 - 19,470 1,134 35,844
Additions of investment properties RENFRE - 848,738 - - 848,738
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment % - BEREENE 14,681 - 12,808 6,840 34,329
Release of prepaid lease payments BNRENTEE 435 - - - 435
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, LENE  BER
plant and equipment R EEE (k) 695 - (7565) - (6,870)
Change in fair value of investment properties REMEATES - 356,073 - - 356,073
Year ended 31 December 2014
BEZZ-MET-A=T-RILEE
Property Property
development  investment Others  Unallocated Total
NEER NERE it RAE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
Amounts included in the measure of ERGENF R FEE
segment profit or oss or segment assets: PHEERT AR -
Additions of property, plant and equipment 0¥ - BERIEAE 104,919 - 7240 842 113,001
Additions of investment properties RENZAE - 210,937 - - 210,937
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W% BERRENE 8,991 - 8918 7442 25,351
Release of prepaid lease payments BARENTAE 435 = - - 435
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  £E¥E « BE LR ESE 871 - 269 - 1,140
Change in fair value of investment properties RENMFATES - 97610 - - 97610
Write-down on properties for sale AT SRR 309 - - - 309
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Segment Information (continued) 6.

Other information (continued)

Geographical information

The Group's operation and location of non-current substantially
are in the PRC.

Information about major customers
There is no individual customer who contributed over 10%

of the total revenue of the Group during the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

2EER (&)
HEH (&)

AEBEREXRELERDEEMIM TR
IR E o

BEHEEEFHEH
RBE_T-—AFR-_FT-—WF+_-A

—_=
=t+—HItFE  #MEEARZEAEAR
SEMREEREERB10% °

Other Income, Gains and Losses 7. HiWA - WEREE
2015 2014
—B-HF —F—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Other income, gains and HaA ~ W RSB eE

losses comprises of:

Exchange (loss) gain b (E18) e

Bank interest income HRITHLEMA
Dividend income from AFS investments Al ERERBUA
Other interest income H A SHA

Others (note) Hpth (%)

Note: Others mainly represent the government subsidy received.

(277,509) 2,838
71,739 59,758
2,500 2,000
29,260 8,130
43,037 36,896
(130,973) 109,622
BRE - EfbEZIEC BT HREES -
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. Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
ERE A B R M RE (5])

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

8. Finance Costs 8. EMEMAK
2015 2014
—EB-RF —F0mF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARETTT

Interest on: AT EIEEAE
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R EME R
— wholly repayable within five years —BRAFTAEHEE 637578 850,010
— not wholly repayable within five years —HBERAFAZEEE 2,192 3,728
Senior notes and bonds (note 33) BEZEBRRES (HFE33) 753,432 402,186
Amounts due to non-controlling FE BT B A R FEIE AR AR BR IR
shareholders of subsidiaries (note 27) (fF3E27) - 19,866
Total borrowing costs BB AR R 1,393,202 1,275,790
Less: amounts capitalised to properties W BRI HEELE
under development for sale MEBEMMEEEE (1,301,751) (1,210,635)
91,451 65,155
Interest capitalised arose on the general borrowing pool of BB TR ANEBH— MR E N 4E%E
the Group was calculated by applying a capitalisation rate of MEL  BEKREENRIWMERNE
approximately 9.03% (2014: 10.01%) per annum to expenditure RAFF9.03% (ZF—MF : 10.01%)
on the qualifying assets. FTHE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Profit before Tax

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

9. BRBIATEF

2015 2014
—_E—HF —E—E
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Profit before tax has been arrived BB A= A TR HIBR (RHA)
at after charging (crediting): AR B IRRZE
Auditors’ remuneration ZE BN S 3,990 3,800
Directors’ emoluments =60 11,557 11,679
Staff salaries BET%& 358,662 297828
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R FET 24 3% 18,500 13,811
Total staff costs B TR A4 388,719 323,318
Less: amounts capitalised to properties B - ERL A LS EREME
under development for sale =N 0kl (72,830) (58,082)
315,889 265,236
Release of prepaid lease payments TREHEENREE 435 435
Depreciation of property, M - BB RERETTE
plant and equipment 34,329 25,351
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEWE -« KRB RE&E (k) BE
plant and equipment (6,870) 1,140
Rental expenses in respect of rented BEELHAEEHEEFHESAS
premises under operating leases 8,233 8,869
Gross rental income in respect BT EYERBENBHES A
of investment properties (68,800) (70,822)
Less: direct operating expenses B R EAEEESKAR
from investment properties KREYENEEZELERT
that generated rental income
during the year 19,700 21,181
(49,100) (49,641)
Write-down on properties for sale A E Y SEMOR - 309
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

10. FREHBX

10. Income Tax Expense

2015 2014
—E-1F —T—MmF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT

Income tax expense recognised comprises of: B MERFTSHF X B1E :

Current tax: BNEATIE

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") REEPTISHL ([REEFEH) 506,286 386,200
LAT T HEIEETR 371,800 304,956
878,086 691,156
Deferred tax (note 32) EIERIAE (FI5E32) 98,815 (25,383)
Income tax expense for the year FAMBEHRY 976,901 665,773

Under the Law of the People’'s Republic of China on EIT (the
“EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

Under the Provisional Regulations of the People’s Republic
of China on LAT (the “LAT Provisional Regulations”) and
Implementation Regulation of the LAT Provisional Regulations,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is levied at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures including cost of land use rights and all property
development expenditures.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group’s income
neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

10. Income Tax Expense (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

10.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the

profit before tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

Frigwipa > (&)

FANMEHAXREGEREREMLE
W R AR ADE NS AR T

2015 2014
—B-HF —ZE—mE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREETTT
Profit before tax R Al g A 1,884,394 1,448,706
Tax charge at domestic tax rate of 25% AR R 25% T E R FIEST B 471,099 362,176
Tax effect of share of results EhE B EEENTRIBT 2
of joint ventures (6,951) (2,291)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PRI 2 RIS 2
for tax purpose 175,855 49,181
Tax effect of income that are not taxable — HBZERFLURA BIF 7 577 £
for tax purpose (201) (1,384)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTHIEE BT EZ 2 34,589 16,472
Utilisation of tax losses previously )R SC R AR R B I S8
not recognised (9,465) -
LAT provision T IR E R B 371,800 304,956
Tax effect of LAT THPIREB T S 2 (92,950) (76,239)
Deferred tax effect of LAT on revaluation — EfHIE YR T HUIEET A
of investment properties RET T2 33,660 12,902
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiaries ~ FEE b AR RIS & Z K
operating in other jurisdictions MEARIERTRAKRERNTZE (535) —
Income tax expense for the year FRFSRAY 976,901 665,773
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ—-F—AF+=-H=+—HIFFZ

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’

Remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,

disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and

Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

11. EE - FETBRAERESH

3

FREENTETHRABNHM(KRE
FEMARA R A REPIHRE) AT

Salaries and Incentive  Share-based
Fees allowances bonus payments Total
(note) NRGA
e HeRR RETA =GRS ait
(Bat)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTR
Year ended 31 December 2015 BE-2-TET-A=t-HLEE
Executive director: HTES:
Guo ZiWen X - 229 300 - 2592
Guo ZiNing Pz - 2,134 400 - 2,534
Yang Zhong R - 1976 395 - 2,371
Zhong Ping &Y - 1,178 400 142 2,320
Ma Jun HE
(appointed on 28 August 2015) (R=E2-REN\E=1)\REZ() - 833 200 - 1,033
Non-executive director: FEES
Paul S. Wolansky (RE o BRIGE - 31 - - 31
(resigned on 28 August 2015) (M=Z-RENAZTN\BE)
Independent non-executive director:  BUFEHTES :
Tsui King Fai RRE 261 - - - 261
Cheung Kwok Keung RE 257 - - - 257
Hu Jiang i 158 - - - 158
676 9,044 1,695 142 11,557
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ 11. 8% - FETHAERESM

Remuneration (continued) € (&)
Salaries and Incentive Share-based
Fees allowances bonus payments Total
[note) SABRAD B
ik GeREl R AR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2014 BE_Z-WFT-A=T-BLEE
Executive director: HES:
Guo Zi Wen PR - 2,84 270 - 2,654
Guo ZiNing Pz - 2126 370 - 2,496
Xin Zhu i
[resigned on 30 June 2014) (R=B—MEA=THEHE) - 1,026 - - 1,026
Yang Zhong A - 1,969 460 - 2,429
Zhong Ping 40
(appointed on 30 June 2014) (M=E-mE A=THEZE) - 1772 258 424 2,454
Non-executive director; FHES:
Paul S. Wolansky (RE o ERHE - 47 - - 47

Independent non-executive drector:  BUFFETES :

Song Xian Zhong REfeh
[resigned on 28 February 2014) (R=E2-mE-R-+N\BEHT) 26 - - - 2
Tsui King Fai e 260 - = - 260
Cheung Kwok Keung REH 256 - - - 256
Hu Jiang L
(appointed on 28 February 2014) (R=E-mE-R=+)\REEF) 131 - - - 131
673 9,224 1,368 44 11,679
Note: The incentive bonus is determined as a percentage of the contract sales of Mzt BEEARBASEREE_T—RAF+=
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. A=+—BLEFERBZE-T—NF+_A
=+—BIFEERBEESERDLLERE °
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly ERATHTESTM N EERHEER
for their services in connection with the management of the ARARRAEEEE 2 HBERE M T ©

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown ERARBIIENTEETTFHN D EE S
above were mainly for their services as directors of the BEEAARRAESMMRRREmITT -
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’ 11. 8% - FETHAERESM

Remuneration (continued) & (])
Mr. Guo Zi Ning is also the Chief Executive of the Company and SPREELEINABARRNBTHAER  ER
his remuneration disclosed above includes those for services ERAAMEETNEEEERITIAER
rendered by him as the Chief Executive. FriR AR 7% 2 #E A S B o
No directors waive any emolument in the current year or the REAFERE—FE MESEEHNEL
prior year. fA] B o
Employees’ emoluments EEME
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the REBREHZSHFMALTH r mME (=22
Group, four (2014: three) were executive directors and the Chief —F: =) BARRHTESE MRS
Executive of the Company whose emoluments are included THAE  BEOMEEHRIA LA
in the disclosures in this note above. The emoluments of the FEH e Hp—F(ZE—MNFE: WZ) A
remaining one (2014: two) individual was as follows: THIB 2T ¢
2015 2014
—E-hF —ZE—mE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Salaries and allowances e &2 3,678 6,530
The emoluments were within the following bands: MR T ¢
2015 2014
—E-HF —T e
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEEH EE#E
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T = 3,500,000 77T
(equivalent to RMB2,367,001 (FBER AR 2,367,001 L=
to RMB2,761,000) AE#2,761,0007T) - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T = 4,500,000 77T
(equivalent to RMB3,351,001 (FEER AR 3,351,001 L=
to RMB3,770,000) AFE# 3,770,000 7T) 1 -
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 77T 2 5,500,000 87T
(equivalent to RMB3,945,001 (FEER AR 3,945,001 ;=
to RMB4,339,000) AR®4,339,0007T) - 1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

11. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and Employees’

Remuneration (continued)

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group to any
of the directors or the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

B TETBABRESMH

% (&)

FA - NEEYESEABE TER
EXRRERSFMAL (BREZRE
B)ERIMARIR IMAREERH ERE 3L
BERKESROFEIE -

12. Dividends 12. RE
2015 2014
—E-hF —ZT U4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBTT

BE - ERARFADIK :

Dividends, recognised as distribution
during the year:

2014 final - RMB8.7 cents (2014: 2013 —E-NFERA-BRARKSTH
final dividend RMB8.0 cents) per share (ZE—NF: —F—=F
REPREARKEB.09) 242,195 222,628
2015 special dividend - RMB1.8 cents —E-RFHRIRE-FR
—T—JUF : ) 50,109 —

(2014: nil) per share AR¥ 185 (=
292,304 222,628
During the year ended 31 December 2015, a final dividend REBEE—ZT—HF+-H=1T—HLHF
of RMB8.7 cents per share in respect of the year ended 31 E ERMARAEEAEREEZE_T

December 2014 (2014: RMB8.0 cents per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2013) was declared to the owners
of the Company. The aggregate amount of the final dividend
declared in the interim period amounting to RMB242,195,000
(2014: RMB222,628,000).

A special dividend of RMB1.8 cents per ordinary share (2014: nil)
was declared by the board of the Company on 11 August 2015.
This special dividend, amounting to RMB50,109,000, has been
paid during the year ended 31 December 2015.

—OFE+=—A=+—RHIEFEHRAK
EERARESIH(ZE—NE : gtHE
T+ _A=Z+-—HILEFEESTK
ERARKS.0%) - RHHIHIEESIRA
HiRe B4R %E R AR 242,195,000 7T (=
T : AR¥222,628,0007T) °

RZZE—RAF/\A+—H ARAES
EERFRETARARE18S(ZF—H
F:E\m)ZFRIRE - ZFRIRESTE
A AREB0,109,0007C ' EREBE_F
—hEF+ZA=T—HIFERN °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

12. Dividends (continued) 12.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 of RMB8.8 cents
per share has been proposed by the Board of Directors and
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming
general meeting.

13. Earnings per Share 13.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following

IRE (%)

RBEHRGERR  EFTSEHENEE
—E-RFFTRA=+—HLEFERN
AR EBFRARKS8D - HAFKRE
REERRANSHETTEIFE -

BRER

RRABHEEANEBEFRERNREERF
TIRBE T I BB E

data:
2015 2014
—_E—_FHF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
Earnings EF| AR®T T AREFIT
Earnings for the purposes of basic HEREARREERFMNE/H8F -
and diluted earnings per share, BIZRRA RIHER A FE(S 4 s £l
being profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company 812,160 809,392
2015 2014
—E-FF —T e
‘000 ‘000
Number of shares RHOE TR Tz
Weighted average number of ordinary PLERRERZH M E KL mA
shares for the purpose of basic INHEFIHEL
earnings per share 2,783,845 2,783,512
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: E3@BAEEE S E
— Share options — IR fix i - 59
Weighted average number of ordinary FEREER TS AR
shares for the purpose of diluted INHEF9 K
earnings per share 2,783,845 2,783,571
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13.

14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Earnings per Share (continued) 13. BIREF (&)
Those share options granted have no impact on the ZEEREYERESRNAEHFE-Z
computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 —RFE+-_A=+—HILFEZEKRE
December 2015, as the exercise price of the options was higher SR EAMNTE  ZERBRETE
than the average market price of the Company’s shares. BRRARRRDEFETE -
The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year STEHEEZ T NFE+_A=+—HI1t
ended 31 December 2014 has accounted for the effect of those FE ERBERTE > HEROER
share options granted where the exercise price of the options WZITEEERARBKLD ZFHH
was lower than the average market price of the Company'’s B Bt AZEBEREZTFE -
shares.
Property, Plant and Equipment 14. Y% - BERRE
Hotel under Office Motor Leasehold
Buildings development  equipment vehicles improvements Total
BF  BRTERE BARE RE HENERE fit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR ARETn  ARETR  ARETn  ARETR
COST B
At 1 January 2014 RZE-RE-F-H 485,049 40,186 61,710 21851 55,710 670,506
Additions AE 9,867 60,103 11,480 24,394 7157 113,001
Disposals e (982) - (304 (573) - (1,859)
Deemed disposals of a subsidiary RALE-HHBAA
(note 380) (HzE 38b) - - - (487) = (487)
At 31 December 2014 R-E-NE+-A=1-A 493,934 100,289 12,886 51,185 62,867 781,161
Exchange realignment ERHE - - 3 - 3 6
Additions AE 621 366 16,933 3,194 14,730 35,844
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WeEmE A (ka7) - - 851 1,103 - 1,954
Disposals e - - (4,044) (158) (9,465) (13,667)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RELENRBLA (H38)
(note 38b) - - (155) (1,068) - (1,223)
At 31 December 2015 RZF-RF+-A=1-H 494,555 100,655 86,474 54,256 68,135 804,075
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

“ Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ—-F—AF+=-H=+—HIFFZ

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 14. Y% BERRZE (&)
Hotel under Office Motor Leasehold
Buildings development  equipment vehicles improvements Total
B  LRDER HORfE RE  RENEEE ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE  AR%Tn AR%Txr ARETR AR%Tn  ARETx
DEPRECIATION AND nELHE

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2014 R_E-RF-F-H 162,853 - 37093 18,500 36,724 255,170
Provided for the year EniE 6,660 = 9,196 3305 6,190 25,351
Eliminated on disposals it ER (192 - (70) (457) - (719
Deemed disposals of a subsidiary RELE-BNELA

(note 38b) (GEX) - - - (87) - 87)
At 31 December 2014 R-Z-ME+-A=1-8 169,321 - 46,219 21,261 42914 279,715
Provided for the year ERiE 8,258 - 13,083 8520 4,468 34,329
Eliminated on disposals iH BRI - - (2.827) (148) (439) (3414)
Deemed disposal of subsidiaries RANENBAR ()

(note 38b) - - (103) (334) - (437)
At 31 December 2015 R-E-1F+-A=1-A 177579 - 56,372 29,299 46,943 310,193
CARRYING VALUES HEE
At 31 December 2015 R_E-RFT-A=1-A 316,976 100,655 30,102 24,957 21,192 493,882
At 31 December 2014 R-F-NE+-A=1-A 324,613 100,289 26,667 29,924 19,953 501,446

The above items of property, plant and equipment except hotel
under development are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings Over the shorter of the relevant
lease term or 3%-5% per annum

Office equipment 3to 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to b years

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of relevant lease
term or 3 to 5 years
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the management
of the Group performed a valuation on a hotel property which
is included in “Building” category of property, plant and
equipment, and impairment loss of RMB125,000,000 has
been made according to the excess of the aggregate carrying
amounts of the hotel property over the recoverable amount
which is determined as the fair value less costs to sell of this
hotel property. The fair value of the hotel property was arrived
at using a combination of land portion of the hotel which was
assessed by the market approach, and buildings and structures
portion which was assessed by depreciated replacement
cost approach (“DRC"). The market value of land portion was
referenced to the comparable land transactions in Guangzhou,
the PRC. The DRC approach considers the current cost of
replacement (reproduction) of the buildings and improvements
less deductions for physical deterioration and all relevant
forms of obsolescence and optimisation. The DRC approach
generally furnishes the most reliable indication of value for the
hotel property in the absence of a known market based on
comparable sales. With reference to the valuation of the hotel
property as at 31 December 2015 and financial results during
the year 31 December 2015, in the opinion of the management
of the Group, the carrying amount of hotel property
approximates to its recoverable amount and no impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2015 and
31 December 2014.

As at 31 December 2015, buildings of RMB254,386,000 (2014
RMB260,801,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group. All the buildings of the Group are situated
on leasehold land in the PRC under medium lease term.

14. Y% - BEKRE (&)

REE-_T——_F+-_HA=1T—HIEF
B AEBEEEEHRERYE  BE
REEFR TEF] BRI 2BEMEED
HE BEWEZEEAERL KD
SHE(EVEEDEAFERBERA) G
tH Rk 1B 5 18 & A R 125,000,000 7T ©
BIEVEZ AFEEBREE LI
ERATISE - MEFREEMIHER
WEEENNEGEAEE - THIH
MGEEL2EFRBEEMNITELER 2 i
RHBE - MEEERRNEZZREFR
ERZAREE(EE)KAN  BEH
BEREREEMEEEER ZRE REL
ERZ IR - —MmME - EREBE ]
BUHBRMBHERRZBRAT  HEE
ERANEARERAUSEZAEMEEER
HIZ - BEBEBEVER_ZT—RF+=
A=+T—BzZRHEERBE-ZT—AHF
TZAZ+TALFEZHBEE K&
SEEEERAS BEVENEEER
Hubl ¢ EESE  BREE_F—1
F+-A=+—HER=Z—WF+=A
=+—HIEFERERRTMREESE -

HE_Z—hFEt+-_A=+—H0" 2%
AEEMERE TRITEEMERETF
TH B A& A R®254,386,000C( =&
— P : AR™260,801,0007T) ° ANE
B A MAR HEE L iEFHIRF
HAM AR FEA ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ—-F—AF+=-H=+—HIFFZ

15. Prepaid Lease Payments

16.

The carrying amount of prepaid lease payments represents land

use rights held under medium-term lease in the PRC is analysed

as follows:

15. EAHEENTRK

BENHAEFAREEEN T EREH
MERFANLERE - DT

2015 2014
—E-hF —E—mE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Non-current asset EMBNEE 15,374 15,809
Current asset TMENVE EE 435 435
15,809 16,244
Investment Properties 16. REWZE
Completed Investment
investment properties under
properties construction Total
BRIREME ERREME it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
N R ARETR ARETT
At 1 January 2014 RZZ—NF—HA—H 1,943,079 476,320 2,419,399
Additions NE 1,361 209,576 210,937
Net change in fair value recognised in BRGE ERR A2 ENGERR
the consolidated statement of profitor ~ HERKAHEESFE
loss and other comprehensive income 8,059 89,551 97610
At 31 December 2014 RZE-ME+-A=t-H 1,952,499 775,447 2,727,946
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WEEK B AR (FizEa7) - 571,788 571,788
Additions NE 4,056 844,682 848,738
Transfer upon completion of RER TR TRER
construction work 282,805 (282,805) -
Net change in fair value recognised in BERGE ERR A2 ANGERR
the consolidated statement of profitor ~ HERHAHEESFE
loss and other comprehensive income 148,779 207,294 356,073
At 31 December 2015 RZZ-RE+-A=t—H 2,388,139 2,116,406 4,504,545
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

16. Investment Properties (continued)

16. REY= (&)

The carrying value of investment properties shown above i EYFENREERE
comprises:
2015 2014
—_E—HFE —E—E
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIT
Properties situated on land with R BIREA T HERA
land use rights in the PRC b R A R M S
— under long lease —RHMEE 255,800 149,900
— under medium lease —HHEE 4,248,745 2,578,046
4,504,545 2,727946

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

At 31 December 2015, investment properties of RMB747924,000
(2014: RMB1,251,563,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group.

The fair values of investment properties under construction and
completed investment properties at 31 December 2015 and
2014 were determined by reference to valuations carried out by
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited
and American Appraisal China Limited, respectively, both
independent qualified professional valuers not connected with
the Group. The fair values of the investment properties were
determined by the valuer on the following basis:

MBASERKEHERERIES X
BREABENMERES  DERAQT
BERVAES D RRARINSREDE

R-ZT—RF+-_A=+—8 A£H
2K A R % 747,924,000 7t (= Z —
F . AR¥1,251,663,000 7T ) B % & ¥
¥ UESETFASENTTRIIEE -

FREEVERERTIRENER-F
—AERZFE-NFEFT_A=1T—H0HH
NE - H2EHEKE B EEERE
VEERBEMEMPEHTEETE
RFHABR AT RERTE(FR) R
NEIREEMEE © MERD IR TIE
EEEREVENLNTE :
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

16. Investment Properties (continued)

Completed
investment

Investment
properties
under
construction

by reference to capitalised income to
be derived from the properties existing
tenancies and the reversionary
income potential of the properties or,
where appropriate, by reference to
market evidence of transaction prices
for similar properties in the same
locations and conditions

by reference to the current or recent
prices of investment properties
and estimated costs to completion
based on construction budget,
committed contracts, allowances for
contingencies as well as developer's
profit margin, which reflect the risks
associated with the completion of the
development of the properties and
in achieving the anticipated income
or capital appreciation on the date of
valuation

The following tables give information about how the fair values

of these investment properties are determined (in particular,

the valuation technigues and inputs used), as well as the fair

value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are

categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the

inputs to the fair value measurements is observable.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2015

16. REY= (&)

R-B-HF+=-A=1+—8H

Investment properties Fair value Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant unobservablg inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair valug) average)
AV ERMTERGATE LE
AEERENRENE ARETT  ATESR GEROREESAHE (TBZE SRR A TENER) (TR
Complsted investment properties 2072439 Level3  Direct comparison method and income 1. Term yield (the higher the term yield, the lower the fair ~ 2%-6%
capitalisation of the net income and made value)
orovisions for reversionary income potential. Also
reference to the market observable transactions of -~ 2. Reversionary yield (the higher the reversionary yield, the  2.5%-6.5%
similar properties. lower the fair valug)
3. Market unit rent (RMB/sqm] (the higher the market unit ~ 1.2-54
rent, the higher the fair value)
4. Market unit sales rate (RMB/som) (the higher the market ~ 5,340-7730
unit sales rate, the higher the fair valug)
EATRENE £30 BEUEERIMAMRARAL Y8 1 s (pEMsaE . ATEYE) 6%
REUAENELER  H2ZENNE
\*iﬁu**':ﬁ ¢ MG B (AL (e h 3Lt S i
555 ) BENE(EEREES  ATERE) 15%-65%
3 TREMEEARE/TAN)(MEBLALE 1M
5 ATEES)
4 TRBUER(ARE/TAK) 5340-1730
(MRBLEEYS  ATHEER)
Completed investment properties 315,700 Level2  Direct comparison method-based on market N/ N/A
observable transactions of similar properties and
adusted to reflect the conditions of the Subject
property.
ERIRENZ 2R ERURE-BEREUNENTSTER  TER NER

25 PHELEBARBRONESRN «
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 25 A Fi

(#4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2015 (continued)

16. REY= (&)

R-B-HF+-A=1+—H(#&)

Investment properties Fair value Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair valug) average)
AR EXMBRBARE LE
AEERENRENE ARSI ATESR HEENREZBARE (FERSATERE AT ENER) (MmETE)
Investment properties under construction 525,800 Level3  Residual method-based on market observable 1. Developer's profit the higher the developer's proft, the  13%-24%
transactions of similar properties and taken lower the fair valug)
into account the construction costs that will be
expended to complete the development. 2. Marketing costs (the higher the marketing costs, the lower 2%
the fai value)
3. Future construction costs for completion (the higher the /A
construction costs, the lower the fair value)
EEREYR 230 HEEZ-BREEUNENTRUBRER 1. ERERN(ERERNES  ATESE) 13%-24%
5 TEETRRERENRTIER -
2 BHEBR(SHERES ATEEE) 2%
3 TRRENAREIER(EIERES ATE 1@
i)
Investment properties under construction 1,590,606 Level3  Direct comparison method-based on market  Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm] (the higher the market unit  376-6,500
observable transactions of similar lands and  sales rate, the higher the fair valug)
adjusted to reflect the conditions of the subject
[ands.
ERRENX £30 ERMRE-REANLHOTAUER  mREUEE(ARE/THA) (TREAEEES- 36650
25 UELREIREENHIARE . ATEER)
4,504,545

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 20156 #HZ —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2014

16. REY= (&)

R=E—mF+—_A=+—H

Investment properties Fair value Fairvalue  Valuation techniques Significant unobservablg inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 higrarchy  and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair valug) average)
AR EXMBRBARE LE
AEERENRENE ARBTT  AVESR HEENREZEARE (FERRATERE AT ENER) (TR
Complsted investment properties 1,791,859 Level3  Direct comparison method and income 1. Temn yield (the higher the term yield, the lower the fai 41%-6.5%
capitalisation of the net income and made value)
orovisions for reversionary income potential. Also
reference to the market observable transactions of 2. Reversionary yield (the higher the reversionary yield, the  4.6%-6.5%
similar properties. lower the far value)
3 Market unitrent (RMB/sqm) tthe higher the market unit ~ 26-62
rent, the higher the fair valug)
4. Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the higher the market ~ 5,200-7350
unit sales rate, the higher the far value)
BRIRENZ 3B %m&%&%WAmwké$ﬁ R 1. EHkE(eEkaEs  ATESE) 41%-6.5%
BRRAENELER - F2ZRNNE
mm%Tﬁgi%o 2 BEYE(EBNEES  ATEYE) 46%-6.5%
3. mRENBS(ARE/THR)(THELRSE 266
5 A7EUE)
4, HEREEARE/TAR)(THELERE 52007350
5 A7EEE)
Complsted investment properties 160,640 Level2  Direct comparison method-based on market /A N/A
observable transactions of similar properties and
adjusted to reflect the conditions of the subject
property.
BRIRENZ 220 ERURE-BEEUMFNTSUEE  TER MR

2% LEHBRRBBHAREORT -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

16. Investment Properties (continued)

At 31 December 2014 (continued)

16. REY= (&)

MZZE-—MFE+—A=+—RH (&)

Investment properties Fair value Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range (weighted
held by the Group RMB'000 and key inputs (relationship of unobservable inputs to fair valug) average)
AR EXMBRBARE LE
AEERENRENE ARSI ATESR HEENREZBARE (FERSATERE AT ENER) (MmETE)
Investment properties under construction 345,000 Residual method-based on market observable 1. Developer's profit (the higher the developer's profit, the 14%-20%
transactions of similar properties and taken lower the far value)
into account the construction costs that will be
expended to complete the development. 2. Marketing costs (the higher the marketing costs, the lower 3%
the fai value)
3. Future construction costs for completion (the higherthe /A
construction costs, the lower the fair value)
EEREYR REE-BREANUNZOTRIEER 1 ERELN(BESRIES  ATEEE) 14%-20%
5 TEETRRERENRTIER -
2 BHEBR(SHERES ATEEE) 3%
3 TRRENAREIER(EIERMS ATE T@R
#(E)
Investment properties under construction 430447 Direct comparison method-based on market ~ Market unit sales rate (RMB/sqm) (the higher the market unit ~ 376-7470
observable transactions of similar lands and  sales rate, the higher the fair valug)
adjusted to reflect the conditions of the subject
[ands.
EEREYR BRUBE-RERULHNTETBE  WRBUEE(ARE/THR) (MEBNEEES - 367410
25 UELREIREENDNRE . ATEER)

2727946
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

17. Interests in Joint Ventures 17. REELENKRE
2015 2014
—E-HF —T—mF
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR® TR ARETT

Unlisted cost of investment JEETIRER AR 219,110 53,892
Share of post acquisition profits (losses) and  FE(FUEE& & FI (E51E)
other comprehensive income (expenses) R EH b2 EEs (FX) (2,144) 9,086
216,966 62,978
Details of the Group's joint ventures at the end of the reporting RREHEEREAEEE NS ERE
period are as follows: RIFFIBAT ¢
Place of
incorporation/ Proportion of
principal place register capital Register capital
Name of entity of operation held by the Group RMB Principal activity
R &R
BB FTEEEHY AREFEREMERLA N TEER
2015 2014 2015 2014

“E-15% —Z-NFf CZB-1fF _T-QF

Guangzhou Baoao Real Estate PRC 50% 50% 10,000 10,000 Property development
Development Limited i NEERE
("Guangzhou Baoao")

BNRREHEFZBRAR (EMRE])

Jiangmen Pengjiang Baishi PRC N/A 51% 100,000 100,000 Property development
Yonghao Property Development i THER NEEE
Company Limited (“Baishi Yonghao")

IR IR AKBEREERAR

(ramxaEl)

Zhuzhou Aoyuan Property Development PRC 60% 240,000 50,000 Property development
Company Limited (“Zhuzhou Aoyuan”) i (note) NEEE

HAREEEREERAR ([HRNEE]) (FzE)

Zhuzhou Jinye Property Development PRC 51.05% 143,000 50,000 Property development
Company Limited (*Zhuzhou Jinye”) hE (note) NRER

e ¥ EEREERAR ((HFNE%]) (Fzh)

Annual Report 2015 —Z&—Fi4F4FEH 173



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

17. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued) 17. REELENKRE (B)
Note: Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye were subsidiaries of the Company as Mk MMBERMMNESER=-_Z—MOF+=A
at 31 December 2014 and reclassified as joint ventures during year ended =t+—HBAARARNKMBAR  MREBEE=
31 December 2015 detailed in note 38b. T—hF+_A=+—HLFEEHIESL

& &3 (RMIFE 380 #Fi) ©

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's REBRELLENRS BB BKE

interests in joint ventures are set out below: BB -

Guangzhou Baoao 2015 2014

BN e =
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARBETT

Current assets mENEE 24,881 14,611
Non-current assets FRBEE 347,300 340,409
Current liabilities mBAIE 322,416 310,311
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 9,941 8,984
Profit and total comprehensive income a M R 2 IR AR EE 4,099 25,876
Zhuzhou Aoyuan 2015
MR E —_E—FE
RMB’000

ARET T

Current assets mENEE 2,559,645
Non-current assets FEMENEE 15,777
Current liabilities BB E 2,181,885
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 140,000
Loss and total comprehensive expense EEREAERRSE (20,366)

174 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H* [ 5 [ b 7 45 B i 4 A R A )



17.

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Interests in Joint Ventures (continued)

17. REELENKRE (&)

Zhuzhou Jinye 2015
N2 —E—FfF
RMB’000

AR®T

Current assets BN EE 1,463,315
Non-current assets ERBEE 14,262
Current liabilities mENEE 1,039,560
Non-current liabilities EREEE 350,000
Loss and total comprehensive expense EEREEAERRSE (9.474)

Available-for-Sale Investments

The carrying amount of available-forsale investments increased
by RMB50,000,000 during the year ended 31 December 2015
mainly represents the consideration paid for the acquisition of
10% equity interest in an unlisted entity established in the PRC,
YT E SRR AR AR, its principal activity is to carry out
software development for advertising purpose.

The above available-for-sale investment and investment in ||
KB L EZEEGR AR of RMB25,000,000 acquired in prior
years are both measured at cost less impairment at the end of
the period as the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

18. AIHHERE

A HERENEEAEREE=-S—A
F+-A=T—HALFEERARK
50,000,0007T * * Z 355t I iE — £
BRI E T ERRYITME R AR
BBERARFZ10% BRIE S HERE -
ZERBNIEEBRETESAEEMG
A% o

LA EERERNBEFERED
HIWKEAMEEXBRATKREAR
& 25,000,000 7T 742 HA R 39 %2 X AN Il 25 0L
B2 RRAHAFETEASEAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

19.

20.

Amount due from a Joint Venture

The balance of RMB151,989,000 (31 December 2014:
RMB151,955,000) is due from a joint venture, Guangzhou
Baoao, an entity established in the PRC, which is jointly
controlled by the Company and BERRFIEHEFIZ AR AT
Guangdong Poly Real Estate Development Limited.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and used for the joint
venture's properties development, so it will not be repaid within

19.

Bl —ESEEERER

B —EEEREBRMNRRARE LA
K% 151,989,000t (= Z—MF+=A
=+—H: AR¥151,955,0007T) ° &
MREAR R BEKL © AAR R RERR
MEHERZEERA R HEREES] o

ZRREYEER RS MARAERE
MMEERE - A T8N —FREE -

Al

one year.

Properties for Sale 20. TJ{HEHEME
2015 2014
—E-1F —T—MmF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETTT

Properties for sale comprise of: AESHE MR BIE

Completed properties EIER 6,951,186 4,468,268
Properties under development BERPYIE 24,841,186 20,478,560
31,792,372 24,946,828

Included in the amount are properties under development
for sale of RMB4,262,576,000 (2014: RMB4,733,500,000) in
relation to property development projects that are expected to
complete after one year from the end of the reporting periods.

At 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’'s properties
for sale with carrying value of RMB7,175,562,000 (2014:
RMB5,917991,000) were pledged for certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]

HEABEIREEERETUEAR
4,262,576,000 (= ZE—FE : AR
4,733,500,0007T ) B B A & BRAE 2R —
FIEIEK °

R-ZT—RE+-_F=+—8H K&EE
BRmEEAARE7,175,662,000 T (=&
—PU4E : AR¥5,917,991,00070) 9% T
AHEENEERERSEERSE TR
TTRVE B o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

21. Trade and Other Receivables

21. EFREMEWRF

2015 2014
—_E—HFE —E—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
HizE AR%T ARET T
Trade receivables H 2 WK (a) 154,648 158,128
Rental receivables M EWRIE 29,671 39,584
Other receivables H b fEUGRIR (b) 597,028 411,124
Advances to constructors and suppliers BN EGE R XA FEE A 156,259 57505
Deposits paid to respective local TLAT e B 1t (5P A 4
governments and third parties for the XA THEEE M
potential purchase of land use rights BRRE=F 2] % 391,911 506,393
Deposits paid to purchase BB EYE
properties for sale BftET€ (c) - 300,000
Other tax prepayments HARIIRTR N 5K 423,118 376,424
1,752,635 1,849,158

The following is the aged analysis of trade receivables

determined based on the date of the properties delivered and

sales were recognised:

UTRRBEXNNERHERRERE
TEHVE 2 I8 WK A BiRiie D ATT -

2015 2014

—E-AF —E—mE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T AREETTT

0 to 60 days 0£260H 77,820 71,910
61 to 180 days 61%£180H 8,084 29,307
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H 16,265 16,417
1 to 2 years 1224 28,156 37243
2 to 3 years 2E3%F 21,668 =
Over 3 years BB 3T 2,655 3,251
154,648 158,128

Annual Report 2015 & —FAEME#R

177



178

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

21. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables mainly represent receivables from properties buyers for
mortgage sale. The average credit period on mortgage sale of properties
is 60 days. Impairment on trade receivables are provided for based on
estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of properties, determined
by reference to past default experience. Considerations under pre-sale
contracts will be fully received prior to the delivery of the ownership
certificate of the properties to the purchasers.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers
any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit
was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2015, there were RMB52,479,000 (2014:
RMB40,494,000) receivables aged more than 1 year that were past due
but not impaired. The management of the Company is of the opinion that
no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these receivables as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are
still considered recoverable based on historical experience.

The concentration of credit risk in the remaining trade receivables is limited
due to the customer base being large and unrelated.

As at 31 December 2015, the balances mainly include deposits paid to &
INTH 22 i [ 22 A T 2 AL R A B & 4L (“Luogang Business Association”)
and EBMHEBERKZEFR AR (“Yiing Investment”) of RMB100,000,000
(2014: RMB100,000,000) for the property project carried out by EMZEE
FHERIEER AR (“Luo Ao Real Estate Development”), a subsidiary
indirectly owned by the Company, details refer to note 31.

The balance of RMB300,000,000 as at 31 December 2014 represented
deposit paid to a court for potential acquisition of a property project under
development for sale upon the agreement (the “Agreement”) entered.
The amount has been fully refunded as the Group has terminated the
Agreement during the year ended 31 December 2015.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]

21. B R EABYR (&)

B RAGRE R RIS E R
BRZHRE - MEHENTHEEDR R0
B BSRKFNREDREZZRBEEN
IEERIETE 2 WEESHE Z fhRT A A R 2 B AT
REE - BEARNZRERRMENMARE
BRXNERAIEEKE -

REEE 5 RUGRZ TR E I E - AEEE
ZRERNFHERN AL ZHRENR
IR SRR ERERNEMED -

RZZE-—AF+-A=+—8  Kik@BB—
F 2 e 3 AR 52,479,000 7T (ZF —
F : AR 40,494,0007T ) E %8 HI{E I R
B ARAEEERS  BRZZERKH
EEERTEEAE  BRBBELEX
SHRBMBEARRATRE - B NRRZERE
WREH RIBE B

MR EFEHERAWERE  BFRES
WA Z EEETRERAR °

RZZE—HF+-_A=+—"0 BREEXEL
BRARAMBENB QR EMNZEREmE
FEERAR([ZREMERE ) FTETT
MEBEMEMNEMNTMEEMEZEBEEET
BEEHRET((BETREBERSH]) R
EMMEEREGRAR([EERE D
74 AR ¥ 100,000,000 ( = ZF — PO 4 :
AR#100,000,0007T) * FEESHAHESD

R-ZZE—mE+-_A=+—0 " BBEARE
300,000,000 7t ARIRE 7] i ([ & i 1) 5t
AR EN A I EEEMEBEMEMN T
ERME € c ARAKBEREBEZE—_T—AF
+ZA=+—BILFELRILZHE - BEX
HEZEURE -
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23.

24,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

Amounts due from Non-Controlling
Shareholders of Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2015, the balances are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. The Group is expected to receive
the entire balance within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

The amount of RMB2,980,000 due from a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary of as at 31 December 2014 carries
interest at rate of 22% per annum, which has been settled
during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Amounts due from Related Parties

The balances as at 31 December 2015, mainly represent an
amount of RMB 170,364,000 (2014: RMB196,582,000) due from
a related party, kM T RESE HER G R AR Zhuzhou Tianjun
Properties Development Company Ltd. (“Zhuzhou Tianjun”),
an entity established in the PRC, which is controlled by J&i&
{iE and#iH, who are non-controlling shareholders of certain
subsidiaries and partners of certain joint ventures. The amounts
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from Joint Ventures

The balance of RMB55,000,000 (2014: nil) mainly represents
amount due from a joint venture of the Group, Zhuzhou Jinye,
which was subsidiaries of the Company before 1 March 2015,
the date which the Group lost its control on. The amount
is unsecured, carry interest at rate of 20% per annum and
repayable on demand.

The remaining balances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

22.

23.

24.

FE Wi B B 2 B 2 FE 42 R IR SRR
|

R-ZE-—AF+-_A=+—R &#H~R
BEWR RERARBREEE - AH
AEEFEMHN B RERRET+ =@
HAWER 2 R A A o

R_ZE—NME+_—_A=+—HEKRK M
MEARN —EIFERRRERRIBAAR
#2,980,0007T * #£22% 2 FHIZEEFTE o
ZERHEEREBEE_ZT—HAE+ A
=T—HBIEFEMNE

FEWR BRE A R FIE

R-_E—RAF+_-_A=+—Hz#&#%H=x
TR — M RERQ RN T REEH
ERZEBRAR(HRMNKER] - —HEF
Blpk 32 Y E 88 ) 318 A K% 170,364,000
T(ZZE—M4F: AKR%196,582,000
TT) o BRMNREB BSRAE R AR B H -
RSRAE R BB A T B A R FEE AR
RERETEERENEBA - ZFK
BEEE - RERAREREERE -

FEWE & hERIE

“E ek AR ¥ 55,000,000 7T ( —Z—PO4F :
m) T2 RERAEE—EEERERM
CEFRB - MMNEERZZT—HF=A
— B (AEBERNZBREHEEDE) 2
A AARRABIRHNB AR - ZERIEEE
- 1220% 2 F R E RARE KK

3% -

B

Al

HpEREER 28 RAREREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

AR

o B B i M (A8

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

25.

26.

Restricted Bank Deposits/Bank Balances
and Cash

Restricted bank deposits

As at 31 December 2015, the balances represent deposits
amounting to RMB1,266,632,000 (2014: RMB1,065,000,000)
pledged for short term loan facilities granted by banks and
carrying interest at variable interest rates ranging from 0.38% to
3.25% (2014: 2.35% to 4.8%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

The bank balances carry interest at variable rate with an average
interest rate of 0.35% (2014: 0.35%) per annum.

25.

ZREMITERBITERR
BE

ZIRHBIRITER

R_ZE—FRF+-_A=+—8 " &5
%A AR 1,266,632,000 7T ( = — P4 :
AR¥1,065,000,0007T) 2 75K * B FiK
HABGRITBEENEHEERE - I
BZEFFE038% £3.25% B (=F
—PUF : 235%F4.8%) °

RITEHREES

B2 EA Rt B R IRTT A 88 1 F A R
730.35% (ZZF—PO4F : 0.35%) °

Trade and Other Payables 26. ESREHMEMRNR
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREEFTT
Trade payables B K 3,586,159 2,651,337
Other payables H A FERTFRIE 1,710,325 816,837
Other taxes payables E A IR 51,655 33,118
5,348,139 3,501,292

Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for
payments to sub-contractors of property development projects
and purchases of construction materials. The average credit
period for trade purchases is from 6 months to 1 year. The
management closely monitors the payments of the payable to
ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.
Details of the financial risk management polices by the Group
are set out in note 36.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 F 4 A B A 6]

BHRNRETEBBERRNEYERE
REBEDBANRARR A NRERZ
EMHNIERE - BHRBOTHEER
SANEAZ—F EEEEYEREEMN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

26. Trade and Other Payables (continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables determined
based on the invoice date:

. B REMEARK (&)

MTRREZZEMEENE ZEMNR

HRRER AT :
2015 2014
—E-IF —T—MmF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFR ARETT

0 to 60 days 0Z260H

61 to 180 days 612180 H
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H
1 to 2 years 122F

2 to 3 years 2534
Over 3 years tBiA 3

At 31 December 2015, the balance of trade payables with
age over 1 year include retention money of RMB528,405,000
(2014: RMB617,667,000) to the sub-contractors of property
development projects, which represents approximately 5% to
10% of the contract prices.

According to the construction contracts, the retention money is
interest-free and would be paid to the sub-contractors in 1 to 3
years upon completion of development of the properties.

Other payables mainly include:

() A balance of RMB121,209,000 (2014: RMB340,691,000)
payable to Yijing Investment, co-founders of Luo Ao
Real Estate Development, a subsidiary of the Company.
The property project undertaken by Luo Ao Real Estate
Development commenced its pre-sale during the year
ended 31 December 2014 and the Group had received
proceeds from pre-sale on behalf of Yijing Investment,
details refer to note 31.

1,583,660 951,261
569,042 392,202
214,092 466,283
372,161 612,029
585,612 118,935
261,592 110,627

3,586,159 2,651,337

R-ZT—RFE+-_F=+—8 KR#Es
—FHNESENREHRDIEEN Y
BEREBSEPEANEERESARE
528,405,000t ( = ZF — M F : AR
617,667,0007T) * AMEERIEBRZ5% E
10% -

RIEZEAK HERIFLREE I
RRTERMEFAERF 1 EIFRIMT

DER o

Hi IR R B

(i)

ERARRNEARZREE
F 5% /9 S R Bl 3% A RIEE 3R IR B 308
AR #121,209,00070( == — /4
& AR#340,691,0007T) ° FHEE
REMEREHLNMEREER
HEZZ—NWF+=-A=+—H1F
FENRRTEE MAEBEEREK
FEIRREWERTEE S 5IE - 5
BB AEMEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

26. Trade and Other Payables (continued)

27.

(ii)

(iif)

A balance of RMB598,000,000 (2014: nil) represents
amount received from cooperative partner, an
independent third party for a public auction of a parcel of
land. The amount will be fully repaid to the independent
third party in case the public auction is unsuccessful.

BEREEABR 2 A Aoyuan Group Company Limited
(“Aoyuan Group”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”)
with an independent third party for a property
development project. According to the Agreement,
Aoyuan Group will pay 20% of the aggregate revenue
of the property development project, but no less than
RMB600,000,000 by instalment to the independent
third party in return for a parcel of land which is used for
the property development project, thus, the aggregate
payment amount is deemed as land cost incurred. As at
31 December 2015, RMB50,000,000 has been paid and
the remaining of RMB250,000,000 and RMB300,000,000
are classified as current and non-current liability according
to the payment schedule stipulated in the Agreement,
respectively.

The remaining balances of other payables mainly represent
deposits received, payable for staff salaries, staff welfare and
operating expenses.

Amounts due to Non-Controlling
Shareholders of Subsidiaries

The balances as at 31 December 2015 mainly include an amount
of RMB44,960,000 due to #A%%%, a non-controlling shareholder
of a subsidiary of the Company. The remaining balances were
due to several non-controlling shareholders of the Company that
existed as at 31 December 2015. The balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 F 4 A B A 6]

26.

27.

BEREMEMARK (&)

(i) AR #598,000,000C( == —
F\E) &% BRI
ZARBETRNEERE(BILE
=) IE c ZERBEARBE
R RBEREETEIE=
E o

(il BEEEERAR(RESEE] -
RARINEEMRBAR)HE—F
BYE=F—EAMEZERIEE
vmE( ZmE D REZ
i RESEEBRBILE=
AN MEEZRER B
BEEZ20% (BEFRPRARE
600,000,000 7T ) LA 2 EX A IR ) 2
FERIBE MR - Bl R8I
REWEBMEEN THAAE -
RZE—HF+=HAH=+—8"
2 ¥ 1 A R # 50,000,000 ¢ © &
™ AR # 250,000,000 7T & A R ¥
300,000,000 4} # 7 1 & #5 7€ B 5
FEEID RSB AR A B RIER
BAaE -

HepH BN R ESSRERECD WET
T BNEIHE BIRNLEEHM
+

FEAS B B 2 B) 2 FR I IR IR SR K
|

R-E—RAFE+-_A=+—Hz#&t%=E
ZREEMN ARG (A A F—FH B A
B FE 5 A% AR 3R ) R IB A R % 44,960,000
T HRERDENTARANRZE
—AF+_A=+—RINEFEENZEIE
ERIRER - 2 SEMEERR 28 KA

A
REREEE -



27.

28.

29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Amounts due to Non-Controlling
Shareholders of Subsidiaries (continued)

An amount of RMB44,000,000 due to a non-controlling
shareholder of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2014, carrying
interest at 20% per annum had been derecognised at the
consolidated financial statements of the Group because
Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye were reclassified from
subsidiaries to joint ventures of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2015, details refer to note 38b.

Amount due to a Related Party

The balance as at 31 December 2014 represented an
amount due to Zhuzhou Tianjun, had been derecognised in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group because
Zhuzhou Jinye was reclassified from a subsidiary to a joint
venture of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2015,
details refer to note 38.

Amounts due to Joint Ventures

As at 31 December 2015, the balances represent amounts due
to Zhuzhou Aoyuan and Zhuzhou Jinye, which are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. As at 31 December
2014, the balance represented amount due to Baishi Yonghao,
which was repaid during the year ended 31 December 2015.

27.

28.

29.

FEAS B B 2 B) 2 R 42 IR IR SRR
5 (&)

R_ZE—ME+—-A=+—HEMKHB
RNaEl—AIEERARHIZ 20% 2 FF =G
E R FIE A AR 44,000,0007C 0 ER
REBGREMBRRAKRIEER  ERF
HENBRBERMNEERBE_ZT—AF
T A=+ —RILSEEBRNBAREHN
PDEREEEE (GHEEL2MME380)

FEfS — EBAE 1~ RIRKIE

R-ZE—NFE+-_A=+—Hz&HAL
FERHRNRE IR - ERAEERAEN
BmEZAKRIERER - ERRMNEERE
E-ZT—ARFt+-_A=+—HBILFEH
WEBRAREN T EAEELH (FIEF2
BaBfT=E38) °

e hERIE
R-_ZT—RAF+-_A=+—H BEL
MIERENEMNRBE REMNEERIE - A
EEA . RERERERFEEE - N=
T—NE+_-_A=+—8 " 5@&RE
ERNBEAKERB(REE_ZT—HF
+=ZA=+—HIFEEE) -

Bank and Other Borrowings 30. BITREMER
2015 2014
—B-AF —E—mE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T AREEFTT

The bank and other borrowings comprise: #8717 K& E SR EIE :

RMB bank borrowings ANRIERITIEFK 3,343,477 6,493,320
HKD bank borrowings BITIRITIE R - 435,755
USD bank borrowings ETTIRITER 1,223,274 196,909
AUD bank borrowings SBRITIRTTIE K 283,656 =
RMB other borrowings (note) AR H MR (FEE) 2,522,890 1,114,321
7,373,297 8,240,305
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

30. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued) 30. SRITRHMERK (&)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Aoyuan Group and Chongging Aoyu
Property Company (“Chongging Aoyu”), wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company, entered into entrusted loan agreements with Lion Asset Management
Co., Ltd (“Lion Asset”) and Changcheng Jianxin Asset Management Co., Ltd
(“Changcheng Jiaxin”) with principal amount of RMB780,000,000 (“Lion Asset
Loan"”) and RMB800,000,000 (“Changcheng Jiaxin Loan”) with no fixed term,
respectively. The Lion Asset Loan carries interest at rate of 12.8% per annum in
the first two years and 19.2% per annum from the third year and thereafter. The
Changcheng Jiaxin Loan carries interest at rate of 11.78% and 11.85% per annum
in the first and second year, respectively, and 17.85% from the third year and
thereafter. Both of Lion Asset Loan and Changcheng Jiaxin Loan are guaranteed
by the Company and pledged by land use rights owned by Aoyuan Group and
Chongging Aoyu. The executive directors are of opinion that Aoyuan Group and
Chongging Aoyu are obligated to pay the interest and repay the principal in near
future upon the Group's indebtedness.

The remaining balances of other borrowings amounting to RMB942,890,000
(2014: RMB800,000,000) represent loans provided by certain trust companies,
which are secured by properties for sale, carry interest at the fixed rate of
5.39% to 16.00% (2014: 9.5% to 9.73%) per annum. The loan balances as at 31
December 2015 will be fully repaid within 2017

G

HE-ZT—RAF+-A=1+—HILEE BESEK
BEREEXNR([EERE]) (RAARNEZENE
AR BHELREETEEARAR ([HREE]) kW
FEEEERARAR(RAEEDITLETER
& - BEA SRS 5 A AR 780,000,000 7T ([ 7
ZEERR]) RAR 800,000,000 T ([ RHEREE
;) BEEEEERY - AR EEERRNEMESE
1#£12.8% 2 FFEFHE - BE=FREHEEZ19.2%
ZEFEREFTE - RMEEEFRE—FRE-FHH
#11.78% K& 11.85% 2 FFIEFE - BE=FHEEE
%3217.85% 2 FH KB - R EEEREENE
EERHBAARRERER  TUREEEREER
BHEAN T EARIERER - ITESERA - BE
SEKEERELAHNERANEBNEESZHH
EREEARS -

HifE R A AR 942,890,000t (= F —
&+ AR¥800,000,0007T) © A& TIEER AHREAR
B o ZEE AT HEMEERIEF - £5.39%
%£16.00%(=Z—4F : 9.5% £9.73% ) Z EEFH|
KB - NZE-—AF+-A=+—HAZEXBREL
R FRBHEE -

2015 2014
—B-AF —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT
Carrying amount repayable as follows: AR AT BRfEE R SRIERBR A ¢
Within one year 1A 2,570,344 4,464,125
More than one year, but 1F LA EBERBE2 F
not exceeding two years 3,468,894 2,127.394
More than two years, but 2F A HEREBBELF
not exceeding five years 1,304,550 1,601,130
More than five years 5F A E 29,509 47656
7,373,297 8,240,305
Less: Amount due within one year B NImE A EIE B NFTR
shown under current liabilities 1 FE AR EAZRIE (2,570,344) (4,464,125)
Amount due after one year 16 2 1B 2 HAFRIE 4,802,953 3,776,180
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

30. Bank and Other Borrowings (continued)

The bank and other borrowings bear the interest per annum:

30. SRITRHEMER (&)

RIT R EABERERR

2015 2014
—E-1F —T—MmF
Contract interest rate RMB’000 RMB'000
ERF=E ARET T ARETT
100% to 163% of lending rate A B A RERTTE R 2
of the People’s Bank of China ([FRARFITFIE])100% =
("PBC rate”) (2014: 100% to 163% (ZZ—W4F : FBIAR
160% of PBC rate) SRITHIZE 2 100% = 160% ) 3,060,078 4,302,965
Fixed rate ranging from 6.5% to 6.5% & 19.2% 2 [EF F| =
19.2% (2014: 6.5% to 14.1%) “ZE—NF :6.5%E14.1%) 3,729,004 3,600,006
Hong Kong Interbank Offered BARITRZER S ([BABRT
Rates (“HIBOR") plus 2.6% t0 6.5% RZEHFE])I12.6% £6.5%
(2014: HIBOR plus 1.3% to 6%) —E—F  FARTREFE
I01.3% £6%) 584,215 337334
7,373,297 8,240,305

The weighted average effective interest rate on bank and other
borrowings for the year is 8.22% (2014: 9.45%) per annum.

Other than the assets pledged as disclosed in notes elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, equity interests of
certain subsidiaries of the Company were pledged for the bank
and other borrowing facilities granted to the Group.

FRRITREAME RN I T ERF
REFFEL22%(=ZF—I4F : 9.45%) °

BEeMBHRAEMEHARRENE R
MEEI - ARBIETHE QB MAE
ETEA UESETAREMNRITR
HitEREEHR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

31. Provisions 31. &
LuoAo

Guangzhou Real Estate Guangzhou
Wan Pui  Development Shangshui Total
ENER RBRAREMEME M7k #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT

(a) (b) (c)
Balance at 1 January 2015 RZT—RE—A—R&H 560,296 883,257 133,591 1,577144
Additional provisions recognised BRI 1,124 16,257 2,926 20,307
Balance at 31 December 2015 R-ZE—RE+-R=1t—H&#H 561,420 899,514 136,517 1,697451

(a)

On 31 December 2011, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Pan Information
Technology Limited (“PIT"). According to the Agreement,
the Group injected cash of RMB154,700,000 in &N
ERREEMAR AT (the “Guangzhou Wan Pui”), an
entity established in the PRC which principally engaged
in the property development. The Group held 65% equity
interest in the Guangzhou \Wan Pui after the completion of
capital injection while PIT held 35% equity interest in the
Guangzhou Wan Pui. In addition, the Group and PIT agreed
that the Group has to transfer 35% completed properties
in the property development project in Guangzhou Wan
Pui to PIT and in return PIT requires to transfer its 35%
equity interest in the Guangzhou Wan Pui to the Group.
The Group is responsible for providing funding to finance
this property project and the project management is
wholly responsible by the Group. PIT will not involve in
the daily operation and management of this property
project. In addition, PIT will not share any profit and loss of
Guangzhou Wan Pui during the property construction.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]

RZZE—F+=ZA=+—H " 'K
AEEEREFEERMBRAR ([
BEBREM ) Tt (THEl) -
RiEHZ  AEEREMNTERR
EEBERARTEMEER] (R
FEKNMNER  TEREYER
) )FEH e AR 154,700,000
Joo MEBTKE  AEBIFEE
INE B 2 65% I  mBFBEEER
TR E BN E B 2 35% It - it
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

31. Provisions (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Guangzhou Wan Pui is accounted for as wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group and PIT has provided land to the
Group to develop the property project in return to have
35% completed properties. Accordingly, the potential
amount of the development expenditure and other
attributable expenses for the development of properties
to be incurred to complete the development of the 35%
completed properties to be delivered to PIT is accounted
for as provision of the Group in respect of cost of the land.

On 8 August 2013, the Company entered into an
agreement (the "Agreement”) with Luogang Business
Association and Yijing Investment to establish “LuoAo
Real Estate Development” with registered capital
of RMB100,000,000 which engages in property
development.

According to the Agreement, the Group injected
RMB60,000,000 to LuoAo Real Estate Development and
the Group held 60% equity interest in LuoAo Real Estate
Development after the completion of capital injection
while each of Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment injected RMB20,000,000 respectively and
each of them held 20% equity interest in the LuoAo
Real Estate Development respectively. In addition,
the Group, Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment agreed that after the completion of the
development of property project by LuoAo Real Estate
Development, the Group has to transfer 40% completed
properties to Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment in return Luogang Business Association
and Yijing Investment have to contribute part of the
land consideration at RMB926,350,000. The Group is
responsible for providing funding to finance this property
project and the project management is wholly responsible
by the Group. Luogang Business Association and Yijing
Investment will not be involved in daily operation and
management of this property project. In addition, Luogang
Business Association and Yijing Investment will not share
any profit and loss of LuoAo Real Estate Development
during the property construction.

31. #4& (&)

(a)

(#8)

BMNEBARY AAEE 2 EWE
AR MEREFEERMRAANEERE
M AFRZEYEIEER - KRR
35% BRI E ° Bt - SEAFHE
i mEBE SRR Z35% 27T
ERYNERTEERBYHENFRE I
REMBREERZEESEARY]
BANEE G R A A B o

RZZE—=FNANE ' KXQ7FH
B S 1 REERE RN —
B (] UEMEAAR
# 100,000,000 TR [ 2R F b EE

P =R -
REWE - ARERZEREMER

5T A A R #60,000,0007T i
FB TR 285 A & BEHE R
EE60% AR #E - M ZE e AC B A AT
MEFEERAES BRI AIEAARE
20,000,000t B ESE D RIS
ZZ R EHEE IR 20% ARAE o ithoh -
RNEE - BESBRS T RERK
BEE  REREHERETKY
¥BEE 2% AEEABEETIY
F240% HEHEE TR MBS R
FEIRIRE - (EREITR - 2 = AR
At REEEIR B BB S LR
8 A R 926,350,000 7T ° AN &£ &
BEREPDUYEBEREES
WAASEEEAERIEEEE - #
EEEHAT NERRETS S H
ZMEEEHEEERER - It
O EROEI AT REBERER
MERLPATS D ZEREME
R F)E R E R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

31. Provisions (continued)

(b)

188

(continued)

Luo Ao Real Estate Development is accounted for as
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group and Luogang
Business Association and Yijing Investment have provided
part of the land consideration at RMB926,350,000 to the
Group to develop the property project in return to have
40% completed properties. Accordingly, the potential
development expenditure and other attributable expenses
for the development of properties to be incurred to
complete the development of the 40% completed
properties to be delivered to Luogang Business Association
and Yijing Investment is accounted for as provision of the
Group in respect of the cost of the land. In June 2014,
LuoAo Real Estate Development commenced its pre-sale
and the Group had received the pre-sale proceeds on behalf
of Yijing Investment, which was recorded as other payables
amounting RMB121,209,000 (2014: RMB340,691,000).

On 28 February 2014, the Company entered into an
agreement (the “Agreement”) with two independent
parties, Mr. Zhong Jiawen and Mr. Zhong Binghong.
According to the Agreement, the Group injected cash
of RMB10,408,000 in EM#KBEEBFR AR (the
“Guangzhou Shangshui”), an entity established in the PRC
which principally engaged in the property development.
The Group held 51% equity interest in the Guangzhou
Shangshui after the completion of capital injection while
the two independent parties held 49% equity interest in
the Guangzhou Shangshui. In addition, the Group, two
independent parties agreed that after the completion of the
development of property project by Guangzhou Shangshui,
the Group has to transfer 50% completed properties to
the two independent parties in return the two independent
parties have to contribute part of the land consideration at
RMB207356,800. The Group is responsible for providing
funding to finance this property project and the project
management is wholly responsible by the Group. The two
independent parties will not be involved in daily operation
and management of this property project. In addition, two
independent parties will not share any profit and loss of
Guangzhou Shangshui during the property construction.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 F 4 A B A 6]

31. #4& (&)

(b)

(#8)

ZREWERBEARIAASESR
BWB AR MEBEELERA LR
BRI EE MASBEREE S T
RABE A R # 926,350,000 JT LA 7 3
YZIER - A EN40% B ST Y
¥ o Bt TREEGRERSE
BEE REERERN 240%E
ERMEMELEREYENRAZES
HRHEMARER 2 E T2 BAR
P AR EE A B - A A & B o
RZTE—NFEANA BEREHE
MERKBEZEYE A58
B REER IR & WE R IE - AR
EEMENRIE 2BEAARK
121,209,000 7L (ZZE—HF : AR
#340,691,000 7T ) °

R-ZE—ME-/F =+ /\H &AQ
A B {2 B 37 A TN S A K i3
WS TS — R e ([ ek ) ©
RIEHZ - ANEE R EMN B KBS
BRARTEMEKD FERSE
A R #10,408,000 7T @ & M # 7K
RINABIK I EEE - ZE2HREY
EER - FETHE  AEBERA
J& M 18 7K B9 51 % AR HE - T /B 1S
SR A BN E K H 49% A%
B o AN AEEHERBE LA L
BE REMEKERKDERR
% NEBAEARMZELATERE
50% B & T¥%  LEVSM BB
ATIREID i - REAARE
207,356,8007T - A EEE IR
HESUHZMEIEERA 2
NEEHBEEER ZMABIAL
SN E2MEZYIEE M BEE
REE o JbHh  RYIZERERER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

31. Provisions (continued)

(c) (continued)

Guangzhou Shangshui is accounted for as wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group and the two independent
parties has provided part of the land consideration at
RMB207,356,800 to the Group to develop the property
project in return to have 50% completed properties.
Accordingly, the potential development expenditure
and other attributable expenses for the development of
properties to be incurred to complete the development of
the 50% completed properties to be delivered to the two
independent parties is accounted for as provision of the
Group in respect of the cost of the land.

32. Deferred Taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

31.

32.

Bt ()

) (&)

BN # k5] AL B HE T A 2= & Rt
BRA MABBILATERARN
EEEHIED T ARBERYE
HE - KER AR 207,356,800
TT - EEUARUS 50% BB T - B
It EKBERERN TREE L
ATHI50% B35 T2 00 H)
ERREBTHERAI REMEGER
X 551 VEAN &= B Bt 4 b pX 28 BT 1 1%
1 o

IESERIE

IEEMBMARANEINEEMS
FTEERAEERABCHERN -
AT RRRE# &R E R EER IS
BROAT

2015 2014
—E-1F —T-MmF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Deferred tax assets FIETH IR B
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIBEE

(171,134) (150,763)
454,100 340,545
282,966 189,782
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

32. Deferred Taxation (continued) 32. IEZEBIE ()
The deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised by the Group and NEFBREZANEEHRE(EE) AERHE
movements thereon during the year are as follows: RERNESHINT -
Change in Undistributed
fair value of  Revaluation eamings Other
investment of of PRC temporary
properties properties Taxlosses  subsidiaries differences Total
RENE HEHEAR Hitr
ATES®  EfNE  HEFE AOKBR  ENEHR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR%Tn AR%Trn ARETR ARETT AR%TR
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-ME—A—H 273,246 33,671 (81,187) 30,000 (42,154) 13576
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary (note 38b] B A E—RIHBAR (i 38b) - - 1,589 = = 1,589
Charge to consolidated statement RraEakAMEE
of profit or loss and other KasERAmZ i (FE10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 20,476 - 62,366) - 16,507 (25,383)
At 31 December 2014 W-E-ME+-A=+—H 293,122 33,671 (141,964) 30,000 (25,647) 189,782
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 37) WERHE AR (M 37) - - (26,643) - - (26,643)
Deemed disposal of subsidlaries (note 380) R AL ERBA R (FizE38h) - - 21,012 - - 21,012
Charge to consolidated statement RERBRREMEE
of profit or loss and other Wakmz i (it 10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 122,679 - 6,781 - (30,645) 98,815
At31 December 2015 RZE-EET-A=1—H 6,401 33,671 (140,814) 30,000 (56,292) 282,966

Other temporary differences mainly include the deductible
temporary differences in respect of the land appreciation
tax provision amounting to RMB68,586,000 (2014:
RMB42,342,000).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB1,067,436,000 (2014: RMB981,203,000) available to offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been reversed
in respect of RMB 563,255,000 (2014: RMB567,855,000) of
such tax losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax losses of RMB504,181,000
(2014: RMB413,348,000) of the past five years due to the
unpredictability of future profits streams.
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EMmEREZTZCEEH g
BERBEGEZANREREZBARYE
68,586,000t ( — T — W &F: AR
42,342,0007T) °

R—ZZE—FRAE+-_A=+—8" &
EEREEEOADATREEEARK
1,067,436,0007t( —ZF — W &F: AR
#981,203,0007T) - A A {EH $H K 2K 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

33. Senior Notes and Bonds

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes

On 23 November 2012, the Company issued senior notes in
an aggregate principal amount of US$125,000,000 (the “2012
Notes"”). The issue price was 97.83% of the principal amount of
the 2012 Notes.

On 28 January 2013, the Company issued additional senior
notes (the “2013 Notes"”) in an aggregate principal amount of
US$100,000,000. The issue price was 106.668% of the principal
amount of the 2013 Notes and plus accrued interest from (and
including) 23 November 2012 to (but excluding) 28 January
2013.

Both 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes are listed on the SEHK. Both
2012 Notes and 2013 Notes carry interest at of 13.875% per
annum and interest is payable semi-annually on 23 May and
23 November in arrears. The 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes will
mature on 23 November 2017, unless redeemed earlier. At any
time and from time to time on or after 23 November 2015,
the Company may redeem the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes, in
whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the percentage
of the principal amount of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
redeemed set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest (if
any) to (but not including) the redemption date, if redeemed
during the twelve month period beginning on 23 November of
each year set forth below:

33.

BREBRES
—E-—FEBR-_E-=FFE

R-_ZE——F+—A=-+=H' ' A2 A
(TR 4E%E 45 125,000,000 LB L E
BIZZ2—=FFg])  -BTER=-Z
——FEBAREEFEI7.83% °

RZFE—=F—A=+N\B ' A28EE
MEBETEEZER(_T—=FZFK])
A& #8585 100,000,000 % T » HITEA
ZE——FEBAELE2106.668% F
ME—ZT——F+—A=-+=B(B¥E%
RE=ZE—=F—A=+\H{ETE
1E% A ) ZEEFIS -

TR —EEREL T -—E£ZEHN
EBBMI LT —E——FEER
T =FERHYETF13.875% & -
BB EESH+FHRRAA=ZT+=H
R+—AZ+=A% - BRIFERTE
B BRIZFE——FEZBE-_FT—=F
EEHENR_ZTE—tF+—A=+=83%
H o RRRIAIEBER =T —HF+— A
T =Bz BEER R TRZ T CET
NEDEHER-Z——FZER_F
—=FEBASENEOL) ZNEE
ERHBA(ETREZB) B RARTH
MBE(WE) (MR TXARSFEE+—
AZ+=HBRA%BH 1+ =& A8 8FEKER )
2R, ELN T ——FEER T

—=FEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued) 33. BAEERES (&)

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes (continued)

—E-_HRER-F-=FEE
(%)

Redemption Price

Period A fBO(E
2015 —FT—RF 106.93750%
2016 —E—RF 103.46875%

At any time prior to 23 November 2015, the Company will be
entitled at its option to redeem both 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes
in whole but not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of
the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus the applicable
premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the
Company dated 14 November 2012 (“Applicable Premium”) as
of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including)
the redemption date.

Applicable Premium is the greater of (i) 1% of the principal
amount of such 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes and (ii) the excess
of (A) the present value at such redemption date of the
redemption price of such 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes on 23
November 2015, plus all required remaining scheduled interest
payments due on such Notes through 23 November 2015 (but
excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date),
computed using a discount rate equal to comparable treasury
price in United States plus 100 basis points, over (B) the
principal amount of such Notes on such redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 23 November
2015, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2012 Notes and 2013 Notes with the
net cash proceeds of one or more sales of ordinary shares
of the Company in an equity offering at a redemption price of
113.875% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date.
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T-=FFEBARSE 1% K (i) (A)1EH
—ECHFERR T -=FEERC
E-hAFt+— A +t=HZERENZ
EBEOHHCsRE SNMEE_Z—HF
T—AZ+=BEEMBRBHIHTH
EAE (ETRIEEE%ZED B HE 2 B
EAREFE) - REER A L REBEE
B ZBIRR B I 100 AESHE - BE
BIRZECBH 2 EEAESB LIRS
%o

AABAIN-_E—RHF+—A=-+=H
BIBER R N A — IR % IR N E AR F]
LTRRCFABHReNIBFE  THIRE
EAREFE113.876% MERIE - ZNEE
BRI HBR(ETREZB) WES AR
FME(WE) BEEE-_ZT——FFE
RZZE—=FRBEASHLEEIY% °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes (continued)

On 25 November 2015, the Company redeemed an aggregate
principal amount of US$112,500,000 of 2012 Notes and
2013 Notes, representing 50% of the principal amount of
US$225,000,000, at a redemption price equal to 106.93750%
of the principal amount thereof together with all accrued and
unpaid interest.

2014 Notes

On 17 January 2014, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$300,000,000 (the “2014
Notes”). The issue price was 99.254% of the principal amount
of the 2014 Notes.

2014 Notes are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “SEHK"). 2014 Notes are secured, carry interest at
rate of 11.25% per annum and interest is payable semi-annually
on 17 January and 17 July in arrears. The 2014 Notes will mature
on 17 January 2019, unless redeemed earlier. At any time and
from time to time on or after 17 January 2017 the Company may
redeem the 2014 Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to the percentage of the principal amount of the
2014 Notes redeemed set forth below plus accrued and unpaid
interest (if any) to (but not including) the redemption date, if
redeemed during the twelve month period beginning on 17
January of each year at the price set forth below:

Period EAfE

33.

BERERES (&)

—E-_HRER-F-=FEE
(%)

RZE—RAF+—A=+HB ' AQF
BRN T ——FEER-_T—=FF
BRI EANERE 4 112,500,0005 T + 18
BN R4 %8225,000,0005E7T250% © B&
EESNEAETEZ 106.93750% 3 INFT
BREFTARMFIE -

—E-NERE

RZZT—NE—HA++tH - AAFET
7K & 48 %8 /300,000,000 T Z B £ &
BIZZ—WEEE]) - BTER-ZT
—HFEEARSFZ 99.254% ©

T NFEEBRBBMERINER
Nal([BBERA]) e ZF—MF
ERAEEMERFELEN11.25%  WREF
—ATtEBEREATEBEFFEIN—
Ko _E—MFERKNR_T—NF—
AT+tRHEH - RFEELASERR o
AAFAEER-_Z—+E—A++H8
ol 2 BB R AR R T XE Y A IE B B
(HERZZ—NEFEBRAEENE D
L) SmEEER BBR(ET8EZE)
FEET RANBFE (E) (HRSFE—
At+tBREM+ =@ ABRERE IX
HIWEKRED) - 2EsHoER _—F
—ERIE

Redemption Price
fEEIE

2017
2018 and thereafter

—E—+tF
—E-\FRHEE

105.6250%
102.8125%
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2014 Notes (continued)

At any time prior to 17 January 2017, the Company will be
entitled at its option to redeem the 2014 Notes in whole but
not in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the 2014 Notes redeemed plus the applicable
premium as defined in the offering memorandum of the
Company dated 10 January 2014 (“Applicable Premium”) as of,
and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date.

Applicable Premium is the greater of (a) 1% of the principal
amount of such and (b) the excess of (A) the present value
at such redemption date of the redemption price of such
2014 Notes on 17 January 2017 plus all required remaining
scheduled interest payments due on such 2014 Notes through
17 January 2017 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to
the redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal
to comparable treasury price in United States plus 100 basis
points, over (B) the principal amount of such Notes on such
redemption date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 17 January 2017, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal
amount of the 2014 Notes at a redemption price of 111.25% of
the principal amount of the 2014 Notes redeemed, plus accrued
and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption
date.
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33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2015 Private Notes

On 1 April 2015, the Company issued private notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$100,000,000 (the “2015
Private Notes”) to Harbor Sure (HK) Investment Limited. The
2015 Private Notes carry interest at rate of 9.25% per annum
and handling fee at rate of 2.55% per annum. Both the interest
and handling fee are payable quarterly on 1 January, 1 April,
1 July and 1 October of each year, commencing 1 July 2015.
The 2015 Private Notes will mature on 1 April 2018, unless
redeemed earlier. At any time and from time to time on or after 1
April 2015, the Company may redeem the 2015 Private Notes, in
whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the percentage
of the principal amount of the 2015 Private Notes redeemed set
forth below, if redeemed on or before 1 April 2018, and each
period set forth below:

33. BREREBRES (&)

—E-AFAERE

R-_ZE—AFWMA—B " ARAAIR
IE(EB)REBRARBETACEAR
100,000,000 T2 BERE ([ = —H
FREZEE]) - _E—AFELEEHR
FEH*9.25% & B R ILF | 2 2.55% U
DMFESE - FERFEBEHE-_T—H
FLtA—BRBFEEFEMN—A—A8 -
mMA—HB -tA—BE+tA—BXff-
“E-REAEEBRHER - N\FMN
A—BEH  REEDASERGR - &
AEEER-_E—RENA—HRY
B BERS R NEFIRAE {8 (AEE R T X HT
W_E-—RFLEERASENESL)
(WR=—Z—N\FMA—HkaER)
2R EHELR - HAEAEER
K HEER T X

Period HiR Redemption Price

BEEE
On or Before 1 April 2016 ZE—NFEA—HZZA 105.90%
2 April 2016 to 1 April 2017 —E—RNFUNA-HE-_ZT—+FMNA—H 102.95%
2 April 2017 to 1 April 2018 —E—tFNA_HE_ZE—/\FWUA—H 100.00%

At any time, the Company shall be entitled at its option to
redeem the Notes, in whole or in part, at redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes redeemed plus
the applicable premium as of, and accrued and unpaid interest if
any, to (but not including), the redemption date.

2015 Notes

On 26 May 2015, the Company issued senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$250,000,000 (the “2015
Notes"”). 2015 Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX"). The 2015 Notes are secured,
carry interest at rate of 10.875% per annum and interest is
payable semi-annually on 26 May and 26 November of each
year, commencing from 26 November 2015. The 2015 Notes will
mature on 26 May 2018 unless redeemed earlier.

AABIEREERIEREREEINZER
BeRrAeRNBERENE=EEH S
(ETBREZB)NEREERRT K
MRS (E) 2B EH P BEZERE

“E-LFRE

R-ZBE—RAERA=-+/"B KA 7
77 78 & %8 4 250,000,000 3 T 2 18 & =
BIZZ2—hFER])  —ZT—1FF
BRI MER (R £ e
TR EEBREERM  BEMNEK
10.875% 8 RBEZZ—AF+—A
T+ ABRFNEREFARAZT AR
T—AZTREX s ZE-—RFRE
BR=ZZE—NFRAZF/SHEH &
FERIRISE R °
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BERERES (&)

33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued) 33.

2015 Notes (continued)

At any time and from time to time prior to 26 May 2018, the
Company may redeem up to 35% of the 2015 Notes, at a
redemption price of 110.875% of their principal amount, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but not including) the
redemption date.

At any time prior to 26 May 2018, the Company may at its
option to redeem the 2015 Notes, in whole but not in part, at
a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2015 Notes plus the applicable premium as defined in the
offering memorandum of the Company dated 18 May 2015
("Applicable Premium”) as of, and accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, to (but not including) the redemption date.

“Applicable Premium™ is the greater of (i) 1% of the principal
amount of 2015 Notes and (i) the excess of (A) the present
value at such redemption date of the redemption price of
such 2015 Notes on 26 May 2018, plus all required remaining
scheduled interest payments due on such 2015 Note through
May 26, 2018 (but excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the
redemption date), computed using a discount rate equal to the
comparable treasury rate plus 100 basis points, over (B) the
principal amount of such 2015 Note on the redemption date.

2015 Listed Corporate Bonds

On 31 July 2015, Aoyuan Group issued domestic corporate
bonds in an aggregate principal of RMB2,400,000,000 (the
“2015 Listed Corporate Bonds™). The issue price was 100.00%
of the principal amount of 2015 Listed Corporate Bonds.

2015 Listed Corporate Bonds are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (the “SSE"), which are unsecured, carry interest at
rate of 5.8% per annum and interest is payable annually on 30
July 2015 in arrears. 2015 Listed Corporate Bonds will mature on
29 July 2018.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]

—E-TERE )

NRZE-N\FRA-+/"BZAIRERE R
T RARIAMEE AR S5 110.875% HY
BERENEZER RS (BETEEZA)
2 RARNF S (E) BE &% 35% B
—E-RFZEE

RAARBEAEENR_Z—-—/N\FHA
Z+ AR BASER_E-—LFER
RE& 58 100% HRERIE S s 2 E R 3 H
(BETEEZA) MEREE(EAAFH
HE-_ZT—RAFRAA+/\BNEEES
SATAE) (EARE]) REZEER A
BT RARSEFIE (E) - =21 IE
BoER —TE—AFER -

[ERAEE] B T AFZBELALHE
ZI1%EMHA ZE—RAEEEN_F
—N\EFREAZH+ AEMNERENZEE
HEZHE SNMEE=Z—N\FHA
—t+tABEBN - ZE—RAFEEREIH
BTHEFNE (ETBEEEEZER B
ZIEET RANFE) SR A LERE
BB EERE 2 FE S0 100 EESFTE
B B)RERHR, —E—AFERER
CHEIBRE °

—E-IFLHARES

R-Z—HFLtA=+—0 RE4£HE
BITAER%E A AR 2,400,000,000 7T
ZEAREREE(-E—HELHAT
E5])  BITEBA-_ZE—HFLHTAF
& ANE 52 100.00% °

—ET-RAFEMRREFRLEERSFR
ST LR £ e —E—RF LH
NEMEFEER  1256.8% 2 FHEE
BREBAESFHARANR_FT—AFtA
=tTHXft . ZE—RAF ETREES
BR_E—N\FLA-thBEH-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

2015 Private Corporate Bonds

On 23 October 2015, Aoyuan Group issued domestic corporate
bonds of RMB1,500,000,000 with a term of three years (the
2015 Private Corporate Bonds”). 2015 Private Corporate Bonds
are secured by the Company, carry interest at rate of 7.8%
per annum and interest is payable annually, commencing 21
October 2015. The 2015 Private Corporate Bonds will mature on
20 October 2018 unless the bonds holders sell back the bonds
to Aoyuan Group earlier.

Aoyuan Group is entitled to adjust the interest rate on 21
October 2017, 20 days prior to the second interest repayment
date. Upon the adjustment, bonds holders may at their options
(“put options”) to sell back 2015 Private Corporate Bonds to
Aoyuan Group in whole or in part at face value of their principal
amount within three working days from 21 October 2017.

The 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2014 Notes, 2015 Private Notes,
2015 Notes and 2015 Private Corporate Bonds are all contained
a liability component and the early redemption options or put
options:

(@)  Liability component represents the present value of the
contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that
time applicable to instruments of comparable credit status
and providing substantially the same cash flows, on the
same terms, but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of approximately 16.84%,
11.60%, 11.93%, 11.95%, 11.96%, 6.23% and 8.36%
per annum to the liability component respectively since
the 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2014 Notes, 2015 Private
Notes, 2015 Notes, 2015 Listed Corporate Bonds and 2015
Private Corporate Bonds were issued.

33.

BERBRES (&)
—E-RFAELQFAES

R-Z—RFE+A-+=0 RELH
%17 A R #1,500,000,000 7T = 4F £ 15
RAEIEH(ZE—RAFLEQAAE
) ZE—RAFALBERAEFHAR
BRI - H78% 2 FEMKRFE - B
BE-ZE—hFE+tA-T—HAREEAL
HFE - RIEEFFEARERESE
BTFRESEE SRIZZE—AFLER
REFBR=_ZE—N\F+A=+HEH -

REEEARR B —tFET At —
A(E-@FREERM0E) BEH
E o RIEIRBEE  EAB—LET
A=t—BEH=EIFAR B
B AT R (E LR ) BA2 8
HEB -2 AFEREATNES2 B
BHEETREEE -

“ECHERE T =FFE - =
T—EEE . T -FFELEZE -
TE-REERER-ZE—REALERAT
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FRMEAEEBHEZZE——F
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—E-hEEE T -—RFE
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AIEFEITURD AR ERF A=
4916.84% * 11.60% ~ 11.93% -
11.95% ~ 11.96%  6.23% }2.8.36%
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33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued) 33.

(@)  (continued)
The movement of the liability component in above Notes
and Corporate Bonds during the year is set out below:

BERERES (&)

(@ (%)
FPRARBERABEHFEEHNDNF
MEEHAT -

2015 2014
—E-EHF —T—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Carrying amount as at 1 January R—A—HEmE

Proceeds received B TS FUE

Exchange loss bE 5 &5 18

Interest expenses FBERXZ

Interest paid to notes holder B BENEEREATRE

Partial redemption of 2012 B BRI T FFK
Notes and 2013 Notes RZT—=FFE

Carrying amount as at 31 December A+ H=+—HKMAE

(b)  Early redemption options and put options are regarded
as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host
contract. The executive directors consider that the fair
value of the above early redemption options and put
options is insignificant at initial recognition date, 31
December 2014 and 31 December 2015.
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3,256,986 1,370,567
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33. Senior Notes and Bonds (continued)

The fair value of above Notes and Corporate Bonds as at 31

December 2015 are set out below:

33. BREREBRES (&)

FRAZBERRARESFN _FT—AF+=
A=+—BZRFEHRAT :

2015 2014

—E-hF —E—mE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARETTT

2012 Notes and 2013 Notes TR CEERRCT——FER 779,841 1,463,151
2014 Notes —TNERE 2,062,530 1,765,177
2015 Private Notes T -RFLEFEER 1,698,482 NEA
2015 Notes —E-hEER 657,867 ANE
2015 Listed Corporate Bonds ZE-RF FMRRIES 2,464,800 i
2015 Private Corporate Bonds —E-RFLELARES 1,511,670 NEA
9,175,190 3,228,328

Fair value of 2012 Notes, 2013 Notes, 2014 Notes, 2015 Notes
and 2015 Listed Corporate Bonds are calculated by using the

market price at the end of reporting date (or the nearest day
of trading). Fair value of 2015 Private Notes and 2015 Private
Corporate Bonds are calculated by using Binomial model. The

variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value are

based on the executive director’s best estimate.

“E-CHERER T =FFE - =
TNEER T HGEEBER-F
—hF LT ARESHRFETIRRER
EER(EIFERHH) 2T HERE
He _T—hFABEEBER=FT—HF
LERAEHFNAFERA ZEBEAER
HE FEATEREANZEE REBH

TIRBATES 2 &I -
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34. Share Capital of the Company

34. RATRAK

Number of shares Amount
e x|
HK$'000
FETT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BAREEO0.01 BT AR
Authorised: SETE ¢
At 1 January 2014 and 31 December RZZE—WFE—A—B&K
2014 and 31 December 2015 “E-MFF+=A=+—HBkK
“T-hF+-B=1+—H 100,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITREE :
At 1 January 2014 R-Z—NFE—H—H 2,782,845,354 27828
Exercise of shares options TR 1,000,000 10
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RIZ-—MER-ZT—FEF
+-A=+—H 2,783,845,354 27838
2015 2014
—ZE-EHF —ET—mEF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Shown in the consolidated RERE TSRKR ZE5

financial statements

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no share option

(2014:1,000,000) were exercised. These shares rank pari passu

in all respects with other shares in issue.
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35. Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries disclosed in note 27, amount due to a related party
disclosed in note 28, amounts due to joint ventures disclosed in
note 29, bank and other borrowings disclosed in note 30, senior
notes and bonds disclosed in note 33, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The management of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the management of the
Company assess budgets of major property projects taking into
account of the provision of fundings. Based on the operating
budgets, the executive directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital
and balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-back as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

35.

EXERER

AEEEBRHER  UBRRKAEEANE
ERBEANFERLE T AEE R
TN 8 i BUE 5 AR AN S £R 2 Rl SR Y
FamaRRFRZEALR - 8 EFINA
Ko AEBEOERRIEESTE -

AEEZERNGEBERABEFE B
i 5 27 P45 55 18 <1 B B8 X B) 2 FEFE AR A
RARIA - MIFE 28 PTIR BB e — R BE
AR - M 29 T RBREN & 2B EK
B - MEES0 P BEIRIT R E M AR - B
ABARBEEALRERES - HIKRE
RREEEY  ARARBBRERSE A
FefnEs (BREERA - HERREER)

ARAREEEERRAEANEE - ER
WIERA . — 8D AAREEENG
ARWBRBZRAE YERBMERZE
T ARAHTEERELERE - =
BEARARBEZENEABR 2
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EIfE  BITHEXBLREGEH FEHE
BZENRE -

Annual Report 2015 & —FAEME#R

201



h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

202

36. Financial Instruments

(a)

(b)

36. €T H

Categories of financial instruments (a) £@TEER
2015 2014
—E-REF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TF T ARETIT
Financial assets SMEE
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 75,000 25,000
Loans and receivables (including ER K R GRIE
cash and cash equivalents) (BiERESRREEED) 12,265,434 7.195,695
Financial liabilities sRas
Amortised cost IR 23,007,065 15,238,871
Financial guarantee contracts BISERE XY 9,239,591 8,693,677
Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIBERESEEEREE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, related parties and joint
ventures, restricted bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amounts due to non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, a related party
and joint ventures, bank and other borrowings, senior
notes and bonds and financial guarantee contracts.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (interest rate
risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

0]

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
related primarily to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate
risk related primarily to fixed-rate bank and other
borrowings, interest bearing portion of amounts due
to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and
senior notes. The Group currently does not enter
any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to fair
value interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to cash flow interest rate
risk for its variable-rate bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The restricted bank deposits
and bank balances are not included in the sensitivity
analysis as the management of the Group considers
that the interest rate fluctuation is minimal. The
analysis is prepared assuming the variable rate bank
borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
(2014: 50) basis points increase or decrease is used
when reporting cash flow interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the possible change
in interest rate.

36. €@ T A (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)

(i)

FIERB

Z’K’i .ﬁ%/}lb%iﬁj TJ—HZ»A
EHEEFBRITER  XR
HERTTI7 5 &fE KEERERE -

ﬁﬁlﬁﬁ"?@ﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁ\
EEMRIT REA G
%\HWE Al IR R
FREZG RO REERZRE
B - NEBAB A EET L
Eﬂ*'JTTﬁHﬂ%JJFPEZ A =

BB AT BEERAS
gﬁ%ﬁ%%)ﬁ%i*iﬁﬂ%@
BT

ATHREDIT T ER @S
HRZERITERZBEMR
FEREREE - ZRHIRT
TFRRBITHRBARTEER
EIEERRFE R BRI
WA BERBURMEDT © %
DT TR R WS AR E R
IRITIER M AREE BN
FERMAREEMMBE - ME
gEﬁ/\EW*BEWL@%?ﬁ
) 2= @ B B FTER AR 50 (=
— P4 50) BB RYIZR - TJQ
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{EH RIRTAS ©
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

0]

(i)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rates had been 50 (2014: 50) basis points
higher/lower with all other variables were held
constant and excluding the effect of capitalisation
of interest, the Group's profit for the year ended
31 December 2015 would decrease/increase by
RMB13,914,000 (2014: decrease/increase by
RMB23,039,000).

Foreign currency risk

The Group's transactions were mainly conducted
in RMB, the functional currency of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and its major receivables and
payables are denominated in RMB. The Group is
subject to foreign exchange rate risk arising from
the assets and liabilities which are denominated in
currency other than the functional currency of the
relevant group entity. The majority of the Group’s
foreign currency transactions and balances are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rates.
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(b) BIBEBREERFEREE
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36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities include
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and bank
balances at the end of respective reporting period
and the carrying amounts are as follows:

m—E—FEF = A= —HIFEE

36. €@ T A (&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)

(ii) SMEmEE (F)
REBREHREHRAINE
JHEMEBEEMRER AR

(BFERITREMER - B
SBRRIRITHESR) REREESR
T

2015 2014
—EB-EHF —T—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETIT
Assets BE
Hong Kong dollars BIT 126,418 85,471
United States dollars ETT 4,982 210,142
Liabilities aE
Hong Kong dollars BIT - 632,664
United States dollars e 6,221,279 3,256,157
Sensitivity analysis HREE T

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2014: 5%) increase and decrease in the
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. The
sensitivity rates used represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in profit for the year where
RMB strengthens 5% (2014: 5%) against the
relevant currency. For a 5% (2014: 5%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would be
an equal and opposite impact on the profit and the
balances below would be negative.

TRFAMAEEHARKER
HEINEE R AR TR
5% (= — M :5%) 1
BRRE - TR Z2BERETY
REBEEHEERNEIDE
TEFEATIERETE o NIIIE
HRMAFE & AEARE
HABEINEER EA5% (=
T — P4 5%) B 38 A0 EY)
B - ARM ZBBEINE R E
RETHEE%(ZE—MHF
5%) + BIZR 2 % A % 2
ERERRNTE  MAT
ERERAE -
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

36. €@ T A (4&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE
(%)

(ii) SMEmEE (F)

BRI ()
2015 2014
—E-hF —E—mEF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETIT

Hong Kong Dollars BT

(Loss) profit for the year FE (F8E) = H
United States dollars ETT

Profit for the year FERF
Credit risk

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

o the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position;
and

o the amount of contingent liabilities in relation

to financial guarantees issued by the Group as
disclosed in note 39.

206 China Aoyuan Property Group Limited H 28 5 ] i 2 4 18 B4y A TR A 7

(6,321) 27459
310,815 154,927
FERE

RZE—RAF+ZA=+—
B BEFHRERITEE
RAEBERMH WM BER
SAEESEUBBREAZE
SEERBR VAL N&EMm
BE

o  RAMBARKRAEI
RECHERTREEN
RREE &

o MEE39PTINEEHALE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The concentration of credit risk in respect of trade
receivables is minimal as no customers represent
more than 5% of the total trade receivables as at 31
December 2015 and 2014.

In order to minimise the credit risk of debts, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the
end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the executive directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies or
state-owned banks in the PRC.

The Group also exposes to concentration of credit
risk in respect of amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries, related parties and
joint ventures at the amount of RMB26,534,000
(2014:RMB21,014,000), RMB221,992,000 (2014:
RMB196,582,000) and RMB257,309,000 (2014
RMB151,955,000) respectively.

36. €@ T A (4&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(ii) SMEmEE (F)

FERR (&)

W-F-AFR-F-MF
+ZA=t—8 - ERERE
B (R SR E% M
b WSO R
BBREEAS -

RBES 2 EERBRREE R
1’ - $'§IE£$E§AE*
TEREEEEEERSE -
EEEHMREMERRERT
LA R B £ B BR 3 F e W 2]
BHETS o AN - ANEE TR
R 45 HA R 25 B &5 18 (8 Rl &
B2 Al &5 - BIRE B
AU [El & BB FH IR 2 S0 R
BEEE - BRULmME @ XA F
WITEERR A5EBZE
ERBREAZRR

HREF A RESBEERT
FRBETREETRHR
TR EEART - AR
BESHNEERBRER -

REBNTRERHERRZ
3H AR RS R R0 - e Uk R &
/TJ\IE&FE” E\Mﬁé%a’%\
I,E o Bl A R #26,534,000
T(ZE—mWFE: AR
21,014,0007C )+ A R #
221,992,000 7T(=ZF—PY4F :
AR #196,582,0007T) & A
R #¥257,309,0007T( = &
—P4F . AR# 151,955,000
7T) ME RS EEREE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and the flexibility
through the use of borrowings. The executive
directors of the Company closely monitor the
liquidity position and expect to have adequate
sources of funding to finance the Group's property
projects and operations.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. Specifically, bank and other
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]
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(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)

(ii)

SHE/RE ()

RBEEERE

rEBZBRTVERERE
B BBESNEBENEE
A2 TR o KR A
TEEZYEARBESR
o XTTERPRERENES
KIRAB/AEENIAR M &
BRHUED -

TREAJAEETESR
BENRIGE OB HRM -
RN EREBERMAR
ERERAEE A EWE
REENRFARRELER
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BEIGRRZRIT REAER
TEFAZRERER - MAH
RITREARERTERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

36. €@ T A (4&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

policies (continued) (&)
(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued) (ii) SME/EFE (4E)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE SR (&)
Liquidity tables THEELFK
On demand
Weighted ~ onless Total  Total
average  than60 61180  181-365 12 23 Over3 undiscounted ~ camrying
interest rate days days days years years years  cashflow  amount
nE #E%Y AHAER &
TEHE  ReOAR 61Z100A WEWSA -ERE  REZE ZENL  RENR  BEE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETn ARETR ARMTn ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR
2015 Z5-1F
Trade and other payables BRI - 1813481 1554413 1205344 362696 155441 - 5181375 5181375
Amounts due to ot ventures Efiagatse - BT - - - - - 113287 1123287
Amounts due to non-controling ERHEADEARER
shareholders of subsidiaries R - 104728 - - - - - 104728 104728
Bank and other borrowings B % B8 21380 1008206 4212630 2000027 225380 10,241,903 7373.297
Senior notes and bonds BrZiEREs 038% 129794 296635 404791 3060419 5156873 2088560 11107072 8,924,378
Other payable (or-curent] EHERSEGETD) - - - - 300000 - - 300000 300000
Financial quarantee BiER - 0230591 - - - - - 9239591 -
TOTAL &t 12950062 4022428 2793431 7935745  T312.341 2283949 37297956 23,007,065
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ - E—AFE 1+ - H=+—HILFZF

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

36. €@ T A (4&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

policies (continued) (&)
Foreign currency risk (continued) (ii) SMEREE (4)
Liquidity risk (continued) RENE SR (&)
Liquidity tables (continued) THEEL X (E)
On demand
Weighted ~~ onless Totdl  Total
aerage  than60 61180 181365 12 23 Over3 undlscounted  carrying
Interest rate days days days years years years  cashflow  amount
Mg HE aitAR A
TONE  RG0RA GIZIG0R BIERCR -EWE BEZFE =HNL  ReRe AR
RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMB'OO0  RMBO00 RMBO00
NRETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
24 ERE
Tradg and other payables R RAENT - 123861 1040462 867044 242772 104045 - 346817 34681H
Amounts ol o FENHEATEARSR
non-controling shareholders FA(%8)
of subsidiaries (interest-freg) - 153008 - - - - - 153008 13,008
Amounts dus to non-controling ENHEAREARER
Shareholders of subsidiaries B ()
(interest-bearing) 000% 44000 - - - - - 44000 44000
Amount due to.a reated party FEN-HRENTE - 19098 - - - - - 19098 19,098
Amount due toa joint venture Efi-HagtsE - 5730 - - - - - EI30 E7300
Bank and other borrowings BRAER 945% 961220 1389007 2553943 2003698 1672337 409219 8959484 8240305
Senior notes BrsE 3% 66515 193030 199545 399090 1768968 2071467 4638615 3256986
Finencial quaranee HHER - 86T - - - - - 86%ET -
TOTAL 5 11208679 2532489 3620532 2645560 3545350 2480746 26,033,356 15238871
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the “on demand or less
than 60 days “
analysis. As at 31 December 2015, the aggregate

time band in the above maturity

undiscounted principal amounts of these bank
borrowings amounted to RMB331,901,000 (2014:
RMB597513,000). Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the management of the Company
does not believe that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The management of the
Company believes that such bank loans will be
repaid ranging from 1 to 3 years after the reporting
date in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements. At that
time, the aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows will amount to RMB339,917,000 (2014
RMB663,214,000).

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group
could be required to settle under the arrangement
for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.
Based on expectations at the end of the reporting
period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject
to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which
is a function of the likelihood that the financial
receivables held by the counterparty which are
guaranteed suffer credit losses.

36. €@ T A (4&)

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

(%)

(ii)

SHE/RE ()

RBESRER (H)

Mt B R EREBGRZRT
BRTBIER LA EE A 5
Mz [#EERKN60R A |
FE#SERN - R=ZT—AF
+ZA=+—H  hFRT
BERZARUBACBEAA
R #331,901,0007t( = &
—m4 - AR® 597,513,000
7)o Ft RAK B M B A
o ARREIEEHEEET
PAABEITEEMBREEK
BB EE - ARREEEM
5 ZERITERBIEMNU
TERBHAB B EERA
HREMEBMREIEIF
BE-EF AXeLFERA
BHeTEHEBEARARE
339,917,000 0 (= — 4 :
AE# 663,214,000 7T) °

EXHBENOMBERE RR
HAREREFHEBERNKA
o ANEER %i,\ffﬁ'ﬁ)fzz?it
BERBEREENRSE
B REXRBEHRNE
H  AEERR WAL

B AR R & B XA E [ R
e AT RBRMGEHREF
TIRBRERRELRENTTRE
HEMmES - IR EF T
B B E RO B 75 B Wk IR
EXEEBRNAEEZ —
I -
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

36. Financial Instruments (continued) 36. €T A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

(b) BIBEBREERFEREE

policies (continued)

(i)  Foreign currency risk (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest
rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities
are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

(c) Fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2014
and 31 December 2015 except for the senior notes and
corporate bonds issued by the Company, for which its
carrying amount and fair value (based on the ask price in
SEHK,SGX and SSE) are disclosed below:

(c)

(%)
(i) SHEmBE (4)
FBELRR ()

1455 B9 ) 2 4 B 3R 45 1
KEEZFREH AR B
FRFRAIENTESRA R
REBHETANTEES -

AT

AN ER B Ak AN B B B S K ARSI BR Y
CHMTAZERAMERR-Z—NF
TZA=1T—BEk=ZE—R"F+=
AZ+—B®HWAFELIESEAZE
2 EARARFETHNELEZERA
AEFKRIN ZEBAEBERAR]
BHFEMEEERAFEGRERS
BERPT - FTR TR ERFTRE L E
HE)HREEAT

2015 2015 2014 2014

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

—Z2-EF —Z-IF —ZT—mEF —T—mF

RREE AYE BREE NYHE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBTT ARETTT ARETTT

Senior notes and bonds  BEEERES 8,924,378 9,175,190 3,256,986 3,228,328

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than senior notes and bonds) of the Group is
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The
carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

37. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2015

(a)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
acquired 100% equity interest of B8 EETIER
fR A 7lJiaoling Construction Engineering Company
Limited (“Jiaoling Construction”) with consideration of
RMB6,650,000. Jiaoling Construction obtains several
construction qualifications and licences in the PRC, which
allows it to carry out construction engineering project
works in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
acquired 55% equity interest of EFu BN EHEMES
fRAFGuangxi Hanlin Property Development Company
Limited (“Guangxi Hanlin”), which holds 100% equity
interest of 2 M EN 5 B b E R AR A RIAnhui Qinlian
Property Development Company Limited (“Anhui
Qinlian”), Z# M EEMERZEGR A FAnhui Hande
Property Development Company Limited (“Anhui
Hande") & & #ZEFHERZE AR A28 Anhui Hanhua
Property Development Company Limited (“Anhui
Hanhua") and=# &2 EtERZE AR A FAnhui Qinjian
Property Development Company Limited (“Anhui
Qinjian”), respectively, from an independent third party
with cash consideration of RMB110,000,000. Amount due
to a non-controlling shareholder of RMB536,850,000 was
derecognised and credited to paid-in capital of Guangxi
Hanlin as capital contribution from the non-controlling
shareholder. The aforesaid subsidiaries are principally
engaged in property development which hold properties
under development in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
acquired 90% equity interest of KM EFERE M E
HEAGR A7, Zhuhai Puhua Property Development
Company Limited (“Zhuhai Puhua”) which holds 100%
equity interest of KBMIEEEFEABR AT Zhuhai Meixi
Property Company Limited (“Meixi Property”) with cash
consideration of RMB136,000,000. Meixi Property is
principally engaged in property development which holds
a parcel of land situated in Zhuhai, the PRC.

37. WEMB AR

BE_—F-aF1-A=1+—AILFE

(a)

REE—T—RAF+=-A=1+—8
LEFE  AREREEEGEET
BRAERAA ([EEEE]) K 100%
fx# - KB " A K %6,650,000
T BEEETTRESZSBERE
BEERER  AIEFRBENERET
12IEE L °

REBEE_ZT—RAF+=-A=1+—H
LEFE  ARER—BBLE=FH
WHEERABMNENERZEERA
A(EEBK] - 2RFERRE
KEWEREZEAERAR(ZEY
B ZEBEESHERBEERAD
a([2RBE])  ZRBEREHE
FEARAF ([ ZRBE]) KL
HEEMEREBR AT ([ ZHE
2 1)H9100% A ) #)55% Ak - 3]
R EA AR 110,000,000 °
B A% TR P U — A FE P AR AR BR K
18 A R #536,850,000 7T © W EA
FEFERR AR BT & 5T AR PR AR 4K
AR o FifiBAREEHREY
FRE  EPEFEERTYE -

REE_ZT—AF+_A=+—
HIEFE  AEERBRET T
ERMEREAERAR(KETL
| BEKEMEEEEERA
Al XEE % 1) #9100% ik # )
Wo0% ik  HEREBERARARK
136,000,0007 ° B EEBEF EH
EMEER - FE BN FBIZR
B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 e B RE (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 37.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

These transactions were accounted for as purchases of assets

and liabilities. Details are summarised below:

WEEHKE LR (&)

BE_F-LZFF+-A=1—HIFE
(4&)

ZERGHDERBARERABIIRK-
BRI BT

RMB’000
ARET T

Consideration transferred: EEEE 2 AE -
Cash He 252,650

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at dates of

acquisitions are as follows:

AU RS B EAPT I B 2 R AT iR B E A0
T

RMB’000
AR%ET T

Property, plant and equipment Y% - R Rk 1,954
Investment properties B 571,788
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE B 26,643
Properties for sale Al E Y 3,887,775
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H At FEUR 148,004
Tax recoverable AT EI R & 42,605
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LR ® 487,133
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M FERR (412,937)
Deposits received for sale of properties HEMEBWETE (1,482,889)
Amounts due to non-controlling A FEFE AR AR SR SRR

shareholders (558,980)
Amount due to a subsidiary of the Group — JEfIZAEEH—REM B A RZFE (1,936,735)
Bank and other borrowings SRIT R EMERR (416,600)

357,761

Less: Non-controlling interests B IEEAR S (105,111)
Net assets acquired BREFEE 252,650
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B R I RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued) 37. WEEMB AR (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued) BEr—FE—FHFEf A=+ —HIEFEE
(&)
Net cash inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the FHiliERIRE MRS EEYRLFE ¢

above acquisitions:

RMB’'000
ARET T
Bank balances and cash of FrUBERT B R Rl RIRI TSR IR &
subsidiaries acquired 487,133
Cash consideration paid BENRERE (252,650)
234,483
For the year ended 31 December 2014 BE_T—NFEf—_F=+—HIFE
The Group acquired the effective entire equity interest in INER B A — 2 B 7 85 = 77 W BE E M B K
Guangzhou Shangshui from an independent third party. This HERZERE - ZIBEXSEERKE
transaction has been accounted for as acquisition of assets and BERBESER EEEMHKEESR
liabilities as Guangzhou Shangshui only has a piece of land for — B BEEEN T o
future development.
The transaction was accounted for as purchase of assets and ROERBABERBEAR - SEH
liabilities. Details are summarised below: MR
RMB'000
ARET T
Consideration transferred: B#EE s RE

Cash Be 10,408
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

37. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at date of acquisition
are as follows:

37. WEKEAR (&)

BE_F-—HNF+-A=1—HIFE
(4&)

RUEERHMKBEEREERE BN
T

RMB'000

ARET T

Properties for sale ATt S 249,815

Other receivable HoAth E U R IR 207357

Bank balances and cash IRITHEMBREIRS 4
Amount due to a subsidiary FER A QT —EH B A R ZIE

of the Company (316,687)

Provision ] (130,081)

Net assets acquired BWEFEE 10,408

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of

BRAWBAAKAZRERASEEY

acquisition of Guangzhou Shangshui: ZIHem B EEE
RMB’000
ARETTT
Bank balances and cash of Frik BRI B A R RERT TR SR MR &
subsidiary acquired 4
Cash consideration paid BENRERE (10,408)
(10,404)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B R I RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2015

(a)

Disposal of a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 December 2015, due to the
financial difficulty of a partner of a joint venture of the
Group, Baishi Yonghao, the Group disposed of its 70.58%
equity interests of B BE 8% & 3 AR A FlGuangzhou
Aoyuan Jintai Property Company Limited (“Jintai”), which
holds Baishi Yonghao, a joint venture of the Group, to an
independent third party for nil consideration. The amount
due from Baishi Yonghao has been repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Jintai upon disposal:

38. HEKEAF

BE_—F-aF1-A=1+—AILFE

(a)

HE—RMEAR

HE_ZT—RAF+-A=+—HIL
FE - ARASE—EEERER
BB —BERBALRBBER
# AEEEZRER—BBILE
SHHEERAENENREREE
EERAR([87%R] - HEAREER
A& FEHAKE)70.58% BRAE
BB AXEREERBEZZ
—RF+-A=t+—HIFEEE-

WRNLERZEERABES TN
™

RMB’'000
AR¥T
Interest in a joint venture R—HE&EEENER 87,925
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR RIS 1
Amounts due to non-controlling B AR AR A% BR 5K IE
shareholders (12,013)
Amounts due to subsidiaries RS E R M S A R FIE
of the Group (29,009)
46,914
Less: non-controlling interests R FEEIR R (13,802)
Net assets disposed of and loss EHEFEER
on disposal HEEE (33,112)

Net cash outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

HE-—HHBARNEREE KRS EEY

of the disposal of a subsidiary: R
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Consideration receivable FEURRAE -
Less: bank balances and cash of B THERBARMRITABRNIAS
the subsidiary disposed of (11)
(11)
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Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

218

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(b)

Deemed disposal of subsidiaries

(i)

Zhuzhou Aoyuan was a subsidiary of the Company
before 31 January 2015, which was held by Aoyuan
Group Company Limited (“Aoyuan Group”),&&
fEand#f & (two non-controlling shareholders) of
60%, 23% and 17%, respectively. Zhuzhou Aoyuan
is principally engaged in property development
in the PRC. On 1 February 2015, R4EEFEER A
Al, Minsheng Trust Co. Ltd (“Minsheng Trust"”)
and Aoyuan Group injected RMB100,000,000 and
RMB90,000,000 to Zhuzhou Aoyuan, respectively.
Since the injections on 1 February 2015, Aoyuan
Group, Minsheng Trust,fizfifandiffheld 60%,
30%, 5.75% and 4.25% equity interest of Zhuzhou
Aoyuan respectively. The revised Articles of
Association of Zhuzhou Aoyuan which become
effective on 1 February 2015 has stipulated that the
Board of Directors of Zhuzhou Aoyuan comprises
of five directors, of which three directors were
appointed by Aoyuan Group, one director was
appointed by Minsheng Trust and remaining one
director was jointly appointed by &z Fandif .

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]

38. HEKEAR (&)

BE_F-ZF+-A=1—HIFE

(&)

b) BRAHEHBELRA]

(i)

KNRER-_ZE—HFE— A
=+—HZHARRRBH
BAr HRBESEEBERA
A([RESE]) ARMEIE
P2 A% B8 RO R AE M BAE  Bll
# H60% - 23% M17% °
HNEREEXEAFEREY
¥ER - N _TT—HF—
A—H REEEFZERA
AREEFRDREEAS
EoRmENEEEEAR
# 100,000,000 & A R #
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—hAF-_A—BfELEER
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SR AE R A 5 B A KM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(b)

Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

(i)

(continued)

The Board of Directors is involved in daily operations
and management of the property development
project, two-third of votes of the directors are
required on making relevant operating decisions.
Before the revision of the Articles of Association,
Aoyuan Group appointed 3 out of 5 directors to
the Board of Directors and half of the votes of the
directors were required on making daily operating
decisions. After the revision of the Articles of
Association, Aoyuan Group is not able to control
the activities without co-operation of the other
investors, and each party cannot individually control
Zhuzhou Aoyuan. After considering the above fact
and circumstances, the directors of the Company
conclude that the Group does not have the power of
control over Zhuzhou Aoyuan, therefore the Group
classified the Group's interest in Zhuzhou Aoyuan as
interest in a joint venture since 1 February 2015.

On 1 February 2015, the Group deemed disposed its
60% equity interest in Zhuzhou Aoyuan.

m—E—FEF = A= —HIFEE

38. HEKEAR (&)

BE_F-ZF+-A=1—HIFE

(&)

b) BRALEHBLF(E)

(i)

(&)

EEZe2HYEFEREAN
BERERERE  RIELHME
BEERRBARS =22
TEERY - NMEFTHEBE
BAR A RESEET
EEZSERESEFRMNIA
MARIEL B & & ERKRZA
ME—FEFTZH - WNMsa]
HBERMRI 2% BESE
BEEHEMREESERE
ARG EREE B AH
T Re 8 B2 RO = E - R
ZREMEERBRZE
RATEFEHT  A5EY
HMNREY &EZEHE B
It AEERB=ZT-—RF=
A—BREERKINEE
ENEZIEANGELE
BIfERS ©

R—ZZ—FFE_A—H ' K
EERAHEEES M
BRE 60% A% HE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(b) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

(i)

(continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Zhuzhou Aoyuan

38. HEKEAR (&)

BE_F-LZFF+-A=1—HIFE
(4&)

b) BRALEHBLF(E)
0 (&

REREERKMNRENE

upon deemed disposal: EXBED
RMB’000
AR¥T T

Property, plant and equipment  #1% - = N&E 407
Deferred tax assets RIERIIR B EE 8,186
Properties for sale ATt S 1,597,819
Trade and other receivables B 5 N Hoqth FER 137593
Amount due from a related FEU— 1R A RIFRIA

party 22,518
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEWR A2 &) Hi B A 5508

of the Company 88,092
Tax recoverable AT E R TE 6,469
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIR® 73,390
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M ERR (45,100)
Deposits received for sale HHEWFEWET 2

of properties (1,086,472)
Bank and other borrowings RITREM AR (629,000)
Net assets disposed of BEEEEFE 173,902
Less: non-controlling interests  Jl : FEIERARAERS (9,561)
Reclassified the equity interest ZAN&EEFTEARMER

in Zhuzhou Aoyuan RIESH DL

held by the Group as interest R—B&&E

in a joint venture B B 164,341
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AR A B R I RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 38. HEMB AT (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued) BEr—FE—FHFEf A=+ —HIEFEE
(#&)
(b) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (continued) b) B\WALEHEBRT(E)
(i)  (continued) M (&
There is no significant gain or loss arising from the 558 EHMN R R I & EAE
deemed disposal of Zhuzhou Aoyuan. FAMEEE o
RMB’000
AR%ET T
Decrease in cash and cash R R SR R R =R
equivalents upon deemed Re RRSEBMRD
disposal of interest in
Zhuzhou Aoyuan (73,390)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(b)

222

Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

(ii)

Zhuzhou Jinye was a subsidiary of the Company
before 28 February 2015, which was held by
Aoyuan Group, /i fitand#if (two non-controlling
shareholders) of 60%, 23% and 17%, respectively.
Zhuzhou Jinye is principally engaged in property
development in the PRC. On 1 March 2015,
Minsheng Trust and Aoyuan Group injected
RMB50,000,000 and RMB43,000,000 to Zhuzhou
Jinye respectively. After the capital injections on 1
March 2015, Aoyuan Group, Minsheng Trust, 5= 1E
andffAfheld 51%, 35%, 8% and 6% equity interest
of Zhuzhou Jinye respectively. The revised Articles
of Association of Zhuzhou Jinye which become
effective on 1 March 2015 has stipulated that the
Board of Directors of Zhuzhou Jinye comprises
of five directors, of which three directors were
appointed by Aoyuan Group, one director was
appointed by Minsheng Trust and remaining one
director was jointly appointed by f:&fifand#ff. The
Board of Directors is involved in daily operations and
management of the property development project,
two-third of votes of the directors are required
on making relevant operating decisions. Before
the revision of the Articles of Association, Aoyuan
Group appoints 3 out of 5 directors to the Board of
Directors and half of the votes of the directors were
required on making daily operating decisions. After
the revision of the Articles of Association, Aoyuan
Group is not able to control the activities without
co-operation of the other investors, and each party
cannot individually control Zhuzhou Jinye. After
considering the above fact and circumstances, the
directors of the Company conclude that the Group
does not have the power of control over Zhuzhou
Jinye, therefore the Group classified interest in
Zhuzhou Jinye as interest in a joint venture since 1
March 2015.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 B e A B A 7]

38. HEKEAR (&)

BE_F-ZF+-A=1—HIFE

(&)

b) BRALEHBLF(E)

(ii)

MNeER—_ZT—hE_ A
—+N\BZE AR R &M
BAT ARESEENALMN
& FE ¥ A% AR 3RO iR 1 & iH
B 5 Bl # 860% - 23% &
17% ° kNS EEZEHREH
REMEZR -RN=_F—Hh
FZA—H REETIAE
BEESAAKENEEEE
A R #¥50,000,0007T & A R
#43,000,0007C ° R =&
—RAFE=ZF—H{EHIEZ
% BRESEE REEFT
R AE R HAE 5 B35 A RN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(b) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

(ii)

(continued)

On 1 March 2015, the Group deemed disposed its
51% equity interest in Zhuzhou Jinye.

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Zhuzhou Jinye

upon deemed disposal:

38. HEKEAR (&)

BE_F-LZFF+-A=1—HIFE
(4&)

b) BELEWEBAR(E)
iy (&)
R-ZZE—HRF=A—H K
EERALEHEER KN
S 51% IRFE -

HMNEERNBERHERZE
ERBENN

RMB’000
AR%T T
Property, plant and equipment  #72 - /= MR E 379
Deferred tax assets RIERIAE B 12,826
Properties for sale Al E YIS 1,674,803
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H th FEUR 52,739
Tax recoverable AT E R TE 10,998
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIR® 98,300
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M ERR (335,698)
Deposits received for sale HHEWFEWET 2
of properties (822,625)
Amounts due to non-controlling &~ 1% B A% 2R 708
shareholders (63,866)
Amount due to a related party B —fEREER 708 (19,098)
Amounts due to subsidiaries B AR RIME A FFIA
of the Company (187,357)
Tax liabilities TIEEE (5,309)
Bank and other borrowings RITREM AR (368,600)
Net assets disposed of EEEEFE 47,492
Less: non-controlling interests & = FE¥E RS AERS 2,277
Reclassified equity interest 1SS EF5 A BRI & 5
in Zhuzhou Jinye RIESH DL
held by the Group as REERERER
interest in a joint venture 49,769
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 38. HEMB AT (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued) BEr—FE—FHFEf A=+ —HIEFEE
(#&)
(b) Deemed disposal of subsidiaries (continued) b) B\WALEHEBRT(E)
(i) (continued) (i (&)
There is no significant gain or loss arising from the SBAEHERNEEREESE
deemed disposal of Zhuzhou Jinye. GROEDNI G
RMB’'000
AR%ET T
Decrease in cash and cash REALERINCERE=RRS
equivalents upon deemed RIReZBYRD
disposal of interest in
a Zhuzhou Jinye (98,300)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 20156 #HZ —F—hF+ _—A=+—HIFFZE

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

(c) Deemed disposal of partial interest in subsidiaries without

loss of control

(i)

(ii)

On 30 June 2015, BEEEREMNTRERELS
injected capital amounting to RMB200,000,000 to
BEEE(ERE)BRA A, Aoyuan Group (Yingde)
Co Ltd. (“Aoyuan Group (Yingde)”), a previously
100% owned subsidiary of the Company, the
equity interest of Aoyuan Group Yingde held by the
Group was then diluted to 51%, in which the Group
continuously has control over Aoyuan Group (Yingde)
after dilution. An excess of the consideration
received over the attributable share of the net assets
by the non-controlling shareholder on this deemed
disposal amounting to RMB6,595,000 was credited
to special reserve and the non-controlling interests
amounting to RMB193,405,000 which is measured
by reference to the proportionate shares of the 49%
net identifiable assets of Aoyuan Group (Yingde) was
recognised at the date of deemed disposal.

On 4 November 2015, EMBEREHR A A
injected capital amounting to RMB1,000,000,000
to Chongging Jinao, a previously 100% owned
subsidiary of the Company, the equity interest
of Chongging Jinao held by the Group was then
diluted to 60%, in which the Group continuously
has control over Chongging Jinao after dilution.
The difference between the consideration received
and the attributable share of the net assets by
the non-controlling shareholder on this deemed
disposal amounting to RMB1,459,000 was debited
to special reserve and the non-controlling interests
amounting to RMB998,541,000 which is measured
by reference to the proportionate shares of the
40% net identifiable assets of Chongging Jinao was
recognised at the deemed disposal date.

38. HEKEAR (&)

BE_F-ZF+-A=1—HIFE

(&)

) BRALEMBAFREZEMILEKRE
1R

(i

(ii)

R_ZT—FHE~A=+H8"
BE EE RS R R
égiﬁ%a%lﬁﬁﬂﬁ
AR([RESE(HRE)] -
%mﬁ$@ﬁ%ﬁwm%%@
W BAR) EAEE AR
200,000,0007C * H & « A&
EiFArRE S B R Ei
SEESI% o AEEREE 2
&%@%ﬁﬁlﬁlﬁ“ﬁm
TR o BB L IEER
h%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ@é
EEH BB A R % 6,595,000 7T
ST - YRR ALE
HEmRLE REEE (HE)
H49% Al R TEF B B 2 IR
LEBIET SR IR E R A R

193,405,000 7T °

R=_ZE—HEF+—AWA "
BMNBERERRAGME
EIRB(EHMAALRESR
100% #Ez= KK B A A JEA
&+ AR 1,000,000,000 7T
B AEERENEE
BRI EEZ60% - A&
ER#E s REEREERE
REA G E - B ER
FERBRERZBERALE
EEFEECHANEZEAR
¥ 1,459,000 7T # 5 Bl {7 &
Rk - WARR L E R
BRE2EEEHBRNI0%
A REF B E 2 % HE L
AEMEERESEARE
998,541,000 7T °
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Aok o B s R M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014

Baishi Yonghao was a subsidiary of the Company before 31
March 2014, which was held by /N R EHBHFEXER A A,
Guangzhou Aoyuan Jintai Property Company Limited (“Jintai”),
a subsidiary of the Company and;IFim/&EE £ AR A a,
Jiangmen Haoxiang Property Company Limited (“Haoxiang”),
a non-controlling shareholder, of 51% and 49%, respectively.
Baishi Yonghao is principally engaged in property development
in the PRC. On 1 April 2014, a new Articles of Association
of Baishi Yonghao was adopted and became effective, and it
has stipulated that the Board of Directors comprises of six
directors, of which three directors were appointed by Jintai
and remaining three directors were appointed by Haoxiang.
In the former Articles of Association of Baishi Yonghao, four
directors were appointed by Jintai and two executive directors
were appointed by Haoxiang. The Board of Directors is involved
in daily operations and management of the property project,
two-third of votes of the directors are required on making
relevant significant operating decisions. Accordingly, Jintai and
Haoxiang cannot direct the activities of Baishi Yonghao without
the agreement with another party and each party cannot
individually control Baishi Yonghao. After considering the above
fact and circumstances, the management of the Company
concludes that the Group do not has the power of control over
Baishi Yonghao, therefore the Group classified interest in Baishi
Yonghao as interest in a joint venture.

On 1 April 2014, the Group deemed disposed of its 51% equity
interest in Baishi Yonghao.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) 38.

For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities of Baishi Yonghao upon deemed
disposal:

HEKE AR ()

BE_F-—HNF+-A=1—HIFE
(4&)

AEKBRRAL SR 2 EERAED
1

RMB'000
ARETTT
Property, plant and equipment MZ - BB KRR 400
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE B 1,589
Properties for sales A EYIE 1,246,329
Trade and other receivables & 5 K Hofth FEUR 1,413
Amounts due from non-controlling JE U IR AR AR R 5 IE
shareholders 240,276
Amount due from a related party JE Uk — IR A RlKIE 21,056
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUIAS £ [ WO Ff /B8 A R FKIE
of the Group 163,000
Tax recoverable A ER & 11,458
Bank balances and cash RITHERRIR® 122,152
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M ERR (491,590)
Sale deposit received for sale HHEVMHEEBEHERT S
of properties (220,216)
Bank and other borrowings RITREM AR (1,000,000)
Net Assets disposed of BEHEFEE 95,867
Less: non-controlling interests R IEPERR R (46,975)
Reclassified equity interest in A& B R A ) B A kOB
Baishi Yonghao held by the Group as B BEARGEEENER
interest in a joint venture 48,892
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

38. HEKEAR (&)

BE_F-—HNF+-A=1—HIFE
(4&)

38. Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 (continued)

BMERRSLENBARMELERNE

There is no significant gain or loss arising from the deemed

228

disposal of the subsidiary. Aok Es s -
RMB'000
ARETTT
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents MR R E —RH B A R#E=E
upon deemed disposal of interest Re RBSEBWRD
in a subsidiary (122,152)

39. Contingent Liabilities

At the end of respective reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities as follows:

39. HRERE

RERESF  AEBORABENT -

2015 2014
—E—fF —E—PO4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Guanrantees given to banks in connection
with facilities granted to third parties 9,239,591 8,693,677

The Group acted as guarantor to the banks in respect of the
mortgage bank loans granted to certain property purchasers
of the Group's and agreed to repurchase the properties upon
the purchasers’ default on the repayment of the mortgage
bank loans and repay the outstanding loan and interest accrual
thereon. The fair value of the financial guarantee contracts is not
significant at the initial recognition and provision has not been
made as the default rate is low.
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Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

40. Operating Lease Arrangements 40.

As lessor

At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease

ReHERH
EREBEA

REBREHR - AREEBTETON
ARRSAEHEFRBNT ¢

payments:
2015 2014
—E-RF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Within one year —FR 92,043 62,296
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEEFAT (BREERERT) 238,611 203,986
After five years AFRE 173,353 254,897
504,007 521,179

Rental from certain tenants of an investment property
are determined at the amount of the higher of a specified
percentage of their turnover and a fixed monthly rental. The
remaining properties are expected to generate rental yields of
average 0.65% to 3.93% per annum on an on-going basis. All
the properties held have committed tenants from 2 to 14 years.

As lessee

At the end of the respective reporting period, the Group had
outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as

BENMERBPBAE RS NIREEERE
BFELXRBETEARZERREEE - #
TETE SR EEETF F190.65% =
3.93%MHEEHE - FIEREMFHTE
2E 14 FHMEAHHER ©

EREEA
REBREHR - ARERETATBUBEL

LSHERTHARKERERIAR AKX
NES NP e

follows:
2015 2014
—E-IF —T-MmF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Within one year —FR 50,392 6,769
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEFRF (BEEERSE) 159,674 1,492
210,066 8,261
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

40. Operating Lease Arrangements (continued) 40. REHETH (&)

41.

As lessee (continued)

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases are
negotiated with range from 1 to 3 years and rentals are fixed for

an average term of 1 to 3 years.

Other Commitments

At the end of respective reporting period, the Group has other

commitments as follow:

EREEA (&)

TREHEE o

41. HithEiE

EEHERATBEARERETHA
=T RS o BTSN ST
NE—E=6 . FY-E=FROES

REREHR - NEEAEAMAFENT

2015 2014
—ZE—HEF —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREBTT
Construction cost commitments for BERTAMERRER & TS ImR A H 2
properties for sales contracted for but R BH 5 W) SE R AN AN AR
not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 9,361,934 8,357,765
Commitments for acquisition of land use ~ ERI4IERRERE T SRR ABEZ
rights contracted for but not provided B BAUREE L (s PR A
in the consolidated financial statements 310,000 2,408,888
Construction cost commitments for EETAVERI SR & B 5 ik A
investment properties contracted for B 2 IR B Y AR IR
but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 635,003 360,085
Construction commitment in respect BEJAERR GG SRR N E 2
of hotel under development contracted TR [ R SRR AN
for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 5,160 20,697
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

42. Share-Based Payment Transactions

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 23 October 2007
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors and
eligible employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no share options
have been granted and remained outstanding under the
Scheme was nil (2014: 4,500,000). The total number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the
Company's shareholders. The number of shares issued and
to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be
granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company'’s shareholders.

Consideration of HK$1 is payable on the grant of an option.
Options may be exercised according to the schedule set out
below. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company's shares.

42. IRGBARERINNRS

BRAGE R

ARaE BT 8 ([5H81]) HREBER
“EELFTATZHBBRIRER
Ry TEENRAEENAERESR
TE (2R -

BHE-_T-—RAF+-_A=+—HLF
B HERHTAERERTEZE
TEEEEEEAS(ZZE —NEF:
4,500,00017 ) ° RLLARRQ E]IRER = S it
o IRIRET SR B AR AT AR (D AR X
N A] FB B AN A B A Bl B2 21T AR 0 BY
10% o REARRBIREF LB - RE
o] — @ F EARE R A TR B R R
2 BIRERT P B 1T R % T2 R D
H B TA] BBEA N BT R E B TR
DHI1% °

BB REN ZRER BT - BiE
AR TSI 2 R R T ATTE © 1712
EBHARRESREE - ATHEROAR
AR R B EIR I T (B (i) BEE
HA S AEEXANFHRTE : &
(i) AABRMNEEZ=DE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

42. Share-Based Payment Transactions
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

No. of options

42. URHBARERNNRS (&)

RAGERBRES (8)

BREZFEDBFFMT

granted Exercise price Fair value/
after the after the share at
Option type adjustment Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period adjustment grant date
4] RHAH
BhRERL FiRiERERE RLRH BROE Byl HEATREE  BRATE
HKS HKS$
BT BT
2011A 2,124,114 4 April 2011 4 April 2011 to 1 April 2012 to 1318 053
31 March 2012 31 December 2014
—E——4MmANA Z5——4MANAZE —£--4MA-RZ
“F--F=f=1-A “E2-WE+ZA=t-H
2011B 2,124,715 4 April 2011 4 April 2011 to 1 April 2013 to 1318 0.56
31 March 2013 31 December 2014
“Z——%MmAmA ZZ——4MAMAZE “Z--4MA-RZ
“2-=fZA=1-H ZE-METZA=1-H
2011C 318,707 4 April 2011 None 4 April 2011 1o 1318 0.46
3 April 2014
~Z2——FmARA i “5——FmARAZ
“Z-W¥mA=R
2014A 4,500,000 15 January 2014 15 January 2014 to 16 October 2014 to 1610 0.16
15 October 2014 16 December 2014
—£-mE-AtHA “E-ME-ATHAZE “E-METATAAZ
“E-PETATHRA ZB-METZATAA
20148 4,500,000 15 January 2014 15 January 2014 to 16 October 2015 to 1.610 0.20
15 October 2015 16 December 2015
“3-mE-ATHA “3-RE-RTHA Z3-nETATAE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

42. Share-Based Payment Transactions 42. IR HAEBRIANRS (8)
(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) ARG E BB ERTE (8)
The following table disclose movement's of the Company’s TREESEENEERAFERBAEF
share options held by the directors and employees during the FERTHE AR A B i 2 ) -

current and prior years:

Exercised
Outstanding after the Outstanding Outstanding
at Granted Adjustment adjustment Expired at Granted  Exercised Expired at
1 January during during during during 31 December during during during 31 December
Option type 2014 the year the year the year the year 2014 the year the year the year 2015
BRERY RZB-IE R-B-IE R-B-1F
-B-B £ t=ZA=t-H £R tZA=t-A
AME  FRRE  FARE  REBRAR  FRER AME  FRRE  BRAOR  FRER EXiNid
000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 '000 '000 ‘000 '000

R & N B S N SR B ¢ B B

2011A 2,125 = (1,000) = (1,125) = < - - -

20118 2124 - = = (2,124) = = - - -

201C 319 = = = (319) - - - - -

2014A - 4,500 - = (4,500) = < - - -

20148 - 4,500 - - - 4,500 = = 4,500) -
4,568 9,000 (1,000) - (8,068) 4,500 = = 4,500) =

Exercisable at the end

of the year
RERATIE 4,568 - :
Weighted average - -

exercise price (HK$)

mEHaGEE (81) 132 161 -
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h Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

42. URBRERANRS (&)

42. Share-Based Payment Transactions

(continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

These fair values were calculated using the binominal model.
The inputs into the model were as follows:

RAGERBRES (8)

AFETER AR R E o
ZHASENT :

2011A&B 2011C 2014A 2014B

Exercise price 176 (E HK$1.318 HK$1.318 HK$1.610 HK$1.610
1.3188 7T 1.3188 7T 1.610/87T 1.610/%8 7T

Expected volatility TEERR R AR 64% 62% 34% 34%
Expected life TEET G HA 4 years 3 years 0.9 years 1.9 years
45 3% 0.94 1.9

Risk-free rate 2R o 7 1.60% 1.20% 0.18% 0.34%
Expected dividend yield L ER R 2.80% 2.80% 5% 5%

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous one
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of RMB321,000 (2014:
RMB954,000) for the year ended 31 December 2015 in relation
to share options granted by the Company and reverse share
option reserve of RMB709,000 (2014: RMB2,068,000) as the
share option expired during the year ended 31 December 2015
in relation to share options granted by the Company.

The number of share options granted expected to vest has been
reduced to reflect historical experience of forfeiture of options
granted prior to completion of vesting period and accordingly
the share option expense has been adjusted. At the end of the
reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of
the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
the profit and loss over the remaining vesting period, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

China Aoyuan Property Group Limited r [5 B[] 3 7 45 F 4 A B A 6]

BEHREAARARRERBE—F2FE
SERIBEE - xRA R ERZ A FH
EREEEKER TSR  1TER
B RITRRAREEDL 2 HIEG AR -

REBEE-_T—AF+-_A=+—BLF
B ANEBBRARRRE 2 BRERR
FIsr #a%E AR #321,0007T( ZF—P04F :
AR®954,0007T) * B AR EEAE,
E-T-—RF+-A=+—ALFEZ
Hy - BN A B 2 B AR M 1 (o] BB AR
AR 709,000 T( —ZE—FO4F : A
¥ 2,068,0007C) °

EHREARENE R EBRERE -
AR BELERTEROBRELERE
HIR SR AT R4 @ - BRI S 2
TERHE - RIBEMR - AEEHETHE
HEHEKREBRERERE b5t - &
AIRRMEFHBEFOTE(ME) IR F
BEHRERRRER  WH BRI
e AREHE -



42.

43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

Share-Based Payment Transactions
(continued)

Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of
the options. The variables and assumptions used in computing
the fair value of the share options are based on the executive
directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions.

Retirement Benefit Plan

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated by
the local municipal government. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries
contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage
of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees. The principal obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme.

42.

43.

UG BERTNNRS (F)

RAGERBRES (8)
“HEARAD ARG BRENRF

BRBTREHNTES Y REGT - BR
ROEEERETIRRENTRAZE
MARER -

RRERIETE

BRI BRBARNAR - AR BMF
B EARASEM T MBRNAEEN
EREFRNEE - AERERHEME
REVIAF G B B & 12 77 R R
BOELE A DL E 2 e BAE 8
"X REBNEARBINREES - K
SEHERRBEINFEEREANERZRER
REBFTEIEHPIZAHK o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

44. Related Party Transactions

44.

(@)  The Group had material transactions during the year with

related parties as follows:

RELSXRS

(a) AKBERAFEEBETHNEX
R

2015 2014
—E—HF —Z=—F
Related party Nature of transaction RMB’000 RMB'000
FER RHME ARBT T ARETTT
Non-controlling shareholders Interest income - 500
of subsidiaries
B8 A R IR AR AR R BN
A related party (note) Interest income 499 3,864
—MEE R (i) BN
Joint ventures Interest income 21,379 19,866
% BN
Non-controlling shareholders Interest expense - 19,866
of subsidiaries
B A FIIEEARAR R MEFX
A joint venture Disposal of prepaid - 151,955

—fRARERE

lease payments
BNEERERS

Note: The related party is an entity established in the PRC, and is
controlled by the non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

44. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b)  The remuneration of key management personnel during

the year is as follows:

44. BEXXS (&)

b) MAFETEEEA

EHBT

2015 2014

—E-IF —T-MmF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Short-term benefits 72 BtE A 28,480 27437
Share-based payments BAR& 17 R ERR B 3k 321 954
28,801 28,391

The remuneration of directors and key executives is EERTETHRAESMIIATMEE

determined by the remuneration committee having regard

to the performance of individuals and market trends.

Company

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

(@) General information of principal

subsidiaries

Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries at the end of

SERMEAKRBELMSBEMETE

45. ARATEEMEB A TFHE

(a) FEMBERT—RER

RBERR - AEEEEHEAF

the reporting period are as follows: BT
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
ML/ ERTRAR
HWEAREE R 5 Frisa iR BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1f Z—E-mE
Add Hero Holding Limited British Virgin Islands 100% 100% US$10,000  Investment holding
("Add Hero") (note a) ("BVI")
Add Hero Holding Limited EEEREE 10000%L  REER
(T Add Hero ) (i3 a) ((ZB%ERES])
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

45. AQ T EEMEQRAFE (&)

(a) FEMBRE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1f _—E-MmF
Add Gain Investments Limited BVI 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
ERERES 100%7  REBR
Add Lion Profits Limited BV 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
EEEREE 100%L  REER
Add Power Investments Limited BVI 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
ERERES 100%7  REBR
Add Right Investments Limited BV 100% 100% US$100  Investment holding
EEEREE 100%L  REER
Bright Oriental Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% HK$1  Investment holding
A 1AL RERR
China Aoyuan International Hong Kong 100% 100% HK$1  Investment holding
Development Limited A BT REER
EREIERMEREERAR PRC 100% 100% US$49,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Chuangguan Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
EREIREHEREERAR G 49000000%(T  WEERE
BER M ERRERAA PRC 100% 100% RMB80,000,000  Property development
(Fogang Tong Li Sheng Investment
Development Company Limited)
fERNERERRERAR Gilci AR¥80000000T  MEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AT A B R A RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

45. AQ T EEMEQRAFE (&)

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

(a) FEMBRE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARDER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
“2-1f _—T-IF
BRESEARAR PRC 100% 100% RMB680,000,000  Investment holding
(Aoyuan Group Company Limited)
RESEARAR il AR¥680,000,0007  REER
BMRESRHEHEREERAT PRC 100% 100% RMB380,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Hai Jing
Cheng Real Estate Development
Company Limited)
ENREESHEHEREARAT Gilci AR%3800000007  MEERE
BMTER S ERNEREERAT PRC 100% 100% RMB170,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Panyu Jin Ye Yuan
Real Estate Development
Company Limited)
ENTEBLEXEEHEREARAT Gilci AR%1700000007  MEEE
BMTERLERHEREERAT PRC 100% 100% RMB180,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Panyu Jin Ye Real
Estate Development Company Limited)
ENTERLEEHEREARLA Gilci AR% 1800000007  MEERE
BENERC R EHEREER AR PRC 100% 100% RMB60,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Olympic Real Estate
Development Company Limited)
BMEHI R B EREERAR el AR#60,0000000C WIXEE
ENEERNE R EHEREERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB31,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Panyu Olympic Real
Estate Development Company Limited)
BNERENC R B EREERAR Gile AR¥31,000000  MEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 45. KNBIFEMREB A TS (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMIBAT—RER (E)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARDER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1f _—E-MmF
ENREEELEEEERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Provision of consultancy
(Guangzhou Aoyuan Assets of services and hotel
Management Company Limited) ownership
Company Limited)
BNAEEEL2ERERAR G ARE50,0000007T  REZARBLAFEE
ENEYERRHEREER AR PRC 100% 100% RMB120,494,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Nansha Guo Ao Real
Estate Development Company Limited)

ENEYBEREEREER AR PE AEE120494000T  DEER

EREeNEHEREER AT PRC 100% 100% RMB31,000,000  Property development
{Longnan Jin Cheng Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

ERG R EREERAR i AR%31,0000000 WEEE
FHREFHEREERAE PRC 100% 100% RMB80,000,000  Property development

(Yulin Aoyuan Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

INBEFHEREERAH HE ARE80,000,000r  MEEE

FIHEREAEHEREER AR PRC 100% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Yulin Aoyuan Cannes Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

INRERAIEHEREERAR e AK%200000000c  MEEE
IR EREERAR PRC 51% 51% RMB20,000,000  Property development

(Jiangmen Jiangao Real Estate Development
Company Limited) (“Jiangmen Jiangao”)

I TR EREERAR il AR®20,000000c  MEERE
(iphe:3);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

45. AQ T EEMEQRAFE (&)

(a) FEMBRE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1f _—E-MmF
FEMREEXERAR PRC 80% 80% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Qingyuan Aoyuan Property Company Limited)
FEMREEXERAR il ARB50,0000007  WEER
AL RENHERERAT PRC 100% 100% RMB1,030,000,000  Property development
(Shenyang Aoyuan New City
Property Company Limited)
ERREMHERERAR el ARH#1,030,000000  WEERE
ENRERHEREARAA PRC 53.96% 53.96% HK$1,390,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Aoyu Real Estate
Exploitation Company Limited)
BNREEHEREERAA i 1,390,000,00087T  WEEE
Pl ERERRERAR PRC 100% 100% US$110,000,000  Property development
(Zhongshan Plaza Development
Company Limited)
Il ESREREBRAR i 110,000,000  MEEE
kK (RIL) EZBRAR PRC 100% 100% UUS$5,552,000  Property development
(Woolim Fanta (Kunshan)
Development Company Limited)
itz K (BIL) EXERAR G 5552,000EL  MEER
itk (RIl) BRAR] PRC 100% 100% US$3,100,000  Property development
(Woolim (Kunshan) Development
Company Limited)
A (RIL) BRAR HE 3100000%7  MFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 45. KNBIFXEMREB A TS (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RER (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1f _—E-MmE
HlR B EREERAT PRC 70% 70% RMB8,000,000  Property development
(Zhuzhou Cheng tou Properties
Development Company Ltd.)
HNREHEREERAA G AREB000000  WEERE
EEERFHEREBRAR PRC 100% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development

(Chongaing Pan'ao Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

ERRARHEREERAR il AR2000000007  WEER
ERAREXERAA PRC 100% 100% RMB600,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Gang Ao Properties Limited)

EEAREXARAA e AKE600,000000c  MEEE
ENRERSEEER AT PRC 100% 100% RMB670,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Aoyuan Cannes
Investments Company Limited)

ENREEHREERAR i ARE670000000c  MEEE
RESE(BEM)BRAR PRC 100% 100% RMB1,000,000,000  Property development
(Aoyuan Group (Guangzhou)

Company Limited)
REEE (BM)BRARF e ARE1,000,0000000  WEEE
ENTERRAERARAR PRC 100% 100% RMB238,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Wan Pui Investment
Management Company Limited)

ENTBRREERERAH e AE#238,000000t WEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 45. KNBIFXEMREB A TS (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBAT—RER (&)
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
“2-1f _—T-IF
ENEpREEEBERRAR PRC 100% 100% RMB110,000,000  Hotel operation

(Guangzhou Nansha Aoyuan
Health Hotel Company Limited)

BN REREEERRAR . AR%1100000007  S&EE
ImBREEEERAR PRC 85% 80% RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Yangjiang City RunXin Properties

Company Limited)
BIImEEERARAR i AR%100000,0007  WEER
ERAFEXARAT PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Yun Fun Aoyuan Properties

Company Limited)
EFRRELXERAR t ARES0,0000000  WEER
ERBEREXERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB450,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing YueAo Properties

Company Limited)
ERBREXBRAF i AR 450000000  WEEE
REEEEEEXERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development

(Aoyuan Group Chongging YueAo
Properties Company Limited)

AESEEREEXERAT e AR%200000,00070  WFEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s i M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 45. KNBIFXEMREB A TS (&)
Company (continued)
(@) General information of principal subsidiaries (a) EEMBLAT—RER ()
(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
“2-1f _—T-IF
ENREEEER AR PRC 51% 51% RMB150,000,000  Property development
(Guangzhou Kangwei)
BNEHEERRAR e AR% 1500000007  MEEE
BLTEERBEHNEREERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Property development

(Foshan City Nanhai Aoyu Real
Estate Development Company Limited)

TR ERBEHEREERAA t ARES0,0000000  WEER
BREEE (BN ERLF PRC 100% 100% RMB100,000,000  Property development
{Aoyuan Group (Meizhou)

Company Limited)
RESE (/M) BRAF i AR%100,000000  WEEE
ENSREHEREARAR PRC 100% 100% RMB100,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou LuoAo Real Estate
Development Company Limited)

ENEREHEREERAH i AK%100000000c MEEE
ENRERZERERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB300,000,000  Property development

(Guangzhou Aoyuan Commercial
Development Company Limited)

ENRERRERARAR i ARH3000000007t  MEHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B B A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z - F—A# 1+ =-HA=+—HIFFZF

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

45. A RQ R EEMEQRAFE (&)

(a) EEMBERE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARDER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1f _—E-MmE
REEE (Bl EXERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Foshan Aoyuan Property Company Limited)
RESE (L) EXBRAR e AR¥500000000T  MEER
REEE(XE)ERAH PRC 51% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Yingde Aoyuan Group Company Limited)
RESE (&) BRAF HE AR%200,000000  WEEE
BREKEZERAF PRC 100% 100% RMB20,408,000  Property development
(Guangdong Shangshui Wine Company Limited)
BRHKBXERAR t AR¥20408000T  MEEE
RESE(HE) ERAT PRC 100% 100% RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Shaoguan Aaoyuan Group Company Limited)
RESE(RH)BRAT e AR%1000000007  MEERE
EFREEXERAA PRC 100% 100% RMB1,400,000,000  Property development
(Chongging Aoyu Property Company Limited)
EEREEXERAT HE AR%14000000000 WEEE
EZRERSERAR PRC 100% 100% RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Jiaoling Aoyuan Square Company Limited)
ERAERSERAR i ARME100,000000c  MEER
BERREXERAR PRC 60% 100% RMB1,500,000,000  Property development
(Chongaing Jinao Property Company Limited)
EFRRELERAR e AR 1500000000  WEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

45. AQ T EEMEQRAFE (&)

(a) FEMBRE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
“2-1f _—T-IF
hERERSERAT PRC 100% 100% RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Wuhua Aoyuan Square Company Limited)
TERERSERAR Gl & AR®200000000 MEER
RARRERARAT PRC 100% Nil RMB233,170,267  Property development
(Jiaxing Aoyuan Property Company Limited)
FRAREXARAA e & ARKIBI0267T  MEER
EZERLTRERAR PRC 100% Nil RMB101,000,000  Construction
(Jiaoling Construction Engineering
Company Limited)
ERERETRARDA e &  ARE101000000m BE
ERANEHEREERAR PRC 55% Nil RMB200,000,000  Property development
(Guangxi Hanlin Property Development
Company Limited)
EEANEHEREBRAR e i AR%200,000000  WEEE
ZHEMEHEREERAT PRC 55% Nil RMB150,000,000  Property development
(Anhui Qinlian Property Development
Company Limited)
ZHYGFEHERE AR AR e i AR®150,000000  WEEE
EREEBMTEERAR PRC 60% Nil RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Guangdong Aoyuan Hanlin Investment
Company Limited)
ERAERHREBRAT e & AR®100000000 MEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

45. AQ T EEMEQRAFE (&)

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries

(a) FEMBRE—REFR (F)

(continued)
Issued and
fully paid
Place of share capital/
incorporation/ Attributable registered
Name of subsidiary establishment equity interest held share capital  Principal activities
AL,/ ERTRAR
WEARER R FrsERE BE/EMRE  TEER
2015 2014
Z2-1f _—E-MmF
ZHHERNEREERAT PRC 55% Nil RMB30,000,000  Property development
(Anhui Hande Property Development
Company Limited)
ZRAEEHEREERAR i i AR¥30000000T  MEEE
ZHRERNEREARAT PRC 55% Nil RMB30,000,000  Property development
(Anhui Hanhua Property Development
Company Limited)
CHAERHEREERAR i i AR¥30000000T  MEEE
ZHHRFEHEREERAE PRC 55% il RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Anhui Qinjian Property Development
Company Limited)
CHHREHEREARAT i & AR%1000000007 WFER
FEMEREEERAR PRC 93% Nil RMB10,000,000  Property development
(Zhuhai Meixi Property Company Limited)
HEMEREXBRAR i i ARE10,000000c  MEEE
A RE RS EREERAR PRC 100% Nil RMB100,000,000  Property development
(Liuyang Aoyuan Plaza Proprty
Development Company Limted)
AGRERAREREARAR i i AR%100,000000  WEEE
HEREBNREXERAR PRC 60% Nil RMB50,000,000  Property development
(Nanning Aoyuan Hanlin Property
Company Limited)
HEREANEXBRAR] i i AR¥50,000000T  MEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(@) General information of principal subsidiaries
(continued)

Notes:

(a) Add Hero is directly held by the Company and the remaining
subsidiaries comprising the Group are indirectly held by the

Company.

(b) Except for BVI and Hong Kong incorporated companies which are
operating in Hong Kong, other subsidiaries are operating in the
PRC.

(c) The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the executive directors, principally affect
the results or assets of the Group. To give full details of subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the executive directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AT A B R A RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 45,
Company (continued)

KRR EEME R AFE (&)

(b) Composition of the Group (b) ZREBEZARK

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has ARABRRER ARG EMEARER
W AREBEHHB AR ° AEBHiEL
B AR R P BLE - BRINE

RAMEBRRBHRLIT

other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A
maijority of these subsidiaries operate in PRC. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Number of subsidiaries

Principal place EARIZAE
Principal activities of businesses 2015 2014
FEHEW FTEEEME —E-EHF —E M
Investment holding BVI 52 41
REER ERERES

Hong Kong 56 55

BB

PRC 14 5

i
Property development and investment PRC 68 38
MEERENKE B
Provision of consultancy and PRC 6 6

management services
TR EER N B IR AR B
Hotel operation PRC 1 1
K H
197 146
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the

Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of a non-wholly owned

subsidiary of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and
31 December 2014 that have material non-controlling

interests:

Place of
establishment

Proportion of
ownership
interests
voting rights
held by

45. AQ T EEMEQRAFE (&)

(c)

BRRERFERERZHE

BB RFE

TREVNAEER=_ZE—HF+=
A=+—BER=ZZ—WMF+=A
=t+—HBEBEAIERER I
KB A RS

and principal non-controlling Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
iR R
RUBKREE  FAEEHEERE
KA R B XM BERREE FE R RE SR P s A Rt R ER
2015 2014 2015 2014
—Z-0f C—T-WF Z=T-RF C—T-WF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR¥ETT AR%®Tr AR¥ET:R
Chongging Jinao PRC 40% (404) - 1,001,054 -
BERA I
Guangzhou Aoyu PRC 46.04% 9,730 - 1,047881 1,091,694
BMEE I
Guangxi Hanlin PRC 45% (4,402) - 622,448 -
FEF AR I
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 661,699 222,942
BEFERERNSIFEANBAF
3,333,082 1,314,636
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) I

AT A B R A RE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

KRR EEME R AFE (&)

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the 45,
Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that

(c) EREARFEREZ IR

have material non-controlling interests

(continued)

Summiarised financial information in respect of Chongging
Jinao, Guangzhou Aoyu and Guangxi Hanlin that has
material non-controlling interests is set out below. The
summarized financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

=gy PNCIESAE )

EREESRR  EMREREAR
MR EA SRR ot 2 M 15 B A
BT o TXMBERMBRER
SEANLHEA S

Chonggqing Jinao EERR
2015 2014
—E-5F =i
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT
Non-current assets FmEEE 371,114 -
Current assets MENERE 2,683,956 =
Current liabilities MEBEE 551,556 -
Non-current liabilities FEnEAE 879 =
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NARIHA AR 1,501,581 -
Non-controlling interests IR 1,001,054 =
Revenue e 18,462 -
Expenses 53 15,826 =
Profit and total comprehensive FRRFREAKELE
income for the year 2,636 -
Profit and total comprehensive AAREEENR2ERRERE
income attributable to
the Company 3,040 -
Loss and total comprehensive R EREGEERZAEREER
expense attributable to
the non-controlling interests (404) -
Profit for the year FREF 2,636 =
Net cash outflow from operating activities BEEHELEZRSRILTE (2,261,301) -
Net cash flow from investing activities REGHEL RENETRE - =
Net cash inflow from financing activities BETHEEZRERNTE 2,500,000 -
Net cash inflow RERNFE 238,699 -

Annual Report 2015 & —FAEME#R

251



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok T B 285 A B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that

45. AQ T EEMEQRAFE (&)

(c) EREARFEREZ IR

have material non-controlling interests EME A S (5])
(continued)
Guangzhou Aoyu EMERE
2015 2014
—E-ERF —ZT—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREETTT
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,678,937 1,650,934
Current assets MENE E 1,690,513 2,122,671
Current liabilities MEEE 351,648 594,209
Non-current liabilities ERBBE 679,016 808,211
Equity attributable to owners RAREE ANEERER
of the Company 1,290,905 1,279,491
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR 2 1,047,881 1,091,694
Revenue -0 100,548 55,934
Expenses sz 79,395 88,326
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FREH (EE) k2w (FAX)
income (expense) for the year lear ksl 21,153 (32,392)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive 7N &) (LA (E518)
income (expense) attributable kEmEiz= (X)) 2%
to the Company 1,414 (32,392)
Profit and total comprehensive R AR A R A &
income attributable to S ERE= BT
the non-controlling interests 9,739 -
Profit (loss) for the year FRE A (E51E) 21,153 (32,392)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from KEEBEA ZRSRA GRE)
operating activities Pkl 341,437 (934,502)
Net cash outflow from investing WERESEE RSN
activities - (580)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from REEBELE2RE (L)
financing activities MAEEE (350,000) 930,000
Net cash outflow RE ML FEE (8,563) (5,082)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

45. Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

(c) Detail of non-wholly owned subsidiary that

45.

KRR EEME R AFE (&)

(c) EREARFEREZ IR

have material non-controlling interests EMB TS (&)
(continued)
Guangxi Hanlin E TR
2015
—E-RF
RMB’'000
AR¥T T

Non-current assets ERBEE 314,939
Current assets MENEE 2,244,991
Current liabilities nEBE 906,712
Non-current liabilities FRBERE 270,000
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RIS AELER 760,770
Non-controlling interests eI R 622,448
Revenue EERE -
Expenses 53 9,782
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEBEREZAERAR

for the year 9,782
Loss and total comprehensive expense AARELEIEREEER L

attributable to the Company 5,380
Loss and total comprehensive expense eI R B &

attributable to the non-controlling interests 2HEERRTE 4,402
Loss for the year FANEE 9,782
Net cash outflow from operating activities K EBIR SR L FEE (517,160)
Net cash flow from investing activities RETERSREFE -
Net cash inflow from financing activities BEEE RS RAFE 491,400
Net cash outflow IR B HFEE (25,760)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok o B s R M (A

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

46. Events after the Reporting Period

Subsequent to the reporting date, the Group had following

significant events took place:

(a)

(c)

On 15 January 2016, the Group entered into an agreement
to acquire a parcel of land situated in Ningdu, the PRC, at a
consideration of RMB63,000,000 through public auction.
The Group has paid RMB31,000,000 of the consideration.
The land in Ningdu is designated for commercial and
residential properties for sale.

On 4 February 2016, the Group issued private domestic
corporate bond of RMB500,000,000 with a term of four
years (the “2016 Private Corporate Bonds”). 2016 Private
Corporate Bonds are secured by the Company, carrying
interest at rate of 79% per annum and interest is payable
annually, commencing 2 February 2017 The proceeds
are to be used for refinancing certain of the Group's
existing indebtedness and for the general working capital
purposes. The 2016 Private Corporate Bonds will mature
on 2 February 2020 unless the bonds holders sell back the
bonds to Aoyuan Group earlier.

Aoyuan Group is entitled to adjust the interest rate on
2 February 2019, 20 days prior to the second interest
repayment date. Upon the adjustment, bonds holders
may at their options to sell back 2016 Private Corporate
Bonds to Aoyuan Group in whole or in part at face value
of their principal amount within three working days from 2
February 2019.

On 11 February 2016, the Company redeemed an
aggregate principal amount of US$112,500,000 of 2012
Notes and 2013 Notes, representing all of the remaining
and outstanding principal amount of US$225,000,000, at
a redemption price equal to 106.93750% of the principal
amount thereof together with all accrued and unpaid
interest.
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46. HEHEREE

RBEBMR  AREREUATERE

i

(a)

RZZE—A"F—A+HHE ' A5H
BB AFIAE ] % WS — 1R L
RABREHN L REAARE
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e LI IEEE R RIETHE
%o
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77 A R # 500,000,000 7T 2 P4 4F £f
LERARRES ([ ZZ—RFFh
ENAESE]) o —E—AEFLERD
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REEE W FAZZT—AFLERQ
AEFKR-_E_FF _A=HE
/quo

REEEEEA-ZT—NE_/F—
B(EZ@EFEEZEBA20 A)H
BHE - PWMELFAREE FEZT
—NE-_A_H#EF=ET{EA
A BFEE AR RRAERAS
HEEZ T FLEARES
2MRBHERTREEE -

R-ZE—RF_A+—H &R
AEEN - E——EEER-F
—=ZFEZEEMNACBEIA
112,600,000 7t © X2 WHTE
%17 7N 4 % 225,000,000% 7T © &
EEEFNEARESE 2 106.93750%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Aok B s A M (4D

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—A#F+ =-HA=+—HIFFZ

of the Company

47. Statement of Financial Position and Reserve

47. XA BB BARR R R A E

2015 2014
—E-HF —Z O
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET AREFIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IEmBEE
Investments in subsidiaries AT B AR AL E 4,401,648 4,401,648
Property, plant and equipment Y% - R KRB 813 1,013
4,402,461 4,402,661
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E A E R 1,152 1,086
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NEIE e 5,042,780 2,663,730
Bank balances RITHERR 103,150 34,074
5,147,082 2,698,890
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENBE
Other payables b FE (S 5K 3,851 3,625
Amount due to a subsidiary e —FM B A RIFRIA 1,449,975 =
Bank borrowings RITER 59,683 342,665
1,513,509 346,290
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEEEFE 3,633,573 2,352,600
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERLBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,036,034 6,755,261
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EmBAE
Bank borrowings RITER 579,375 -
Senior notes BAEEE 4,998,005 3,256,986
5,577,380 3,256,986
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BB
TOTAL LIABILITIES wEE 2,458,654 3,498,275
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEARKEE
Share capital &N 26,355 26,355
Reserves ] 2,432,299 3,471,920
TOTAL EQUITY B 2,458,654 3,498,275
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Aok T B 285 e B R (4)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #Z —F—AF+ -HA=+—HIFFZ

47. Statement of Financial Position and Reserve
of the Company (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

47. AT EHE (8)

Movement in the Company’s reserves RATERSER
Retained
Share profits
Share Share option  (accumulated
capital premium reserve loss) Total
REEA
B R EE BRERE (RitER) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETR ARBT R ARETR ARBTR
At 1 January 2014 R=B2-NE-F—-H 26,347 4,341,953 1,947 (174,075) 4,196,172
Loss and total comprehensive FREEREAEREE
expense for the year - - - (477271) (477271)
Dividend recognised as ERBARNRE (HFE12)
distribution (note 12) - - - (222,628) (222,628)
Recognition of equity-settled RUBRAREE R REREH
share-based payments - - 954 - 954
Exercise of share options TPiEiE 8 1,485 (445) - 1,048
Transfer of share option reserve BRI E R RER
upon forfeiture of share options = = (2,068) 2,068 -
At 31 December 2014 R=E-mE+-A=+—H 26,355 4,343,438 388 (871,906) 3,498,275
Loss and total comprehensive FREEREAEREE
expense for the year - - - (747,638) (747,638)
Recognition of equity-settled RARALEE AR
share-based payments BERFR - - 321 - 321
Dividend recognised as BRAAERNRE (HFE12)
distribution (note 12) - - - (292,304) (292,304)
Recognition of equity-settled RARALEE AR D
share-based payments RERRH - - - - -
Transfer of share option reserve YRR RS AR RERE
upon forfeiture of share options - - (709) 709 -
At 31 December 2015 R=F-RF+-A=t-H 26,355 4,343,438 - (1,911,139) 2,458,654

The total amount of share premium and retained profits, if any
amounting to RMB2,432,299,00 (2014: RMB3,471,532,000) is
available for dividend distribution as at the end of the reporting

period.
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Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 December 2014 gi# —=

Five Years Financial Summary

Eik:3: a‘i’%ﬁ)f%

—AFEF—A=1—HIFE

Year ended 31 December

mEEE BE+t-A=+-HLEE
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—T—% —ZT——F —ZT—=F —mE —E-RF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT AR®TxR
(restated)
(/E75)
Revenue BER 3,022,154 3,943,205 5,729,267 6,976,151 9,572,424
Profit before taxation BRA A A 778,960 1,525,181 1,265,081 1,448,706 1,884,394
Income tax expense FTis R (336,300) (592,537 (512,945) (665,773) (976,901)
Profit for the year FEREF 442 660 932,644 752,136 782,933 907,493
Consolidated assets, equity and liabilities As of 31 December
RABE ERZKAE R+=B=t+—-H
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—2——%F —E-——-F ZZT-=F —mFE Z—B-1F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETT AR¥Tx
(restated)
=270
Assets BE
Non-current assets FEREEE 3,992,103 4,129,290 3,150,401 3,635,897 5,628,890
Current assets MENEE 12,922,368 16,683,751 26,781,105 33,149,937 43,197,982
Total assets BEE 16,914,471 20,813,041 29,931,506 36,785,834 48,826,872
Equity and liabilities BakaE
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 2,166,444 3,604,750 7,444,353 7,373,711 14,481,431
Current liabilities mEEE 8,519,250 10,104,606 14,963,297 20,378,035 22,769,584
Total liabilities BarE 10,685,694 13,709,356 22,407,650 27,751,746 37,251,015
Equity attributable to owners AR RIHEHE A
of the Company FEfERE R 6,159,182 6,951,335 7,219,046 7,719,452 8,242,775
Non-controlling interests FEE i S 69,595 152,350 304,810 1,314,636 3,333,082
Total equity and liabilities Bk aE 16,914,471 20,813,041 29,931,506 36,785,834 48,826,872
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Major Properties Held for Sale

e e e

A REEEY R

Properties for Sales

258

GFA Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) the Company
Project Location Status Existing use BEEEE AT
HE B AR REA% (FFF7K) Frib s
Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Under construction High-rise apartments, 248.1 65%
International Center BT B SR fEE commercial properties
JE M R BB R 0y EIEN-SE S
Shenyang Aoyuan Shenyang, Liaoning  Under construction Integrated community 493.1 100%
Convention Plaza BEGELT friz AR
EBRRREES
Chongging Aoyuan Chongging Under construction Integrated community 408.1 100%
Beyond Era BEM fFiE AR
EFREHRA
Guangzhou Luogang  Huangpu, Guangzhou Under construction High-rise apartments, 3076 60%
Aoyuan Plaza BMmEEE i commercial properties
BMZEEREES BEAE  BFE
Chongging Aoyuan Chongaing Under construction High-rise apartments, 404.2 100%
Panlong Yihao EEM friz commercial properties

BERERESH
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Investment Properties

BeEYI=

1. Completed properties held for investment 1. ERIFEREYWE
Gross floor
area Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BHEEE AEE
R 1R 2 il HE (F¥AHXK) FrfkiEs
1 Guangzhou Nanguo Panyu, Guangzhou Golf course & commercial Long 84.2 100%
Aoyuan BMNmERR building REH
EMFEERER BRAFRESREENE
2 Guangzhou Panyu Aoyuan  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Long 74 100%
ENERRE BMNmESE building RFEH
S G EIN
3 Guangzhou Guo Ao Nansha, Guangzhou Office Long 24 100%
Investment Development ~ BMmEYE BFE REH
Centre
BB IR B R
4 Guangzhou Aoyuan Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop Medium 8.6 100%
BN BMNmERR 5% HEH
5  Chongging Aoyuan City of ~ Chongging Retail shop & Clubhouse Medium 58 100%
Health BEM BN & ]
EERER
6  Guangzhou Aoyuan Plaza Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 80.5 54%
BNREES BNmERR building HEH
ERREERE
7 Guangzhou Aoyuan Health  Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 6.1 100%
Plaza BMmESRE building HEHR
BNREEEES ERREERE
8  Shenyang Aoyuan The Shenyang, Liaoning Commercial building Medium 70 100%
Metropolis EBLELT BEAE HEHE
&5 RE B
9  Guangzhou Aoyuan City Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & commercial Medium 6.6 100%
Plaza BNTEBE building HEE
BN BRI AN ERREEAE
10 Chongging Aoyuan The Chongging Retail shop & commercial Medium 193 100%
Metropolis BEM building FEEH]
B RE BB ERREEAR
11 Jiaoling Aoyuan Plaza Meizhou, Guangdong Retail shop & commercial Medium 1.6 100%
RIRRERS BEREEMS building hEH
ERREEAR
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Investment Properties (continued)

BeEWE (57)

2. Investment properties under construction 2. EIPEREUHEYWE
Gross floor
area Interest
(thousand attributable to
sq.m.) Stage of the Group
No. Project Location Type Lease term BRHEEE Completion AEE
ik 18R 126 g3 HE (FE£HXK) EE Frik R
1 Shenyang Aoyuan Shenyang, Liaoning Commercial buildings  Medium 114.2 Under 100%
Convention Plaza  EE4E &GN HEIN HEEE] construction
&G REeRES HELH
2 Guangzhou Panyu, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 24.7 Under 100%
Aoyuan City Plaza  B/NTHEBE commercial building 45 construction
BN RE A ERREERE i
3 Jiaoling Aoyuan  Meizhou, Guangdong Retail shop & Medium 175 Under 100%
Plaza EREEMNT commercial building 4 construction
EERERS ERREERE s
4 Guangzhou Huangpu, Guangzhou Retail shop & Medium 34.42 To be constructed 60%
Luogang Aoyuan  ENTEERE commercial building A4 Hi T
Plaza EEREERNE
BMNEERRES
5  Guangzhou Zengcheng, Guangzhou  Retail shop & Medium 60.0 To be constructed 51%
Aoyuan Kangwei BN TEHE commercial H4EHE T
Plaza builgiing
ENREFAES EARAEAE
6  Yangjiang Yangjiang, Guangdong Commercial buildings  Medium 10.0 To be constructed 85%
Aoyuan Central ~ BREGTIH HEAE FEEH] T
Parkview
BIRERE 5%
7 Chongaing Chongging Retail shop & Medium 573 To be constructed 100%
Aoyuan City Plaza  EE™ commercial building "4 T
BERENTAM ERREERE
8  Chongging Chongaing Retail shop & Medium 50.97 To be constructed 60%
Aoyuan Panlong ~ EET commercial building  F4H T
Yihao ERRBERE
ERRESEST
9 Wuhua Aoyuan Meizhou, Guangdong Retail shop & Medium 23.40 To be constructed 100%
Plaza BRAEMNT commercial building ~ F4EE] T
TERERS ERREERE
10 Liuyang Aoyuan  Changsha, Hunan Retail shop & Medium 25.00 To be constructed 100%
Plaza WEERAT commercial building ~ FEH BT
B RERERES ERREERNE
11 Anhui Aoyuan Benghu, Anhui Retail shop & Medium 35.50 To be constructed 55%
Hanlin Yinzuo TREHED commercial building T
LRHRE BT ERREERE
12 Zhuhai Aoyuan Zhuhai, Guangdong Retail shop & Medium 53.70 To be constructed 93%
Plaza BREEM commercial building ~ F 4 T
WERERES ERREERE
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This 2015 annual report (the” Annual Report”), in both
English and Chinese is available on the Company'’s
website at http://www.aoyuan.com.cn (the” Company
Website") and the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited at http://www.hkexnews.hk.

Shareholders who have chosen to receive the corporate
communications of the Company (the” Corporate
Communications”) via the Company Website and who
for any reason have difficulty in receiving or gaining
access to the Annual Report posted on the Company
Website may request the Annual Report in printed form
free of charge.

Shareholders of the Company may at any time change
their choice of the means of receipt (either in printed
form or via the Company Website) and/or language
(either English only or Chinese only or both languages) of

Corporate Communications.

Shareholders of the Company may send their request
to receive the Annual Report in printed form and/or in
the requested language, and/or to change their choice
of the means of receipt and/or language(s) of Corporate
Communications by notice in writing to the branch share
registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East Hong Kong or by
sending an email to at aoyuan.hk@aoyuangroup.com.
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